
 
  

 

County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Media Enquiries 01865 323870 

To: Members of the Oxfordshire Health & Wellbeing Board 
 

Notice of a Meeting of the Oxfordshire Health & 
Wellbeing Board 

 

Thursday, 18 March 2021 at 2.00 pm 
Virtual Meeting 

 
Please note that due to guidelines imposed on social distancing by the 

Government the meeting will be held virtually. 
 

If you wish to view proceedings please click on this Live Stream Link 
 

However, that will not allow you to participate in the meeting. 
 

 

Membership 
Chairman – Councillor Ian Hudspeth (Leader, Oxfordshire County Council) 

Vice Chairman - Dr Kiren Collison (Clinical Chair, Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group) 
 

Board Members: 

Ansaf Azhar 
(Oxfordshire County Council) 

Corporate Director of Public Health & Wellbeing 

Dr Nick Broughton Chief Executive, Oxford Health Foundation Trust 

Sylvia Buckingham Chair, Healthwatch Oxfordshire 

Stephen Chandler 
(Oxfordshire County Council) 

Corporate Director for Adults & Housing Services 

Kevin Gordon 
(Oxfordshire County Council) 

Corporate Director for Children’s Services 

Councillor Steve Harrod 
(Oxfordshire County Council) 

Cabinet Member for Children & Family Services and Chairman, 
Children’s Trust 

Dr Bruno Holthof Chief Executive, Oxford University Hospitals Foundation Trust 

Dr James Kent Chief Executive, Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Councillor Andrew McHugh 
(Cherwell District Council) 

Chairman, Health Improvement Partnership Board 

Kerrin Masterman 
(Oxfordshire GP Federation) 

GP Representative 

 
Yvonne Rees  
Chief Executive Date Not Specified 
  
Contact Officer: Colm Ó Caomhánaigh, Tel 07393 001096 

colm.ocaomhanaigh@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/
https://oxon.cc/OHWB180321


 

David Radbourne 
(NHS England) 

Director of Commissioning Operations (South Central) 

Yvonne Rees 
(Oxfordshire County Council & 
Cherwell District Council) 

Chief Executive, Oxfordshire County Council & Cherwell District Council 
(District Representative) 

Councillor Lawrie Stratford 
(Oxfordshire County Council) 

Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care & Public Health and Chairman, 
Older People’s Joint Management Group 

Councillor Louise Upton 
(Oxford City Council) 

Vice-Chairman, Health Improvement Partnership Board 

 

Notes:• Date of next meeting: 17 June 2021 



 

 

 

Declarations of Interest 
 
The duty to declare….. 
Under the Localism Act 2011 it is a criminal offence to 
(a) fail to register a disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days of election or co-option (or re-

election or re-appointment), or 
(b) provide false or misleading information on registration, or 
(c) participate in discussion or voting in a meeting on a matter in which the member or co-opted 

member has a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Whose Interests must be included? 
The Act provides that the interests which must be notified are those of a member or co-opted 
member of the authority, or 

 those of a spouse or civil partner of the member or co-opted member; 

 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as husband/wife 

 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as if they were civil 
partners. 

(in each case where the member or co-opted member is aware that the other person has the 
interest). 

What if I remember that I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the Meeting? 
The Code requires that, at a meeting, where a member or co-opted member has a disclosable 
interest (of which they are aware) in any matter being considered, they disclose that interest to 
the meeting. The Council will continue to include an appropriate item on agendas for all 
meetings, to facilitate this. 

Although not explicitly required by the legislation or by the code, it is recommended that in the 
interests of transparency and for the benefit of all in attendance at the meeting (including 
members of the public) the nature as well as the existence of the interest is disclosed. 

A member or co-opted member who has disclosed a pecuniary interest at a meeting must not 
participate (or participate further) in any discussion of the matter; and must not participate in any 
vote or further vote taken; and must withdraw from the room. 

Members are asked to continue to pay regard to the following provisions in the code that “You 
must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an advantage or 
disadvantage on any person including yourself” or “You must not place yourself in situations 
where your honesty and integrity may be questioned…..”. 

Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting should you have any doubt 
about your approach. 

List of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
Employment (includes“any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain”.), Sponsorship, Contracts, Land, Licences, Corporate Tenancies, Securities. 
 
For a full list of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and further Guidance on this matter please see 
the Guide to the New Code of Conduct and Register of Interests at Members’ conduct guidelines. 
http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/ or contact 
Glenn Watson on 07776 997946 or glenn.watson@oxfordshire.gov.uk for a hard copy of the 
document.  

 
 

If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of 
these papers or special access facilities) please contact the officer 
named on the front page, but please give as much notice as possible 
before the meeting. 

http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/
mailto:glenn.watson@oxfordshire.gov.uk


 

 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Welcome by Chairman, Councillor Ian Hudspeth  
 

2. Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  
 

3. Declarations of Interest - see guidance note opposite  
 

4. Petitions and Public Address  
 

 This meeting will be held virtually in order to conform with current guidelines regarding 
social distancing. Normally requests to speak at this public meeting are required by 9 
am on the day preceding the published date of the meeting. However, during the 
current situation and to facilitate these new arrangements we are asking that requests 
to speak are submitted by no later than 9am four working days before the meeting i.e. 9 
am on Friday 12 March 2021. Requests to speak should be sent to 
colm.ocaomhanaigh@oxfordshire.gov.uk together with a written statement of your 
presentation to ensure that if the technology fails then your views can still be taken into 
account. A written copy of your statement can be provided no later than 9 am 2 working 
days before the meeting.  
 
Where a meeting is held virtually and the addressee is unable to participate virtually 
their written submission will be accepted.  
 
Written submissions should be no longer than 1 A4 sheet.  
 

5. Note of Decisions of Last Meeting (Pages 1 - 10) 
 

 To approve the Note of Decisions of the meeting held on 17 December 2021 (HBW5) 
and to receive information arising from them. 
 

6. COVID-19 System Update (Verbal Report) 
 

 2:05 
 
A presentation on the latest situation from the system partners. 
 

7. Community Services Strategy (Verbal Report) 
 

 2:35 
 
A presentation to update the Board on the development of a strategy. 
 

mailto:colm.ocaomhanaigh@oxfordshire.gov.uk


- 2 - 
 

 

8. Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2021 (Pages 11 - 26) 
 

 2:50 
 
There are two statutory duties of the Health and Wellbeing Board – the publication of a 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the publication of a Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA).  The JSNA enables local authorities and the NHS to assess the 
current and future health, care and wellbeing needs of the local community to inform 
local decision making. 
 
Recommendations 
 

1. The members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to note the 
content of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for 2021 and encourage 
widespread use of this information in planning, evaluating and developing 
services across the County. 

2. Member organisations are encouraged to contribute information and 
intelligence to further the development of the JSNA (through the Steering 
Group) and to participate in making information more accessible to 
everyone. 

 

9. Break  
 

 3:00 
 

10. Oxfordshire Adult Safeguarding Board Annual Report (Pages 27 - 54) 
 

 3:05 
 
The OSAB is required by statute to report annually on the work of the Board and of its 
partners, assessing the position of the partnerships in relation to the safeguarding 
adults at risk within Oxfordshire. 
 
The report outlines how the Safeguarding Adults Board works, the outcomes of the 
Annual Safeguarding Self-assessment, the deaths of adults with learning disabilities, 
the safeguarding training offered by the Board, the statistics around the abuse and 
neglect reported within Oxfordshire and what the priorities are for 2020-21. 
 
The Health & Wellbeing Board is RECOMMENDED to 
 
a) note that the adult safeguarding partnership is working across Oxfordshire 

and the work undertaken by the Board and its partners; 
 

b) note the priorities for 2020-21. 
 
 
 



- 3 - 
 

 

11. Healthwatch Oxfordshire and Oxford Community Action report 
"Community Wellbeing" (Pages 55 - 114) 

 

 3:25 
 
Between November 2019 and September 2020, Oxford Community Action, along with 
community volunteers, worked collaboratively with Healthwatch Oxfordshire to 
understand what Oxford’s new and emerging communities think about wellbeing.  The 
two groups will present their report. 
 
The Committee is RECOMMENDED to note the report. 
 

12. Healthwatch report (Pages 115 - 118) 
 

 3:45 
 
Report on views of health care gathered by Healthwatch Oxfordshire. 
 

13. Performance Report (Pages 119 - 122) 
 

 3:50 
 
To monitor progress on agreed outcome measures. 
 

14. Reports from Partnership Boards (Pages 123 - 164) 
 

 3:55 
 
To receive updates from partnership boards including details of performance 
issues rated red or amber in the performance report (above). 
 
Reports from  

 Children's Trust.  

 Health Improvement Board 
 



 

 
  

 

 

 
 

OXFORDSHIRE HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD 
 
OUTCOMES of the meeting held on Thursday, 17 December 2020 commencing at 
2.00 pm and finishing at 4.00 pm 
 
Present: 
 

 

Board Members: Councillor Ian Hudspeth – in the Chair 
 

 Dr Kiren Collison (Vice-Chairman) 
Ansaf Azhar 
Stephen Chandler 
Kevin Gordon 
Councillor Andrew McHugh 
Councillor Lawrie Stratford 
Councillor Louise Upton 
Rosalind Pearce (In place of Tracey Rees) 
Diane Hedges (In place of Dr James Kent) 
Dr Ben Riley (In place of Dr Nick Broughton) 
Kerrin Masterman 
 

By Invitation: 
 

Andrew Down, Director, Oxfordshire Growth Board; 
Derek Benson, Independent Chair, Oxfordshire 
Safeguarding Children Board 
 

Officers: 
 

 

Whole of meeting Eunan O’Neill, Consultant in Public Health; Colm Ó 
Caomhánaigh 
 

Part of meeting 
 

 

Agenda Item Officer Attending 
12 Tan Lee, Strategic Partnerships Safeguarding Manager 

 

These notes indicate the outcomes of this meeting and those responsible for taking the 
agreed action. For background documentation please refer to the agenda and supporting 
papers available on the Council’s web site (www.oxfordshire.gov.uk.) 
 
If you have a query please contact Colm Ó Caomhánaigh, Tel 07393 001096 
(colm.ocaomhanaigh@oxfordshire.gov.uk) 

 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/


HWB5 

 ACTION 

1 Welcome by Chairman, Councillor Ian Hudspeth 
(Agenda No. 1) 

 

 

 
The Chairman welcomed the new GP Representative Dr Kerrin 
Masterman, White Horse Medical Practice, who will share the 
position with Dr Michelle Brennan, The Hart Surgery. 
 

 

2 Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments 
(Agenda No. 2) 

 

 

 
Apologies were received from Dr Nick Broughton (Dr Ben Riley 
substituting), Councillor Steve Harrod, Dr Bruno Holthof, Dr 
James Kent (Diane Hedges substituting), Tracey Rees (Rosalind 
Pearce substituting) and Yvonne Rees. 
 

 

3 Declarations of Interest - see guidance note opposite 
(Agenda No. 3) 

 

 

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

 

4 Note of Decisions of Last Meeting 
(Agenda No. 5) 

 

 

 
The notes of the meeting held on 1 October 2020 were approved. 
 

 

5 COVID-19 Update 
(Agenda No. 6) 

 

 

 
Ansaf Azhar, Director for Public Health, gave a verbal update.  
Oxfordshire remained in Tier 2 although neighbouring counties 
Berks and Bucks had moved to Tier 3 so there was no room for 
complacency. 
 
The figures showed a dramatic drop in the first week affected by 
the recent lockdown but it did not last as the numbers began to 
rise again after that.  It was now getting to the point that elective 
surgeries were being cancelled in the South East region.  It was 
predicted that the next peak of cases would come in mid-January 
and hospitals were preparing for that. 
 
Even though the rules had been relaxed to allow families to get 
together for Christmas everybody still needed to use their 
judgement and keep contacts to a minimum. 
 

 

Page 2



HWB5 

The vaccines and tests will still be effective with the new variant 
but it was thought to be more easily transmitted and might be 
behind the recent increases in the South East. 
 

6 BOB-ICS and COVID-19 Phase 3 Recovery Update 
(Agenda No. 7) 

 

 

 
Diane Hedges, Chief Operating Officer and Deputy Chief 
Executive, Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group, 
summarised the report and updated the Board on the COVID-19 
vaccine. 
 
The vaccine programme was unlike anything seen before.  
Vaccinations had started at the Churchill Hospital with people 
from care homes.  The second phase saw three centres 
established in Abingdon, Chipping Norton and Henley.  The next 
phase will operate through general practices.  A central location 
for mass vaccination will start in January. 
 
The programme was following national guidelines in terms of 
prioritisation.  She asked everyone to emphasise that people will 
be called for their vaccine when it is their turn. 
 
Dr Kerrin Masterman added that, while the practices were really 
enthusiastic about the vaccine, there was concern at the likely 
impact on day-to-day services. 
 
Stephen Chandler reported on feedback from care home staff 
who really appreciated that they had been prioritised and 
recognised. 
 
Councillor Lawrie Stratford asked if it was known how many 
people were not registered with a GP and consequently would not 
be called for the vaccine.  The Chairman agreed to seek the 
answer to that after the meeting.  Dr Collison emphasised that the 
vaccine was open to everyone though it may be more difficult to 
get in touch with people who were not registered. 
 
Rosalind Pearce, Chief Executive, Healthwatch Oxfordshire, 
asked how people were contacted if they did not have a mobile 
phone.  Dr Masterson responded that GPs were making 
individual phone calls to landlines where necessary.  He added 
that he was only aware of 10 people turning down a vaccine out 
of about 1,000 offered so far. 
 
Rosalind Pearce also emphasised the importance of local 
communications.  There were indications that the uptake of the 
vaccine might be lower in certain communities due to rumours 
circulating.  She hoped that the lessons from the first wave of the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cllr Hudspeth 
 

Page 3



HWB5 

virus would be learned which demonstrated the importance of 
working through communities. 
 
The Chairman welcomed the additional funding provided for 
Mental Health services which are likely to be under pressure 
following the lockdowns. 
 

7 Joint Commissioning Arrangements Review 
(Agenda No. 8) 

 

 

 
Stephen Chandler summarised the report on behalf of the County 
Council.  He welcomed the opportunities for working together 
across health, education and social care.  The procedures, which 
still required approval from the Oxfordshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (OCCG), sought to avoid blame and 
maximise the effect of funding available. 
 
Diane Hedges, Chief Operating Officer and Deputy Chief 
Executive, OCCG, added that complacency may have crept in 
when there were big pooled budgets but there was a great 
enthusiasm with this more holistic approach. 
 
Ansaf Azhar, Director for Public Health, had found it a refreshing 
experience.  The focus was now on outcomes.  It was all about 
building relationships and trust.  He also now had a much better 
understanding of the other roles and areas of activity. 
 
Councillor Lawrie Stratford welcomed the development.  He 
praised the leadership that had brought this about and added that 
staff across the County Council appreciated the benefits of this 
kind of cooperation. 
 
The Chairman proposed the recommendations to the meeting. 
 
RESOLVED: to 
 
a) note the proposed review of the Section 75 Legal 

Agreement between Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) 
and Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (OCCG) 
which governs the arrangements covering the Better Care 
Fund (BCF) and Adults with Care and Support Needs 
Pooled Budgets (ACSN) and the current Joint 
Management Groups (JMGs); 

 
b) approve the adoption of the new Joint Commissioning 

Executive (JCE), which has been developed to provide 
oversight and accountability for the recently transformed 
commissioning arrangements for Health, Education and 
Social Care (HESC) across OCC and OCCG. The 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Stephen 

Page 4



HWB5 

transformed HESC Commissioning arrangements are laid 
out in this report and will be in place by the 1st March 2021. 

 

Chandler, Diane 
Hedges 

8 Strategic Vision for Oxfordshire 
(Agenda No. 9) 

 

 

 
Andrew Down, Director, Oxfordshire Growth Board, introduced 
the strategic vision which he said came a critical point in the 
development of the Oxford Cambridge Arc and the Oxfordshire 
Plan for 2050.  There was also a lot of emphasis now on healthy 
place shaping and a shift of momentum on climate change as 
well as an opportunity to be seized in the wake of the pandemic. 
 
There were seven draft outcomes listed on Agenda Page 41 and 
feedback was sought on these and all aspects of the vision by 3 
January 2021.  A final draft will go to the Growth Board on 22 
March 2021 for approval. 
 
Councillor Andrew McHugh noted Guiding Principle 8 on Agenda 
Page 50 “We will expect high quality development” and asked 
how to get from that to requiring high quality development.   
 
Andrew Down agreed that there was a need to lobby central 
government to raise building standards.  He noted that with the 
UK climate change targets for 2050 local government should be 
pushing an open door regarding zero or negative carbon 
standards. 
 
Councillor McHugh also asked if the County should be looking to 
get ahead of the curve in requiring net biodiversity gain from 
developers, as Cherwell District Council already does, in 
anticipation of the coming Environmental Bill which will seek 
improvements in this area. 
 
Andrew Down responded that a new county-wide nature 
partnership was being formed and it was hoped to see progress 
on biodiversity soon. 
 
Councillor Lawrie Stratford welcomed the report but emphasised 
the importance of getting the communications right to emphasise 
the positive aspects of growth. 
 
The Chairman encouraged everybody to respond to the 
consultation, including endorsing aspects that they agree with.  
He looked forward to a joint meeting of this Board with the Growth 
Board which was being arranged for February 2021. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All 

9 Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 
(Agenda No. 11) 

 

Page 5



HWB5 

 

 
This item was deferred to the next meeting as the Independent 
Chair of the OSAB was unable to connect to the meeting due to 
technical problems. 
 

 

10 Oxfordshire Safeguarding Children Annual Report 
(Agenda No. 12) 

 

 

 
Derek Benson, Independent Chair of the Oxfordshire 
Safeguarding Children Board, introduced the report.  He 
emphasised that he had been appointed to the position in 
November whereas the report covered the year up to the end of 
March 2020.  For that reason, credit for all of the work that went 
into the report was due to his predecessor, Richard Simpson, and 
his colleagues. 
 
He welcomed the unique partnership involving senior officers of 
the County, Thames Valley Police and health partners.  Work on 
child exploitation has been widened to include such as criminal 
exploitation.  Other areas of progress included early help and 
emphasising the importance of full time education. 
 
There was a conference held where the voice of the child was 
central but there is still work to be done on this as well on the 
area of neglect which is all too common.  There had been 
worrying increases in knife crime and domestic abuse, the latter 
particularly of concern during the lockdown.  While the mental 
health services for children and adolescents were of the highest 
standard, there was still a challenge in getting timely access. 
 
Tan Lee, Strategic Partnerships Safeguarding Manager, added 
that this had been a particularly challenging year but that all 
agencies were working closely together to identify the risks and 
opportunities and that the strong partnership was increasing 
effectiveness and definitely making a difference. 
 
Councillor Lawrie Stratford made the point that important aspects 
of attendance at school were the friendships and social 
interaction involved.  During the lockdown children were saying 
how much they missed their friends.  He welcomed the emphasis 
on attendance at school in the report. 
 
Diane Hedges asked what the Board could do to help.  Derek 
Benson responded that at this early stage for him, he felt the 
most important considerations were how to communicate to 
ensure a broad dialogue on children’s safeguarding issues. 
 
The Chairman thanked the former Chair, Richard Simpson, and 

 

Page 6



HWB5 

his team for the report and reiterated the offer of support from the 
Board. 
 

11 Community Services Update 
(Agenda No. 13) 

 

 

 
Dr Ben Riley, Managing Director, Oxford Health NHS Foundation 
Trust, summarised the update on work that is currently underway.  
They started by reviewing all of the information available from 
stakeholder engagements and strategies produced over the last 
five years and were considering how to apply these to community 
services operated by the Trust across the County. 
 
He outlined two pieces of working going on in parallel: firstly, the 
development of a community strategy with a full system view 
including all partners and secondly, developing service plans in 
local areas – in particular for the OX12 area which had been 
waiting a long time for a plan for the closed in-patient beds at 
Wantage Community Hospital. 
 
It was hoped to have a proposed process for discussion with 
partners as well as some pilots for an expanded range of services 
in early 2021. 
 
In the short term an initial service development framework will be 
put for discussion at the Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in February which will set out an initial vision, 
ambition and set of priorities for the service. 
 
Quality improvement programme pilots were being considered for 
the evolving area networks for the north, south and city which will 
link the city and district councils with the Primary Care Networks 
and community services. 
 
Councillor Lawrie Stratford welcomed the commitment to 
resolving the Wantage situation as a priority.  As a champion of 
his own local hospital, he could understand the feelings of local 
people on his issue. 
 
The Chairman noted how the voluntary sector had come to the 
fore during the pandemic and emphasised the need to enhance 
that.  Also, new more efficient ways of working had been 
introduced which need to be embraced.  He hoped that Wantage 
could be a pilot for new ways of working. 
 
Dr Riley added that the work in the area of reablement had really 
accelerated during the pandemic as alternatives to in-patient care 
had really taken off. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dr Ben Riley 

Page 7



HWB5 

The Chairman welcomed the success of the Aging Well 
programme and such benefits that technology had brought 
forward. 
 

12 Healthwatch report 
(Agenda No. 14) 

 

 

 
Rosalind Pearce, Chief Executive, wanted to emphasise that 
despite the difficulties imposed by the pandemic, they were still 
working to listen to people’s views on health and social care and 
while everybody had to use the digital route, they had managed 
to keep personal contact. 
 
She noted that some things worked well virtually but some things 
did not.  Not everybody had access to the internet or smart 
phones and they should not forget the importance of face-to-face.  
This needed to be considered in the redesign of systems. 
 
She warned against the overuse of terminology such as ‘Place’ 
and ‘BOB’, saying that they often needed to be explained to 
members of the public and there was a need to ensure consistent 
definitions. 
 
Dr Kiren Collison asked if there were any insights into possible 
different attitudes to the COVID-19 vaccine in different 
communities and if there were any specific examples of digital 
exclusion and if solutions to those problems were being 
developed. 
 
Rosalind Pearce responded that it was probably too early to say 
about the vaccine.  There were indications that a certain number 
of people were worried about it but they may not be receiving 
accurate information on it.   
 
Healthwatch was hosting a meeting of chairs of Patient 
Participation Groups with the OCCG to get more feedback on 
that.  Also, in the new year they will seek feedback, especially 
from BAME (Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic) communities given 
the difficulties that they had in the first wave and the fact that 
these communities are more adversely affected by the virus. 
 
With regard to digital problems, they were aware that some 
people were receiving text messages and did not know how to 
respond or did not have a smart phone which was often required 
to respond. 
 
Councillor Andrew McHugh gave an example where volunteers in 
the Banbury area were delivering medications to those who were 
otherwise being digitally excluded from access during the 

 

Page 8



HWB5 

lockdowns. 
 

13 Performance report 
(Agenda No. 15) 

 

 

 
Ansaf Azhar summarised the report for the second quarter of the 
year.  It was the first report that was picking up the effect of 
COVID-19 especially in regard to preventative measures such as 
immunisation and health checks.  Most of these services had 
resumed now and it was hoped to see an improvement.  He 
commended the efforts of those who have been involved.  
However, there will undoubtedly be long-term impacts from the 
reduction in preventative measures so it was important to 
minimise the periods during which these were stood down. 
 
Councillor Andrew McHugh noted that in the figures for measure 
3.18 the overall figure does not match the area rates listed.  
Ansaf Azhar agreed that that needed to be corrected. 
 
Diane Hedges noted that this meeting had already discussed 
most of the issues which had red flags and felt reassured that the 
Board was dealing with the right issues at a strategic level.  The 
Chairman stated that he was comfortable with the red flags as 
long as there was an action plan to address them.  The red flags 
indicated that the measures were appropriately challenging. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ansaf Azhar 

14 Updates from partnership boards 
(Agenda No. 16) 

 

 

 
Stephen Chandler noted that the Joint Management Groups will 
be subsumed into the Joint Commissioning Executives in the next 
financial year. 
 
The Chairman acknowledged that it had been a very challenging 
year for everyone but the Oxfordshire system was working well 
and he thanked everybody for all the work across the system. 
 

 

 
 
 
 in the Chair 

  
Date of signing   

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Oxfordshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
Annual Report 2021 

 
Report to the Oxfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board, 18 March 2021 

 
 
Recommendations 

1. The members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to note the 
content of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for 2021 and encourage 
widespread use of this information in planning, evaluating and developing 
services across the County. 

2. Member organisations are encouraged to contribute information and 
intelligence to further the development of the JSNA (through the Steering 
Group) and to participate in making information more accessible to everyone. 

 
 
Background 
There are two statutory duties of the Health and Wellbeing Board – the publication of 
a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the publication of a Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA).  The JSNA enables local authorities and the NHS to assess the 
current and future health, care and wellbeing needs of the local community to inform 
local decision making.  In Oxfordshire it is published in full, enabling its use by a wide 
range of partners and the general public. 
 
The Oxfordshire JSNA has continued to develop thanks to the hard work of a small 
group of skilled analysts led by Margaret Melling, Philippa Dent and Alick Bird.  Their 
work is steered by representatives from many of the HWB partner organisations and 
the final product is signed off by Strategic Directors from the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and the County Council.  It is truly a “Joint” piece of work. 
 
Impact of COVID-19 on producing the 2021 update of the JSNA 
 
This year we have had the added challenge of gathering evidence about health and 
wellbeing during the COVID-19 pandemic. Some of the data used for the JSNA has 
not been published (e.g. the Early Years and Key Stage 2 data) or has been delayed 
(e.g. the Active Lives survey).  Data analysts have been very busy with an even 
greater than usual demand for reports. 
 
At the start of each of the chapters we have set out where we have been able to 
show the impact of the pandemic on health and on the wider determinants of health.  
We have included an additional section in the Executive Summary this year which 
sets out some of the early indications of the impact of COVID-19 on health and 
wellbeing in Oxfordshire and we expect that next year’s update will show a lot more.  
 
The JSNA 2021 
The format for the JSNA follows in the pdf format that was introduced last year. It is 
highly recommended that the report is used digitally and NOT PRINTED OUT.  It will 
be at its most useful when viewed as a pdf on a screen. This also allows the best 
functionality of the document as a reference tool for people looking to quickly access 
relevant sections of the report for their particular needs.  

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



 
The papers for the Health and Wellbeing Board include the link to the draft 
interactive JSNA 2021 report and the Executive Summary, both of these are 
available on the Oxfordshire Insight website. http://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/  
 
 
The full JSNA report comprises  

 over 370 pages of information about the population of Oxfordshire  

 set out in 8 themed chapters 

 with the latest available published data on each topic.   

 interactive links to enable easy movement around the document. 

 embedded links to further information, reports and data throughout the 
document 

 
New for 2021 is an interactive JSNA inequalities dashboard for people to explore 
health indicators by area across Oxfordshire. 
 
The JSNA continues to be a valuable resource for partners across the system and 
for community organisations and the general public.  It is being used more and more 
widely and continues to be cited by local journalists as the source of information in 
press coverage of local issues. 
 
 
Ansaf Azhar, Director for Public Health 
Oxfordshire County Council 
March 2021 
 

Page 12

http://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Oxfordshire 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

2021 

 

Summary of findings 

 
 

DRAFT for Health and Wellbeing Board 

last updated 9th March 2021 

 

  

Page 13



JSNA 2021 Executive Summary 

DRAFT March 2021  Page 2 

CONTENTS 

1 Introduction to this report ................................................................................................3 

2 Introduction to Oxfordshire ..............................................................................................5 

3 Early indications of the impact of COVID-19 on Health and Wellbeing in Oxfordshire ....8 

4 Health and wellbeing overall ...........................................................................................9 

5 Summary – young people ............................................................................................. 10 

6 Summary – working age adults ..................................................................................... 11 

7 Summary – older people ............................................................................................... 12 

8 JSNA “snake” data by life-stage .................................................................................... 13 

9 JSNA “tartan rug” inequalities data by small area ......................................................... 14 

 

  

Page 14



JSNA 2021 Executive Summary 

DRAFT March 2021  Page 3 

1 Introduction to this report 

The Oxfordshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment identifies the current and future health 
and wellbeing needs of our local population.  The annual JSNA report is provided to the 
Oxfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board and underpins the Health and Wellbeing strategy. 

This report is a summary of the main findings from the 2021 JSNA and is based on 
research carried out between November 2020 and February 2021. 

It includes: 

• An introduction to Oxfordshire; 

• A one-page summary of the data that we have been able to include in this update 
showing early indications of the impact of COVID-19 on health and wellbeing in 
Oxfordshire; 

• One-page summaries for the JSNA overall and for young people, for working age 
adults and for older people; 

• A JSNA visual summary “snake” showing data by life-stage; 

• A JSNA inequalities data “tartan rug” for Oxfordshire showing health and wellbeing 
indicators at Middle Layer Super Output Area level and highlighting which areas rank 
as worse or better than the England averages. 

Note that the information in this report is also included as the Executive Summary of the 
Oxfordshire JSNA 2021.   

The full JSNA report is organised into 8 chapters: 

Chapter 1: Executive summary includes a short overview of findings, the JSNA 
summary “snake” of key data by life-stage, and an inequalities data “tartan 
rug” for Oxfordshire showing health and wellbeing indicators at Middle 
Layer Super Output Area level  

Chapter 2: Population with data on the population of Oxfordshire, the latest Office for 
National Statistics estimates, past trends and future projections/forecasts. 

Chapter 3: Population groups and protected characteristics summarises data on 
residents in selected population groups in Oxfordshire including “protected 
characteristics” as defined under the Equality Act of 2010. 

Chapter 4: Health conditions and causes of death includes information on health 
conditions and causes of deaths in Oxfordshire, including some information 
on coronavirus (COVID-19) for 2020. 

Chapter 5: Behavioural determinants of health provides data on behavioural factors 
that affect health and wellbeing, such as healthy weight and physical 
activity, smoking and alcohol, and sexual and reproductive health. 

Chapter 6: Wider determinants of health covers conditions in which people are born, 
grow, live work and age, social, cultural, political, economic, commercial 
and environmental factors. 

Chapter 7: Service use provides an overview of trends from data collected by providers 
of health, social care and related services in Oxfordshire including Local 

Page 15

https://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/jsna-2021-full-report


JSNA 2021 Executive Summary 

DRAFT March 2021  Page 4 

Authorities, Health service providers, Police and Voluntary sector 
organisations. 

Chapter 8: Local research includes research carried out by organisations in Oxfordshire 
of relevance to the topics covered by the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment. 

This report and other JSNA resources are available via the JSNA page of Oxfordshire 
Insight 

 
We would like to thank the very many contributors of data and commentary from 
organisations across Oxfordshire including: 

Oxfordshire County Council, NHS Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group and 
NHS South, Central and West Commissioning Support Unit, Oxford Health NHS FT, 
Thames Valley Police, Citizen’s Advice Oxfordshire, Age UK Oxfordshire, 
Healthwatch Oxfordshire, Cherwell District Council, Oxford City Council, South 
Oxfordshire District Council, Vale of White Horse District Council, West Oxfordshire 
District Council 

Thanks also to members of the JSNA Steering Group for their oversight and guidance: 

Oxfordshire County Council, NHS Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group, 
Cherwell District Council, Oxford City Council, South Oxfordshire District Council, 
Vale of White Horse District Council, West Oxfordshire District Council, Healthwatch 
Oxfordshire, Oxford University 

JSNA 2021 lead authors:  

Philippa Dent, Public Health, Oxfordshire County Council 

Margaret Melling, Research & Insight, Cherwell District and Oxfordshire County 
Council 

Alick Bird, Research & Insight, Cherwell District and Oxfordshire County Council 

 

web: insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/jsna 

email: jsna@oxfordshire.gov.uk  

 

  

Page 16

http://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/joint-strategic-needs-assessment
http://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/joint-strategic-needs-assessment
http://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/jsna
mailto:jsna@oxfordshire.gov.uk


JSNA 2021 Executive Summary 

DRAFT March 2021  Page 5 

2 Introduction to Oxfordshire 

As of mid-2019, Oxfordshire was the most rural county in the South East and home to an 
estimated 691,667 people. 

 

 

 

Page 17



JSNA 2021 Executive Summary 

DRAFT March 2021  Page 6 

Just under a quarter (22%) of Oxfordshire’s population are resident in Oxford City and 38% 
in the county’s main towns. The remaining 40% live in smaller towns and villages. 

 

 

  

Page 18



JSNA 2021 Executive Summary 

DRAFT March 2021  Page 7 

According to the Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD 2019), Oxfordshire was ranked the 
10th least deprived of 151 upper-tier local authorities in England (up from 11th in 2015).  

Oxfordshire had 1 out of 407 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) ranked within the 10% 
most deprived areas nationally, part of Northfield Brook ward, south east Oxford. 

A further 16 areas were ranked in the 20% most deprived areas nationally, 9 in Oxford City, 
6 in Banbury and 1 in Abingdon. 

 

 

 

Explore deprivation data using our interactive dashboard on Oxfordshire Insight 

MHCLG English indices of deprivation 2019  

 

  

Page 19

http://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/deprivation-dashboard
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2019


JSNA 2021 Executive Summary 

DRAFT March 2021  Page 8 

3 Early indications of the impact of COVID-19 on Health and 
Wellbeing in Oxfordshire 

Key findings 

• From Jan-Dec 2020 there were over 19,000 confirmed cases of COVID-19 in people 
living in Oxfordshire and approximately 700 deaths with COVID-19 on the death 
certificate in Oxfordshire in 2020. 

• National data shows that COVID-19 has had a disproportionate impact on ethnic 
minority communities and that the mortality rates from COVID-19 in the most 
deprived areas were more than double the least deprived areas.  

• Around 21,600 people in Oxfordshire (3% of the population) were identified as 
Clinically Extremely Vulnerable (Feb21) and at highest risk from COVID-19. 

• As a result of the COVID-19 lockdown in early 2020, the number of people claiming 
unemployment-related benefits in Oxfordshire increased significantly.  This has 
particularly affected Oxford City and Cherwell and the younger age group. 

• In May 2020, a Good Food Oxford survey found the number of users of Community 
Food Services had increased by 3 times since the start of COVID-19. 

• The first lockdown of 2020 saw a significant fall in car use nationally and an increase 
in cycling.  Cycling and walking fell in Oxford City in 2020, likely to be a result of 
more people working from home, less student travel and a drop in tourism visits. 

• National data reports a deterioration in mental health of young people with existing 
mental health needs in lockdown, particularly linked to increased loneliness and 
anxiety. 

• There has been an increase in young people Not in Education, Employment or 
Training and a significant reduction in advertised Apprenticeships in Oxfordshire 
during 2020. 

• In 2020 (Jan-Dec), police recorded increases in the number of victims of domestic 
abuse, elder abuse, modern slavery and child sexual exploitation in Oxfordshire. 

• The number of scams related to “bogus selling” reported by Oxfordshire residents 
has increased significantly since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

• All types of hospital activity and use of mental health services dropped significantly 
as a result of the first wave of the pandemic in 2020. 

• Between March and May 2020, over 15,000 volunteers were recorded in Oxfordshire 
as available to help vulnerable people who were socially isolating during the Covid-
19 pandemic. 

  

Page 20



JSNA 2021 Executive Summary 

DRAFT March 2021  Page 9 

4 Health and wellbeing overall 

• Oxfordshire is the most rural county in the South East region. 

• Oxfordshire’s population is relatively healthy. 

o Oxfordshire does better or similar to the national average on most Public 
Health indicators.  

o Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy in Oxfordshire are each 
significantly higher than national and regional averages for both males and 
females. 

• Oxfordshire’s population is ageing, a trend that is forecast to continue. 

• House prices are continuing to increase and the cost of renting remains well above 
average. 

• The future growth of the population (especially the numbers of young people) is very 
dependent on levels of house building in future and will vary across the county. 

• Air pollution causes more harm than passive smoking, and is linked to asthma, heart 
disease and stroke. Transport now makes up the largest share of carbon emissions 
in Oxfordshire. 

• For 2017 to 2019, cancer was the leading cause of death in Oxfordshire, followed by 
Heart Disease and stroke for males and Dementia for females. 

• Levels of reported anxiety in Oxfordshire appear to have increased and remain 
above the England average. 

• Mental health rates of diagnosis and referrals are continuing to increase. 

• Despite Oxfordshire’s relative affluence, there are wide inequalities in health and 
wellbeing, Oxfordshire’s more deprived wards experience significantly higher 
mortality rates than England. 

 

Explore Public Health indicators for Oxfordshire, see Public Health England Oxfordshire 
Public Health profile 

 

  

Page 21

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles/data
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles/data


JSNA 2021 Executive Summary 

DRAFT March 2021  Page 10 

5 Summary – young people 

Key findings 

• After removing housing costs, 1 in 5 children in Oxfordshire are estimated to be living 
in poverty – within Oxford City this figure rises to a quarter of children (2018/19). 

• The number of pupils with Special Educational Needs support in Oxfordshire has 
increased at double the England rate (to Jan20). 

• The gap in early years development between lower income pupils and other pupils in 
Oxfordshire had increased for the second year in a row (up to 2019). 

• Average GCSE attainment in Oxfordshire (2019/20) was below the regional average 
and similar to the national average.  

• The persistent absence rate for pupils in Oxfordshire secondary schools was above 
(worse than) the national average (2018/19). 

• The proportion of Oxfordshire’s cared for children who were placed more than 20 
miles from their home and outside Oxfordshire increased from 33% as at 31 March 
2019 to 36% as at December 2020. 

• The % of Oxfordshire’s care leavers in employment, education or training was below 
(worse than) the national average (2019/20). 

• The proportion of all young people Not in Education, Employment or Training has 
increased significantly (from 1.6% in Dec19 to 2.6% in Dec20) and the COVID-19 
lockdowns have reduced advertised apprenticeship opportunities in Oxfordshire for 
young people. 

• There has been a significant increase in the number of police recorded domestic 
abuse crimes in Oxfordshire involving children (2019/20). 

• The number of mental health referrals for young people has increased significantly 
over the past 5 years, especially for those aged 20-24. 

• Rates of self-harm hospital admissions in younger people (aged 10-24 years) have 
increased over time. The rate in Oxfordshire is similar to England. 

• Alcohol-specific admissions for females under 18 in Oxfordshire remain higher than 
national and regional averages (2016/17 to 2018/19). 

• Excess weight in children has remained high. As of 2019/20, 18.6% aged 4 or 5, and 
29% in aged 10 or 11 were overweight or obese. 

• 42% of children in Oxfordshire were not meeting the daily physical activity guidelines 
(2019/20). 

See also Public Health England Child Health Profiles 

 

  

Page 22

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles


JSNA 2021 Executive Summary 

DRAFT March 2021  Page 11 

6 Summary – working age adults 

Key findings 

• Earnings of Oxfordshire residents have remained above the South East and national 
averages. 

• As a result of the COVID-19 lockdown in early 2020, the number of people claiming 
unemployment-related benefits in Oxfordshire increased significantly.  This has 
particularly affected Oxford City and Cherwell and the younger age group. 

• The number of people from overseas registering for a National Insurance number in 
Oxfordshire has continued to decline. 

• In 2017-19 there were over 3,500 deaths in those aged under 75, from cancers, 
cardiovascular disease, liver disease and respiratory disease.  1,540 (43%) of these 
deaths in under 75s were considered to be preventable. 

• Over half of Oxfordshire adults are classified as overweight or obese. Prevalence is 
higher in males, older people, some ethnic groups and more deprived areas. 

• A slightly higher percentage of Oxfordshire adults meets recommended physical 
activity guideline (150 minutes per week) than national and regional figures, but 1 in 
4 adults do not meet the guidelines 

• Around 15% of the population suffer with a musculoskeletal condition.  Depression 
and anxiety are more common in people with persistent pain. 

• Learning Disabilities 

o People with learning disabilities (LD) have a lower life expectancy than 
average and are likely to have much higher rates of certain health conditions 
than the general population.   

o Rates of Epilepsy are 29 times higher for people with LD. 

o People with LD are more than twice as likely to have diabetes (non-type 1) 
than the general population and much more likely to be measured as obese 
(40% compared with 29%). 

See also Public Health England Learning Disability Profiles 

 

  

Page 23

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/learning-disabilities


JSNA 2021 Executive Summary 

DRAFT March 2021  Page 12 

7 Summary – older people 

Key findings 

• Oxfordshire’s population is ageing, with a substantial recent and predicted growth in 
the number of older people.  

• People aged 65+ made up 20% of the population of Oxfordshire’s four rural districts, 
compared with 12% of the population of Oxford City (18% overall). 

• For people aged 75+, cancer remains the leading cause of death.  Between 2013 
and 2019 there was a significant increase in deaths recorded as a result of Dementia 
and Alzheimer’s disease. 

• The Dementia Oxfordshire service, which mainly takes referrals from memory clinics 
and GPs, saw a big drop in referrals during the first COVID-19 lockdown in 2020.  
These have since recovered. 

• Falls are the largest cause of emergency hospital admissions for older people (65+); 
Oxford City has a rate consistently significantly worse than England (2018/19). 

• Fear of falls is the top concern among older users of adult social care services. 

• The proportion of older people offered reablement services has remained below the  
national and statistical neighbour averages (2019/20). 

• By district, the highest number of older people being supported with long-term social 
care services as of April 2020 was Cherwell and the highest rate per population was 
Oxford City. 

• Alcohol-related hospital admissions are highest in men aged 65+ (2018/19) 

• In 2020 (Jan-Dec) Thames Valley Police recorded 520 older victims (aged 65 and 
over) of crimes of violence or sexual offences in Oxfordshire.  This was a significant 
increase on 2019 and has continued an increasing trend at above the overall growth 
in the older population. 

• Wide areas of rural Oxfordshire are ranked poorly on geographical access to 
services. 

• Isolation and loneliness have been found to be a significant health risk and a cause 
of increased use of health services.  

• Before the pandemic, use of the internet by older people was increasing nationally 
and is likely to have increased further in 2020. 

See also Public Health England Productive Healthy Ageing Profiles 

 

 

Page 24

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/older-people-health/data


JSNA 2021 Executive Summary 

DRAFT March 2021  Page 13 

8 JSNA “snake” data by life-stage 

Oxfordshire Health and wellbeing facts and figures 2021 

 

  

P
age 25



JSNA 2021 Executive Summary 

DRAFT March 2021  Page 14 

9 JSNA “tartan rug” inequalities data by small area 

The table shows health indicators for small areas in 
Oxfordshire grouped by district.   

Overall, most indicators are ranked as significantly better than 
(green) or similar to (yellow) the England average.   

Areas that are ranked as significantly worse (red/dark) are 
mainly concentrated in Oxford City and Banbury.   

 

Note: Graphic for illustration only  

Explore this data using our interactive inequalities dashboard 

Source: Data by Middle Layer Super Output Area (86 MSOAs 
in Oxfordshire) from Public Health England Fingertips Local 
Health 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

C
h

e
rw

el
l  

O
xf

o
rd

 C
it

y 
 

So
u

th
 O

xo
n

  
V

al
e 

o
f 

W
H

 
W

e
st

 
O

xo
n

 

<= Indicators of health and wellbeing => 

P
age 26

https://public.tableau.com/views/JSNA_dashboard/Story1?embed=y:display_count=no&:showVizHome=no%20#4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-health
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/local-health


 

Divisions Affected - All 

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD  

18 MARCH 2021 
 

OXFORDSHIRE SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD  

ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20 
 

Report by Director for Adult & Housing Services 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. The Health & Wellbeing Board is RECOMMENDED to 

 
a) note that the adult safeguarding partnership is working across 

Oxfordshire and the work undertaken by the Board and its partners.  
b) note the priorities for 2020-21. 

Executive Summary 

 
2. The OSAB is required by statute to report annually on the work of the Board and 

of its partners, assessing the position of the partnerships in relation to the 
safeguarding adults at risk within Oxfordshire. 
 

3. The recommendations in the report are drawn from the data analysed over the 
year 2019-20, the cases raised to the Board during the year and the perceived 
challenges for the year 2020-21. 

Introduction 

 
4. The report outlines how the Safeguarding Adults Board works, the outcomes of 

the Annual Safeguarding Self-assessment, the deaths of adults with learning 
disabilities, the safeguarding training offered by the Board, the statistics around 
the abuse and neglect reported within Oxfordshire and what the priorities are 
for 2020-21. 
 

5. The full report is 12 pages and can be accessed on the Oxfordshire 
Safeguarding Adults Board website here: https://www.osab.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2020/09/OSAB-Annual-Report-2020-21-v10.pdf 

Corporate Policies and Priorities 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 10

https://www.osab.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/OSAB-Annual-Report-2020-21-v10.pdf
https://www.osab.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/OSAB-Annual-Report-2020-21-v10.pdf


HWB11 

6. The Local Authority as a key statutory partner of the Oxfordshire Safeguarding 
Adults Board will have ensured that the strategies and policies of the Board are 
in alignment with the County Council’s Vision, Values, Objectives and Strategic 
Priorities as detailed in the County Council’s Corporate Plan (see Corporate 
Plan). 

Financial Implications 

 
7. The Safeguarding Board operates under a pooled budget, with contributions 

from the County Council, the Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group, 
Thames Valley Police, Oxford City Council, Cherwell District Council, West 
Oxfordshire District Council, South Oxfordshire District Council and the Vale of 
White Horse District Council. Oxfordshire County Council’s contribution is 40% 
of the annual budget. There will be no request to increase this contribution in 
2021-22.  

 
Comments checked by: 
Kathryn Wilcox, Finance Business Partner (Adult Services & Public Health) 
kathy.wilcox@oxfordshire.gov.uk  

Legal Implications 

 
8. There are no legal implications for the Local Authority. 

 
Checked by: 
Sukdave Ghuman, Head of Legal Services & Deputy Monitoring Officer 
sukdave.ghuman@oxfordshire.gov.uk  

 
STEPHEN CHANDLER 
 
Annex: The Vulnerable Adults Mortality Group annual report: 

https://www.osab.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2020/08/VAM-annual-report-1920-
final.pdf  

 
Contact Officer: Steven Turner, Board Manager, Oxfordshire Safeguarding 

Adults Board, steven.turner@oxfordshire.gov.uk, 
telephone 07917 534230 

 
December 2020 
 

Page 28

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/council/our-vision-0
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/council/our-vision-0
mailto:kathy.wilcox@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:sukdave.ghuman@oxfordshire.gov.uk
https://www.osab.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/VAM-annual-report-1920-final.pdf
https://www.osab.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/VAM-annual-report-1920-final.pdf
https://www.osab.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/VAM-annual-report-1920-final.pdf
mailto:steven.turner@oxfordshire.gov.uk


www.osab.org.uk

Annual Report 2019-20

Oxfordshire Safeguarding 

Adults Board

Page 29



Message from the Chair

I am pleased to present the seventh annual 

report of the Oxfordshire Safeguarding 

Adults Board. It is my second for 

Oxfordshire as I became Chair in April 2019 

and I am delighted to report on all the 

good work that has been achieved during 

the period. 

This report outlines the role and function of 

the Board, highlights the achievements of 

the Board and its partners during the year 

and shares lessons from our work that are 

vital for all organisations in Oxfordshire. 

While it only affected us towards the end of the year, the 

current COVID-19 pandemic must be acknowledged. All 

agencies are experiencing unprecedented demands on 

their time and many support staff have been reassigned to 

frontline services. In response to this, I have made this 

annual report shorter and more focussed so as to take up 

as little time as possible when our focus, and that of our 

partners, must be on those vulnerable people of 

Oxfordshire.

Dr Sue Ross

Independent Chair

Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board

2

Page 30



Our Story

Safeguarding Adults 

Boards (SABs) were 

established under The 

Care Act 2014

The Objective of the SAB is 
to help and protect adults 
in its area by co-ordinating 

and ensuring the 
effectiveness of what each 

of its members does.

An SAB may do anything 
which appears to it to be 
necessary or desirable for 
the purpose of achieving 

its objective

The three core duties on 
SABs are to:

1.Conduct Safeguarding 
Adult Reviews

2.Publish a strategic plan

3.Publish an annual report

3

Page 31



Partnership

Much like the Oxfordshire Safeguarding 

Children’s Board, the Safer Oxfordshire 

Partnership and the Health & Wellbeing 

Board, the Safeguarding Adults Board is a 

partnership group made up of senior staff 

from member agencies.

The Board is facilitated by an Independent 

Chair and supported by a small team.

The Board is a strategic 

partnership group

The partnership is made up of:

4

Page 32



How the Board works

FULL 
BOARD

Policy & 
Procedures

Engagement

ExecutiveVulnerable 
Adults 

Mortality

Safeguarding 
Adults 
Review

Performance 
Information 

& Quality 
Assurance

Training

Full Board
• Multi-agency partnership group, bringing together member agencies to agree on 

strategic safeguarding work
• Provides direction to all subgroups

Executive Group
• Made up of partners who fund the 

Board
• Drives the work of the Full Board 

between meetings
• Discusses “emerging” issues or 

“stuck” issues

Safeguarding Adults Review Group
• Considers cases for a Safeguarding 

Adults Review
• Manages the reviews once they are 

commissioned
• Leads on sharing the lessons from 

reviews

Vulnerable Adults Mortality Group
• Oversees the Learning Disabilities 

Mortality Review (LeDeR) process
• Leads on sharing the lessons from 

LeDeR

Training Group
• Shared with the Children’s Board
• Oversees the safeguarding training of 

the Board and its partners

Procedures Group
• Oversees the multi-agency procedures
• Offers advice & guidance on single 

agency procedures

Engagement Group
• Oversees how the Board interacts with 

the wider community of people working 
with adults

• Inputs on Board publications 

Performance, Information & Quality Assurance Group
• Scrutinises performance information from across the partnership
• Manages the quality assurance processes, such as the annual Safeguarding Self-

assessment and the Supportive Learning Visits

5

Page 33



Annual Safeguarding 

Self-assessment
The Safeguarding Adults Board, in 

partnership with the Children’s Board, 

conduct an audit of safeguarding 

practice for all partner agencies.

Responses are also reviewed at a peer 

review event, which was held in 

February 2020.

The 2019-20 

Return showed an 

improvement 

across all audited 

areas

Over 1,700 frontline 

practitioners were 

involved in the 

survey that feeds 

into this process.

95% of staff had 

undertaken 

safeguarding 

training in the 

last three years.

Partners identified three key 

concerns that impact on 

safeguarding:

❑ The support for people who 

do not meet the nationally 

defined threshold for social 

care support

❑ The information sharing, 

working agreements & 

communication between 

organisations

❑ The increased complexity and 

the demand on services

Partners also identified housing 

and homelessness as an issue 

across both Adult and Children’s 

Safeguarding. 

The Board have agreed to make 

this a joint priority in 2020-21

6

Page 34



Deaths of Adults with Learning Disabilities

In 2019/20, there were 35 deaths of 

adults with learning disabilities

reported to the Vulnerable Adults 

Mortality Subgroup (compared with 

40 in 2018/19). All were reviewed 

and there were two 

recommendations from the annual 

analysis of these deaths.

7

A number of deaths were 

associated with the 

consequences of lifestyle choices 

where it appeared that the 

individuals did not have access to 

information that they could 

understand and use. Learning 

Disability teams will lead a piece 

of work developing lifestyle 

information for individuals and 

those supporting them. This will 

be shared at an Oxfordshire-wide 

learning event.
There was a lack of evidence that 

individuals had been able to access 

the same health screening as others in 

Oxfordshire. A project to enhance the 

information available to anyone with a 

learning disability, and to promote 

reasonable adjustments in the way 

testing can be accessed is being 

undertaken. The impact of this will be 

monitored by commissioners to 

ensure all individuals have equal 

access to health screening.

Page 35



Safeguarding training we offer

Over 350 hours of face-to-

face training offered

by the Board
250+ e-learning 

course passes

102 sessions 

run

97% rated it as 

good or 

excellent

Since 2017, the Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board has worked with 

partners to offer a range of safeguarding courses. All these are bookable via 

the OSAB website.

Figures from 2019/20 can be found below:

Social Isolation & Loneliness
On 8th October 2019, the OSAB supported and co-funded “Let’s Talk About 

Loneliness”, a large conference on social isolation and loneliness.

The event was attended by over 200 people from a vast range of community and 

voluntary groups as well as colleagues from the statutory services. Feedback from 

the conference was very encouraging, with a high level of satisfaction with the 

speakers, which included our Chair, Dr Sue Ross.

With 20 workshops as well as the keynote speakers, there was something for 

everyone interested in helping reduce the chronic issue of isolation in Oxfordshire. 

Further work will be undertaken next year.

8

Page 36



Engagement Group

Other work in 2019-20

Safeguarding Adults 

Review Subgroup

Performance Information & 

Quality Assurance Subgroup

The Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) subgroup has 

considered seven cases for review. 

Several of these involved people in the homeless 

community. As there was already a review underway, 

these cases were added to that review to improve 

the thematic learning. The review into deaths within 

the homeless community is expected to be 

published in Autumn 2020.

The group has overseen two Safeguarding Adult 

Reviews, which will also be published in the Autumn 

of 2020.

As well as the performance monitoring and 

managing the annual safeguarding self-

assessment, PIQA started a new review process 

referred to as a Supportive Learning Visit.

These visits involve a team of peers from 

partner organisations coming together for half 

a day to focus on one partner and how 

safeguarding works within their organisation. 

Two have been conducted in 2019/20 and 

valuable lessons have been learnt by both 

organisations who have participated. This 

process will be continued in 2020/21.

The group, through Healthwatch, conducted 

secret shopper exercise, the learning of which 

fed into how Oxfordshire County Council’s front 

door service operates.

The Engagement group also oversaw a review 

of the OSAB website, as well as created flyers 

for the general public and for professionals 

around safeguarding, all available on our 

website

9

Page 37



What Abuse is happening?
This information comes from safeguarding enquiries and the types of 

abuse, neglect & self-neglect identified by the referrer and the 

safeguarding team

41% 32%

30%

13%

8%

1%

23%

11%

8%

1%

Neglect

Financial Abuse

Emotional Abuse

Physical Abuse

Self-Neglect

Domestic Abuse

Organisational Abuse

Sexual Abuse & 

Exploitation

Discriminatory Abuse

Modern Slavery

The numbers will add up to more than 100% as each case can have multiple forms of abuse 

present. Comparative data from previous years can be found by clicking on this link.

10

Page 38

https://www.osab.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Supplementary-Comparative-Safeguarding-Information-v2.pdf


What the data says about 

our response to abuse
The estimated* number of 

adults in Oxfordshire with 

a care and support need
43,419

5,116

1,296

The number of safeguarding 

concerns raised

The number of safeguarding enquiries, meaning 25% 

of concerns became enquiries I.E. they met the criteria 

for safeguarding as defined in The Care Act 2014

717
Of the enquiries, the number 

where risks were identified.

660
Of the risk identified, the number where the 

safeguarding work either removed or reduced the risk

57

3

The number where the risk remained 

after the safeguarding work

Of those where the risk remained, the number who said they 

weren’t satisfied with the outcome of the safeguarding work. 

These three cases have been reviewed by the safeguarding 

service.

*based on mid-year 2018 projections

1,530

Adult Safeguarding is complex and people can make choices that we as 

professionals disagree with as it leaves them at risk. However, it is their basic 

human right to make these choices and while we can help them to 

understand possible consequences we cannot force them to live a safer life.

The number of consultation calls made 

about possible  safeguarding concerns

11

Page 39



Priority Three

Sharing the 

learning from 

Safeguarding 

Adult Reviews 

Priority One

Moving training to 

accessible e-

learning and 

webinar formats

Priority Four

Maintaining high 

standards of 

strategic 

safeguarding work 

during COVID-19

Priority Two

Improving our 

communication 

links with non-

Board partners

Journey for 2020-21
The start of 2020-21 saw the entire country plunged into a pandemic that is 

unprecedented in our lifetimes. COVID-19 has and will continue to have an 

effect on our services. Increasing levels of mental ill-health are anticipated as 

people struggle with higher levels of social isolation, loneliness and 

bereavement. 

Care and healthcare services are having to develop innovative ways of 

reaching people in the current climate. People who would previously have 

got along without help are now relying on their community.

Our response to this during 2020-21 is to do what we can to innovate and 

broaden our reach. We plan to move more training online so that anyone, 

anywhere can access the vital training they need. We’ll be sharing the lessons 

from reviews in new and exciting ways to reach those we haven’t 

communicated with in the past. 

Foremost, we will continue to monitor services to ensure they are protecting 

the most vulnerable in our society. 

12

Page 40



                                                                                                                                     
Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

1 
 

 
 

 

Learning from 19/20 reviews 
 

Oxfordshire Vulnerable Adults Death Review 
Process 

 
Annual Report for 2019/20 

 

           

 

  

Page 41



                                                                                                                                     
Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

2 
 

Oxfordshire Vulnerable Adults Death Review Process (LeDeR) 

Annual Report for 2019/20 

 

Contents Page Number 

Introduction from the Chair 3 

1.0 Background  4 

2.0 Local Activity 4 

3.0 Updates from 19/20 recommendations 6 

4.0 Recommendations for 20/21 6 

5.0 Conclusion 7 

Appendix 1 VAM Panel Membership 8 

Appendix 2 Data 9 

Appendix 3: 19/20 Action Plan 10 

 

  

Page 42



                                                                                                                                     
Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

3 
 

1.0 Introduction from the Vulnerable Adults Mortality (VAM) Chair 

This year has been my first year as Chair and it is a privilege to present the annual report. 

This report of the Oxfordshire Vulnerable Adult Mortality steering group (VAM) sets out the 

work carried out during 2019-2020. The report discusses activity, functions, processes and 

analysis of identified themes. It reviews the recommendations from 2018-2019’s annual 

report and makes recommendations for 2020-2021. 

The VAM steering group is made up of representatives from the agencies which make up 

the Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board membership. The representation from agencies 

and professionals is consistently good. I am grateful for the commitment of all those who are 

involved in this process by attending panel meetings and contributing to the analysis of 

cases.  

The Learning Disability Mortality Review Programme (also known as LeDeR) was 

established to drive improvement in the quality of health and social care service delivery for 

people with LD, by looking at why people with LD typically die much younger than average. 

The Oxfordshire VAM steering group have worked hard to ensure they incorporate this 

methodology into its review processes over the past 3 years.  This work is supported and 

driven by NHS England and it is being incorporated into contractual requirements for all 

health services in 2020-2021. It is also anticipated that this will be part of partnership work 

stream within any Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) 

This year has seen continued commitment to ensure effective communication and good 

working relationships. The panel has supported a review process that critically reviews and 

seeks to identify any local issues and learning. It is through this scrutiny and constructive 

challenge that we will continue to jointly work to improve services across Oxfordshire. 

At the time of writing the country is on lock down as a result of the COVID -19 pandemic. 

Whilst not within the scope of this report I felt it was important to highlight that additional 

monitoring and review processes have been implemented and a full statement of findings 

can be found on the OSAB webpage (https://www.osab.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/LeDeR-

comms-statement-v4.pdf ). 

Alison Chapman, VAM Chair 

Designated Nurse and Safeguarding Lead 

Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group

Page 43

https://www.osab.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/LeDeR-comms-statement-v4.pdf
https://www.osab.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/LeDeR-comms-statement-v4.pdf


                                                                                                                                     
Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

4 
 

1.0 Background  

In 2016, Oxfordshire introduced a Vulnerable Adults Mortality steering group (VAM), which is 

a subgroup of the Oxfordshire Adult Safeguarding Board.  

This VAM subgroup is following the LeDeR (learning disabilities mortality review programme) 

methodology, to ensure that all deaths are reviewed in a consistent manner. The group has 

widened the LeDeR system remit to include reviewing the death of anyone with a significant 

vulnerability, which has caused the professionals to be concerned about some aspect of 

care or treatment. Neither the confidential inquiry of 2010-2013 into premature deaths of 

people with learning disabilities (CIPOLD) report, nor the LeDeR process, define a Learning 

Disability. As such, the VAM steering group has chosen not to define it, or what is meant by 

a ‘vulnerable adult’. Rather professionals should use their judgement and if they believe that 

an individual’s vulnerability contributed to their death, they should make a referral to VAM. 

 

The administration of the Oxfordshire Vulnerable Adults Mortality Process is hosted by 

Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (OCCG) and is chaired by the Designated Nurse 

and Safeguarding Lead, who is also the Local Area Contact (LAC) for Oxfordshire.  

When the death of a person with learning disabilities occurs, mandatory review processes 

(such as Safeguarding Adult Reviews and Structured Judgement Reviews) need to take 

precedence. The LeDeR process aims ensure that a coordinated approach is taken to the 

review of the death, in order to minimise duplication and bring in the learning disabilities 

expertise. For children aged 4+ the Child Death Review Process (CDOP) will run 

concurrently with the LeDeR process, using the CDOP reports. This process is also hosted 

by OCCG. 

 

OCCG has introduced an information gathering stage prior to assigning the review to a 

reviewer. This has improved efficient maintaining a robust and effective process. It has been 

possible using this process to triage cases and to improve the timeliness of completion. 

Reviewers have been able to use their clinical expertise to focus on family involvement and 

analysis of care and treatment.  

 

2.0 Activity 2019/2020 

2.1 Data 

In 2019/20, 35 deaths of adults with learning disabilities were reported to the Oxfordshire 

VAM team (compared with 40 in 18/19). In addition, the deaths of 5 children age 4+ who had 

learning disabilities, were also notified as part of the LeDeR system, and were reviewed 

within the Child Death Review Process, with both processes running concurrently, using one 

set of data. These deaths are reviewed at the Child Death Overview Panel, with LeDeR 

expertise and support present on the panel. There are 8 open cases dating back to 2018, 

which are being managed by a Clinical Support Unit (CSU), funded by NHSE as part of a 

national review support programme.  

Page 44



                                                                                                                                     
Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

5 
 

The Oxfordshire VAM Steering group met on 3 separate occasions in 2019-20, to review the 

deaths of vulnerable adults. The deaths of 35 adults, whose usual residence was in 

Oxfordshire, were reviewed.  

At the end of 2019-2020, excluding the 8 cases being managed by the CSU, there were 18 

open cases. This is less than half the number at the end of 2018/19 (37). This significant 

progress is a result of additional project money from NHSE which has enabled some 

additional capacity within the OCCG, and the amended information gathering process 

described above. There is now a performance requirement monitored by NHS E/I to 

complete all reviews within 6 months of notification. At the end of March 2020 there were 7 

cases that were over 6 months and remained open. All but one of these was completed in 

April. The remaining case is being delayed by other statutory processes. 

Appendix 2 demonstrates Oxon’s performance is significantly higher than both the SE and 

Nationally and confirms that 75% of cases have been completed and closed. 19 cases are in 

progress and 5 have yet to be commenced.  

Open cases are discussed weekly by the LeDeR administration team and the Local Area 

Contact, to ensure that data collection and information sharing is up to date and progressing. 

Assurance is also sought to confirm any immediate learning and actions are being 

undertaken by practitioners and organisations. A summary of all activity, including 

information requests and current progress is presented at each panel meeting, to ensure the 

panel has clear oversight of the issues causing delays.  

2.2 Analysis 

2.2.1 Cause of death 

An understanding of the cause of death helps inform the judgement of whether all 

appropriate care had been accessible and available to the patient and identify any potential 

modifiable factors. 

 In 12 (34%) of cases, the certified cause of death was pneumonia compared with 14 

(66%) cases in 17/18. The incidence in the whole population is 12% (Office of 

National Statistics, 2018). Whilst the incidence of pneumonia remains higher than the 

national average the number has reduced. It is not yet possible to assume this is a 

sustained improvement as a result of the changes made from VAM 

recommendations, but reviews this year have shown that all individuals had evidence 

of timely swallow assessments and had feeding plans in place. Two cases 

highlighted poor communication about changes in care plans, following a change in 

the individual’s condition. 

 8 (23%) patients died of cancer (compared with two (10%) in 17/18.  This is a higher 

number. In all cases the patients had accessed appropriate care and treatment, but 

there was lack of documented age appropriate cancer screening.  

 There were 6 (17%) patients whose cause of death was documented as myocardial 

infarctions.  

Page 45



                                                                                                                                     
Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

6 
 

2.2.2 Age at time of death 

The average age of the 35 cases reviewed by VAM was 71 (compared to 55 years of age in 

2018/19). This is a positive improvement, but VAM will continue to monitor this to be assured 

it is a consistent trend. 

2.2.3 Themes 

As a result of previous work in all areas of services, the themes that are being seen are 

moving to a more proactive approach. 

A number of deaths were associated with the consequences of lifestyle choices. Obesity and 

constipation were the two significant examples of this. Analysis of the care these individuals 

received suggests that further work is needed to ensure that individuals with learning 

disabilities have access to information that they can understand and use. Anecdotal 

evidence shows that in promoting an individual’s choice over their diet, if not balanced with 

good advice about healthy eating, may have contributed to obesity. Similarly, promoting an 

individual’s independence in self-care and toileting, whilst not equipping them with an 

understanding of what a ‘normal’ bowel habit is, has been a factor in a number of cases 

where significant chronic constipation has contributed to an individual’s death.  

A quarter of all deaths were from cancer. Whilst all individuals had access to appropriate 

treatment once diagnosed, it is unclear whether they had been able to access health 

screening as any other individual would. OCCG has developed an enhanced project to 

improve the information available to anyone with a learning disability, and to promote 

reasonable adjustments in the way testing can be accessed. For example, if an individual is 

not able to tolerate a mammogram, an ultrasound scan can be offered. Clinical teams are 

working closely to build knowledge and expertise around supporting health screening within 

this population.  

3.0 Update on recommendations from 19/20  

Appendix 3 contains the full action plan and associated updates.   

Of note, considerable work has been undertaken by Oxford Health Foundation Trust (OHFT) 

and Oxford University Hospital Trust to better understand the challenges of coordinated end 

of life care and to develop cross organisational systems to improve this essential area of 

care planning. Ensuring all updated care plans are shared between everyone caring for the 

individual has also progressed, but remains an ongoing piece of work. 

 

4.0 Recommendations for 20/21 

I. A number of deaths were associated with the consequences of lifestyle choices 

where it appeared that the individuals did not have access to information that they 

could understand and use. Learning Disability teams will lead a piece of work 

developing lifestyle information for individuals and those supporting them. This will be 

shared at an Oxfordshire-wide learning event.  

Page 46



                                                                                                                                     
Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

7 
 

II. There was a lack of evidence that individuals had been able to access the same 

health screening as others in Oxfordshire. A project to enhance the information 

available to anyone with a learning disability, and to promote reasonable adjustments 

in the way testing can be accessed is being undertaken. The impact of this will be 

monitored by commissioners to ensure all individuals have equal access to health 

screening. 

5.0 Conclusion 

The third year of the Vulnerable Adult Mortality process has further embedded the process. 

There is evidence of strong multi-agency working at all levels to support this process, which 

facilitates the quality of the overview the panel can take. The capacity of reviewers to 

complete the work has significantly improved as a result of the information gathering now 

conducted by OCCG, and is reflected in the improved performance to complete good quality 

reviews in a more timely manner.  

Locally organisations and services have been active partners in the process. This has 

resulted in the quality of evidence provided improving. As a result, reviewers have had 

access to better information in order to identify good practice and learning points, which in 

turn is influencing positive system changes. 

The level of understanding and awareness about care and support for individuals with 

learning disabilities has improved, and there are key multi-agency areas of work in progress. 

Over this year, we have developed better partnerships, which will facilitate joint learning and 

promote more coordinated care for the individuals.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



                                                                                                                                     
Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

8 
 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 

VAM Membership 2019-20 

Name  Position  Agency  

Alison Chapman Chair: Head of Safeguarding 

and Designated Nurse 

Oxfordshire Clinical 

Commissioning Group 

Karen Brombley  

 

Designated Nurse LAC and, 

Safeguarding in complex 

care 

Oxfordshire Clinical 

Commissioning Group 

Pauline Burke VAM and Safeguarding 

Officer 

Oxfordshire Clinical 

Commissioning Group 

Steve Turner OSAB Business Manager Oxfordshire Safeguarding 

Adults Board 

Stephanie Ross Learning Disability Liaison 

Nurse 

Oxford University Hospitals 

NHS Trust 

Sandhya Chundhur Clinical Outcomes Manager Oxford University Hospitals 

NHS Trust 

Robyn Noonan Service Manager North Oxfordshire County Council 

Chris Ingram Chief Executive Style Acre 

Matt Bick Detective Inspector TVP 

Kirsten Prance  

North Learning Disability 

Team and Oxfordshire 

Intensive support team 

Oxford Health NHS Trust 

Jane Kershaw Head of Quality Governance Oxford Health NHS Trust 

Gail Hanrahan  Programme Manager Oxfordshire Family Support 

Network 

 

Page 48



                                                                                                                                     
Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

9 
 

  

Page 49



                                                                                                                                     
Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

10 
 

 

Appendix 2: Data from LeDeR system (19/20) 

 

 

 

Page 50



                                                                                                                                     
Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

11 
 

Appendix 3: VAM Annual Report 2018/19 Action Log 

Recommendation Action from Annual report and additional Actions 
from VAM panel 

  

Timescales and updates 

1. Multiagency work is needed to 

improve the use of EOLC plans as 

care planning at the end of life can 

affect the quality of the experience 

and whether or not the individual is 

supported to die in the place of their 

choice. Whilst there is evidence of 

where the individuals die, and that 

there are a higher number of hospital 

deaths than average, we do not 

know where the individuals would 

have wanted to die, as this 

information is not being sought, or 

recorded. 

a. OHFT and OUH are working together to map a 

process that will support the identification of people 

with LD who are at the end of life. The aim is that 

this will enable proactive case management, 

including how and where clients would like to be 

supported at the end of their lives. 

b. Ongoing work is needed to enable support workers 

to advocate for the individuals in their care. This will 

aim to increase the number of End of Life care 

plans and the skills of the support workers to be 

able and confident to care for them in their normal 

place of residence.  

c. OCCG to share this learning with End of Life 

Collaborative Health Needs Project, including a 

consideration of the introduction of the national 

RESPECT document.  

d. OUH to audit all LD deaths to identify barriers and 

leavers to LD patients receiving appropriate 

palliative care within OUH.(completed) 

e. OH LDT team to develop local networks with 

support workers (completed) 

Work undertaken by OHFT specialist LD 
services to reduce the number of 
avoidable deaths in the LD population. 

 
Process agreed between OUHFT and 
OHFT LD liaison nurses that ensures that 
any person known to services with 
complex health presentation has a 
completed comprehensive nursing 
assessment and that information from 
this and a hospital passport is shared. 
 
OUHFT LD Liaison nurses update the 
OHFT LDT’s on admissions and 
discharges formally weekly and as 
required during the week. This is to 
facilitate Joint co-ordination and planning 
for those people open to the LDT’s.  
OUHFT Liaison Nurses review those 
people with frequent admissions to 
ensure the appropriate management 
plans are in place 
 
Clients with complex health needs are 
fully case co-ordinated via the LD 
specialist teams to support with a 
reduction in diagnostic overshadowing 
and also to support with navigation of the 
health system. 

P
age 51



                                                                                                                                     
Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

12 
 

 
OHFT have improved access to end of 
life care planning for those with complex 
presentations to support with the most 
clinical effective care and to try and 
reduce the % of people dying in hospital. 

 

2. Providers are developing improved 

systems for sharing of care plans in 

a timely manner, ensuring that these 

are available to family members and 

all members of the team supporting 

the individual. The impact of these 

changes will be monitored via VAM 

and LeDeR reviews. 

All agencies to implement.  Analysis of cases 19/20 showed an 
improvement – difficulties were 
mentioned in only 2 cases 

3. Further work is needed to enable 

support workers to respond to the 

changing needs of the individuals in 

their care and to empower them to 

have the confidence to challenge 

medical professionals when 

appropriate. 

OCCG, OCC and OHFT Learning Disability Team to 

develop 

a. Developing a toolkit of resources for the 

workforce, 

b. Improving their access to training in key areas.  

c. Encouraging the development of local networks, 

so that the teams know who they can call on to 

assist them. 
 

OHFT LD team have developed a suite of 
resources 

4. Pneumonia was the most common 

cause of death. In all but 2 of the 

cases, there were comprehensive 

swallow assessments and feeding 

plans in place and that the reviewers 

a. Although the infective cause is rarely identified, it 

was identified that where an individual had a needle 

phobia alternative arrangements to improve access 

to flu immunisations were not made. There is 

guidance from Public Health England that 

a. Completed May 19 (Disseminated to 

primary care Aug 19) 

P
age 52



                                                                                                                                     
Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

13 
 

could not identify any failure in care 

that had contributed to the 

individual’s death.  Further work is 

needed to understand why this 

continues to be higher than for the 

rest of the population 

 

individuals with Learning Disabilities should be 

offered all reasonable adjustments, including being 

offered a nasal spray1. This guidance will be shared 

with Primary Care in this year’s flu awareness 

information. 

b. OCCG to liaise with LeDeR National team 

 

 

 

                                                           
1
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/flu-vaccinations-for-people-with-learning-disabilities/flu-vaccinations-supporting-people-with-learning-disabilities 

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

‘We will swallow our 
words back down’ 

 
 

 

 

 

Oxford’s new and 
emerging communities - 
views on wellbeing 
 

 

 

January 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 11



2 | P a g e  

 

Acknowledgements 

With huge thanks to all the community volunteers, and for all members of all 

communities represented, who worked hard to develop this work with us, 

distribute questionnaires, and make sure people’s voices are heard - especially at 

such a challenging time. Thanks also to City College Oxford for kindly hosting the 

focus groups.   

Community champions involved included: 

Taofik Shodunke   Nigeria committee  

Amier Alagab    Sudan community chair  

Khaled Al-qadi   Palestine community chair  

Imade Edosomwan   African heritage  

Luke Ejodamen   Nigeria secretary  

Hadi Al Nuri    Syrian Community Oxfordshire 

Rosalia Costa    East Timor Community Association chair 

Fernando    East Timorese Community 

Angelo    East Timorese community 

Mohamed Said   Swahili community chair  

Edrees Kahn    EOU Club chairman 

Pastor Dupe Adefala   Word Fountain Christian Ministries 

Minister Wale Akinpelu   Word Fountain  

Pastor Wyneford Mombeshora  Word Fountain 

Elder Adebisi Adefila   Word Fountain 

Nigel Carter     Oxford Community Action 

Mujihad Hamid    Oxford Community Action 

Hassan Sabrie    Oxford Community Action  

Bashi     Olde Cowley Barbers shop 

All Oxford Diversity football league/ East Oxford United players 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



3 | P a g e  

 

 

Contents 

Who we are ............................................................ 4 

Executive Summary .................................................. 5 

People told us ......................................................... 6 

Key comments......................................................... 9 

What will happen next? ............................................11 

What we did and why ...............................................11 

Conversations about mental health .............................12 

The questionnaire - views on wellbeing ........................20 

What people told us.................................................24 

What ideas and improvements would people like to see to 
support community and personal wellbeing? .................38 

Managing during Covid .............................................44 

Wider context ........................................................50 

Appendices............................................................52 

References ............................................................57 

Page 57



4 | P a g e  

 

Who we are 

Oxford Community Action formally formed in 2020, to support new and emerging 

Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Communities (BAME) alongside more established 

BAME communities to tackle and overcome barriers created by structural 

inequalities (e.g. labour market and ethnic health inequalities) that prevent BAME 

individuals and communities from reaching their full potential and enjoying equal 

representation and participation as active citizens within UK institutions and wider 

civil society. https://www.oxfordcommunityaction.org  

 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire listens to people about their experiences of health and 

social care and supports people’s stories and voices to be heard to highlight areas 

of good practice or change https://www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk  

 

Community volunteers from Oxford’s East Timorese, Pakistani, Sudanese, Syrian, 

Nigerian, Palestinian, East African communities and Word Fountain who worked to 

develop and drive the project. Members of East Oxford United Diversity Football 

league were also represented. 

  

Page 58

https://www.oxfordcommunityaction.org/
https://www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/


Executive Summary 

5 | P a g e  

 

Executive Summary 

Between November 2019 and September 2020, Oxford Community Action, along 

with community volunteers, worked collaboratively with Healthwatch Oxfordshire 

to understand what Oxford’s new and emerging communities think about 

wellbeing. Previous joint work had highlighted that mental health and wellbeing 

was a concern.    

Together we took time to collaboratively plan the project and develop a way of 

working that built trust, understanding and open dialogue. We ran three focus 

groups and designed a questionnaire to reach out to Oxford’s new and emerging 

communities. 152 people responded to the questionnaire, along with many ongoing 

conversations. Respondents represented the diverse and multi-ethnic communities 

in Oxford. This report is the result of the work we did and what people told us. 

This report shows that there is a huge appetite within the community to learn more 

about, gain skills and receive support to improve health and wellbeing. However, it 

also shows that there are significant barriers to getting the support that is needed.  

The message is loud and clear- that to build access, trust and create culturally 

appropriate services- communities want to see support designed and delivered with 

their input, within community settings, and building on community networks.  

Services need to actively engage and reach out to enable this to happen, in a 

continuous ongoing dialogue, and build relationships over time.  

  

Page 59



6 | P a g e  

 

People told us 

Wellbeing is supported by: 

People described many different sources of support for their wellbeing- and 

showed resilience, creativity, and huge desire to support those around them. 

Family, friends, faith and community were central in this. 

• Family and friends are a source of pride and support 

• Faith is key-giving strength, refuge and support 

• Community is central- value of being part of something, with huge energy 

towards giving, contributing, and improving community 

• Other factors- including work, occupation, exercise, leisure all support sense of 

wellbeing- as well as having basic needs met including food, money, housing, 

and a sense of safety  

When feeling stressed or worried, most people first turn to friends and family, 

faith, and exercise to support themselves. 

Wellbeing is undermined by: 

People told us about what undermines their ability to maintain wellbeing 

➢ Worries and stress  

Of 120 responses, 38 noted ‘money and debt’, 38 ‘jobs’, and 32 ‘family pressures’ 

as main issues causing them worries and stress. 

➢ Underlying determinants 

People told us that wellbeing is undermined by underlying issues that affect their 

lives. This included financial and job worries, cost of living and housing in Oxford, 

immigration, racism and discrimination, and safety concerns. Tackling wellbeing 

also involves tackling these underlying drivers.   

➢ Covid-19  

Covid-19 continues to put huge pressure and stress on families and community 

wellbeing- exacerbating already existing inequalities, including income and food 

poverty, insecure work and exposure in front-line work, job loss, housing pressures 

and differential health impacts.  

Page 60



People told us 

7 | P a g e  

 

Where do people turn when worries become too much? 

People’s answers clearly showed that they need trust and confidence in the place 

they turn to for support. 

When worries become too much over 87% said they would turn for support to 

friends and family, 58% to a faith leader or spiritual guidance, 30% to a GP, and 24% 

towards cultural methods (131 responses). 

Only 4% would turn to mental health support. 

What support do people want? 

136 people’s answers showed that communities have a huge interest in and 

desire for more information and support on a range of issues affecting their 

health, wellbeing and underlying structural stresses. It perhaps also shows that 

there is unmet need- almost everything is important. However, they also told us 

that support should: 

➢ Make a practical, tangible difference to people’s lives 

 

➢ Reflect the need for respect, relationship, better understanding of, and 

action on the needs and health issues facing Black and minority ethnic 

people using health services  

 

➢ Health and care services to reflect the communities they serve, and work 

with communities to build trust, communication and develop culturally 

appropriate support  

…they can’t keep telling us to use services, if we can’t see Black and 

minority ethnic people employed in the organisations...our voice will not be 

quiet, we need support and access- mental health is a big issue 

Mental health  

Interest in gaining skills and support to manage mental wellbeing was clear. Over 

35% responses indicated desire for more support for mental health, as well as 

nearly 18% for managing spiritual crises, over 19% for suicide prevention, and 

nearly 60% help to ‘manage stress’ (p.30) 

Despite this, as noted, only 4% of responses noted they would seek mental 

health support if their worries became too much (p.26).   

Number one is the services need to have staff representing the communities, 

and do simple outreach to talk to people and understand... 

➢ There are barriers to talking about mental health including stigma, fear, 

diverse cultural and spiritual views about mental health 

 

Page 61



8 | P a g e  

 

➢ Being able to support mental health requires a broad approach set within 

wellbeing as a whole, with practical community-based support, and 

involving communities in building skills and confidence to speak more openly 

 

➢ There are significant barriers to members of the community accessing 

mental health support- these include issues of trust, language, fear of 

discrimination, perception of services, and lack of services reflecting 

cultural and spiritual needs 

 

➢ People told us that mental health services needed to develop diverse, 

culturally appropriate support in dialogue with communities, and for 

services to mirror their needs in support, information and accessible staffing 

Barriers to seeking advice and support 

Of 116 respondents, lack of time, language barriers, worries about immigration, 

stigma around mental health, and racism and discrimination were all noted as 

barriers to seeking advice and support. 

This included comments that there was a lack of understanding about cultural 

needs, and lack of culturally appropriate support. 

If the supports being offered do not meet our needs or if there is a 

disconnect with persons offering support like differences in ethnicity or 

obvious lack of empathy 

The best place to have support and learn about wellbeing 

Overwhelmingly, we heard that people’s preferred place to have support for 

wellbeing and health was ‘in the community’. Support from places of trust was 

important. 

• having support through friends and family (62%),  

• faith (‘place of worship’ 53%)  

• different places in the community (76% ‘in our community’ and 51% 

‘community centre’ and 31% ‘events and clubs’) were preferred. 

• Information- via leaflets (30%), internet and phone (34%) ‘Designated 

community co-ordinators’ and libraries, local council website, buses 

• GP (34%) and pharmacy (20%) 

• Other venues- barbers’ shops1 (11%) 

 

1 Supporting barbers’ shops to deliver information about NHS Health Checks was highlighted in our Men’s Health film (2019). 

Oxfordshire County Council have commissioned Lions Barber Collective to deliver mental health awareness (Oct 2020). These 

results (11% chosen) indicate that a sensitive, culturally appropriate, community-based approach may be needed if barbers 

are to be seen as trusted sources of information and support. 

Page 62



Key comments 

9 | P a g e  

 

Key comments  

➢ Developing responsive support - for all services 

Many health, health and care services acknowledge the need to ‘reach out’ to 

diverse communities to address inequality in access and use of their services.   

If you really want to work with us, you need to mean it, sit with the 

communities and discuss, we will report back when you are serious about 

changes, we will invite you in…it really is a topic we want to talk about not 

just keep under the carpet.. 

This report highlights that to build responsive health and care services for diverse 

and multi-ethnic communities- with equity, trust, better access, and cultural 

appropriateness - there needs to be a process of continuous ongoing dialogue 

involving-  

➢ Better community engagement- health and care providers to engage in an 

ongoing open dialogue and relationship with communities – working as 

equals, reaching out, building trust over time, to understand, address and 

acknowledge barriers and build solutions 

 

Improved 
information 
and access

Better 
community 
engagement

More 
appropriate 

and 
responsive 
services

Continuous 
ongoing 
dialogue 

Page 63



10 | P a g e  

 

➢ More appropriate and responsive services- this ongoing dialogue and 

community engagement will lead to deeper understanding of need and 

support development of services that reflect diversity. Services will be more 

appropriate and responsive, offered in a range of formats, approaches and in 

diverse settings, working in partnership with community networks. Diverse 

communities will build trust and confidence through seeing themselves and 

their concerns reflected in wellbeing, mental health, and wider health 

services as a result. 

 

➢ Improved information and access- through this dialogue and seeing 

development of responsive services, there will be improved access to 

services by diverse communities. There will be engagement in service 

design, and development of communication, information and messaging that 

is culturally appropriate, using a variety of formats- including language 

translations, video and visual messaging, face to face contact, building on 

community and faith networks and links.  

For all services 

➢ To prioritize reaching out and actively engaging communities to provide 

practical, solutions focused wellbeing workshops and support, on a range 

of issues, working with and in communities to build culturally appropriate 

and informed approaches, in community settings 

 

➢ Recognize strengths of working with and through community networks, 

faith leaders and faith settings 

 

➢ Build capacity and confidence within staff teams to reach out  

 

➢ Efforts to support wellbeing need to be set within focus on wider 

determinants of health, and explore ways of addressing these drivers 

through the system as a whole. 

For mental health 

➢ Services need to reflect diversity in all aspects of its work including 

culturally appropriate front-line staff, communication, approach and service 

provision 

 

➢ Trust needs to be built recognising, understanding and tackling existing 

barriers to mental health services 

 

➢ Diverse cultural and spiritual beliefs surrounding understanding of mental 

health and wellbeing need to be recognised when planning responsive 

support and services  

Page 64



What will happen next? 

11 | P a g e  

 

 

➢ Continue to work with community volunteers, building dialogue to develop 

services, and including developing community capacity through extending 

mental health first aid training offer. 

What will happen next? 

➢ Healthwatch Oxfordshire will convene a ‘round table’ with Oxford 

Community Action and others to enable the voices from this report to be 

heard by health, mental health, and care providers and to move towards 

change 

 

➢ Healthwatch Oxfordshire will continue to build relationship with Oxford’s 

diverse and multi-ethnic communities and support their voices to be heard 

through ongoing dialogue with service providers 

 

➢ Oxford Community Action will support dialogue with mental health, health, 

and care services to encourage practical community-based support and 

solutions for wellbeing, in the form of workshops, activities and informed 

approaches delivered in community settings.  

What we did and why 

In 2018, Healthwatch Oxfordshire worked together with East Oxford United 

Football Club (Diversity Football League), and community volunteers to hear about 

what was important to men from East Oxford’s diverse multi-ethnic communities 

regarding health and wellbeing, support, information and access to NHS Checks.  

We produced a report and short film about what we heard 

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/the-project-fund-reports/  

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GcDG7wKMZ40&feature=emb_logo 

From the Men’s Health questionnaire and conversations with over 200 men, 30% of 

respondents said they felt mental health and wellbeing was a concern. We heard 

that men would like to have more information about this, but as with all health 

messages, information and support- how, where, when and who gives that support- 

was important. 

Men told us about significant barriers to access to health and care support. Whilst 

the GP was important, they also told us they favoured community-based 

Page 65

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/the-project-fund-reports/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GcDG7wKMZ40&feature=emb_logo


12 | P a g e  

 

approaches to health grounded in understanding of lived experience, and where 

people had a say in how services were developed to meet their needs.  

As a result of what we heard, Oxford Community Action, community volunteers 

from Oxford’s ‘new and emerging’ communities, and Healthwatch Oxfordshire 

embarked on a journey together to explore more about this topic.  

We were aware of longstanding barriers faced by people from Black and minority 

ethnic backgrounds in accessing and using mental health support. We were also 

aware of the underrepresentation of these communities in Oxfordshire’s mental 

health support services2. We also understood that the underlying reasons were 

complex and underpinned by all aspects of social determinants of health and 

inequality highlighting issues of trust, stigma, rights and responsibilities. 

In October 2020, as a direct result of the Men’s Health report 2018 

(www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk), 12 community volunteers trained in Mental 

Health First Aid, in October 2020, under Restore’s newly established ‘Ripple Effect’ 

project, demonstrating the value of a community-based approach, as some 

participant told us: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Conversations about mental health 

‘We will swallow our words back down’ 

From November 2019, initial meetings between Healthwatch Oxfordshire and 

Oxford Community Action explored how we might hear more about people’s 

 
2 Personal communication and See Healthwatch Oxfordshire report ‘Let’s talk about mental health’, (2020) and 

organisational responses. www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk  

The mental health first aid training 

course is one I will recommend for 

all leaders of our community- 

understanding ALGEE has improved 

me as a person on how to deal with 

issues relating to mental health 

I have a much better 

understanding of 

mental ill health and 

how to help people 

that are experiencing 

it 

Page 66

http://www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/
http://www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/


Conversations about mental health 

13 | P a g e  

 

experiences of mental health, knowledge and use of mental health support 

services. However, in early conversations with community members, we quickly 

realized there were huge barriers to talking about this issue directly.  

They told us we needed to take a step back, start at the beginning and listen to 

people’s views on wellbeing and the drivers of wellbeing. They wanted the work 

we did together to be solutions and action focused, bringing practical 

improvements to the lives of individuals, families and their communities. They also 

wanted the communities to be central in starting a dialogue with support services 

to bring about better understanding and change.    

Lots of people were involved, the focus groups everyone contributed and 

agreed mental health is a big issue in the communities, and people don’t 

want to talk about it, it’s difficult to talk about, and that’s why we 

changed the name to ‘wellbeing’ it came from discussions in the group….the 

community feeling this way 

Among our community we have many people who are suffering, from stress, 

some people even have mental disease…we are not just here to do the 

questionnaire and say ‘oh ok’ … we can do that tomorrow, but I think we 

have to find the root cause of that…we need to discuss family wise, or make 

workshops for communities, or have someone come in and talk about these 

things…we need to see a difference 

The questions and questionnaire is just a door, a first stage in getting to a 

point where you are able to sit down with groups, so if people are less 

comfortable about discussing mental health because of the stigma, but are 

more comfortable to discuss wellbeing, then let’s do that 

How can we in our communities, come up with telling people, there is 

nothing wrong with it? if you have a mental health issue, its ok, you have 

somewhere to go to, because a doctor can help you, because I don’t want to 

hide it under the carpet, because definitely there is a place there, to treat 

people 

Page 67



14 | P a g e  

 

Focus groups and conversations 

Together we held three focus groups between January and March 2020, at Oxford 

City College to explore views of wellbeing further with 11 volunteers from across 

the different communities. Conversations here and ongoing with others highlighted 

some of the sensitive issues behind talking about mental health directly, and some 

of the underlying reasons.  

      Sharing conversation over food at the focus groups at Oxford City College 

About mental health and wellbeing 

Talking about mental health 

People will speak when they find the right people to talk to...need the 

right space and the right mindset to talk…fear that people will label you if 

you talk about this topic, don’t want to talk to authority 

If you really want to work with us, you need to mean it, sit with the 

communities and discuss, we will report back when you are serious about 

changes, we will invite you in...it really is a topic we want to talk about not 

just keep under the carpet.. 

Those who are born in this country and understand the culture it may be 

fine, but what about people with no understanding of it…people from these 

communities don’t want to talk  

…when he went to Talking Space, he asked ‘why are you sending me there?’ 

and when he went there and he found out about why he was there ‘why 

have you asked me here?’ and when it came to them arranging to see him 

Page 68



Conversations about mental health 

15 | P a g e  

 

again, he said ‘no, I am in good health, I don’t need anything’…because of 

the taboo, this is the problem within the community, when you mention 

about their mentality, they don’t want to talk about it, or they will say ‘ok, 

they are mad’ and they walk away 

In our community, its taboo, so if we talk about mental issue, straight away 

they are like ‘crazy’ or ‘you are not normal’ so we still have that, so I need 

to see the questionnaire, so people don’t feel like ‘it’s about me in 

particular’ and this is something big for us… 

Members of our community, the word mental mentioned there, most people 

will be scared from the word, that’s why we suggested to change that 

First issue is they might not want family to know they have spoken to 

someone…and does the person want to bring up that they are suffering or 

feel able to go and talk to someone?….but it goes wider in the family, there 

is so much pressure, and it could break things down if someone just tries to 

manage on their own  

People are asking where can I go? What is going to help me?  Trying to 

reduce stress...talking about mental health is a huge stigma in the 

community…people will feel you are singling them out 

People keep things to their self.  Mental health is a stigma.  Why would 

people say things about mental health? It takes a long time for someone to 

speak…and to trust   

Acknowledging diverse perspectives of mental health 

If people have spiritual issues, which can be equated to mental health, they 

will not go to a GP because they know they will not understand their issue, 

will not even recognise it, so they will only go to someone who does 

understand them to work with them… 

A lot of people coming to see me who say ‘It’s not a mental health issue, I 

have not got a mental health issue, I have a problem with djinn, spirits’ 

Church is a place of refuge for people– and you become aware of the 

different things people are facing….and how we support people with drugs, 

alcohol, homelessness, stress.  As a pastor you can keep an eye on people at 

Church, pick up and identify when people need help and support.   

We need to start by training leaders. Need someone to come and talk to the 

community about all different things, including mental wellbeing, as part 

of other activities that we are doing, just part of it, and not the main 

focus, not frightening people away 

A lot of people have spiritual problems, issues, they say they are possessed 

or affected by certain spirits…the discussions we have ‘have you ever sought 

medical help?’ and their initial reaction is ‘They don’t understand, they will 

Page 69



16 | P a g e  

 

just give us pills and put us in a mental hospital’ because they don’t 

understand …that certain group would dismiss it saying ‘you don’t clearly 

understand what we are going through… 

Access to support 

Most of the people are really having the language barrier in the country and 

might not understand…if you speak to them, they will say ‘ok, everything 

fine’, but not…the main thing is you have to think about the family, to 

think about the language, we have to think about how to reach people and 

to resolve and recognize… 

It’s about awareness, awareness of this problem, a lot of people deny 

having this problem, mental health and anything like that, so to make 

people aware of it and say ‘look there is help out there’ 

A lot of our community are not going to go to mental health organisations 

because it is ‘mental health’. They are not going to go to Restore because it 

is ‘Restore- mental Health’ they are not going to go to Oxfordshire Mind, 

because it is ‘Oxfordshire Mind-mental health’  

We have to find a way that we get the information to people so that they 

are happy to talk about it 

Seeing ourselves reflected in the system 

…they can’t keep telling us to use services, if we can’t see Black and 

minority ethnic people employed in the organisations...our voice will not be 

quiet, we need support and access- mental health is a big issue 

Number one is the services need to have staff representing the 

communities, and do simple outreach to talk to people and 

understand...it’s not easy to change the system 

They do know that these services are available and they know about them 

but they will not go there because they do not have trust in the NHS, and 

the system….a lot of people prefer to see someone who looks like them, or 

acts like them, for example if you are a Muslim you might only want to see 

someone who is a Muslim, or for an Islamic kind of treatment 

Because we don’t trust them, because we don’t have a similar minority 

admin person in the reception who can welcome me and say ‘hello’ and hide 

confidentially what is my problem, the whole community is thinking ‘I don’t 

want to go there ….I am sorry I am not going there, the reason is because I 

don’t even know if I am welcome because of what I see’ 

We have to make those providers aware…look you have to provide the 

information and resources to people in a way that you don’t stigmatize 

people, you find a way of addressing the stigma that prevent the people 

going to get support from your organisation because of stigma or the 

Page 70



Conversations about mental health 

17 | P a g e  

 

perception ...you are not able to work with them in the way that you are 

familiar, and you are not providing the service in a way that is culturally 

appropriate… 

Where do people go who are in spiritual crisis?… are providers even aware 

of the issue ….people who have a particular faith or background and might 

have a spiritual crisis as they see it; how are you developing your 

organisation that does work with people, on that basis? 

…is there something they need to do- to talk about what culturally 

appropriate resources could be provided for people from a particular faith 

background- that may want to address something as a spiritual crisis rather 

than a mental health crisis…? 

You don’t have to come and name mental health, as they will run away and 

say ‘it’s that crazy stuff you are talking to me’ but talk to them in a way 

that they will understand, like I have a problem with spirit 

Using mental health support 

When your service always attracts the same people you need to ask what is 

stopping people using it and why are they not attracting those people? Need 

to look at that and make an effort to change these things, everywhere I 

look…it’s been over many years…it’s the same, and it’s not easy for Black 

people to go  

Muslim community- hide it under the carpet- do not want the family to 

know. They need to form trust before they go to find help. If they want to 

go for help, I need to see someone I can trust and can relate to. Not an 

English person, if they are the ones there it will close the conversation 

down soon…we will swallow our words back down. 

How many Black and minority ethnic people knock on your door and come 

and speak to you about simple health issues?- no they don’t come to you 

Trust of mental health services 

We know exactly everything here, the services here, we know about it, 

most of us know and are aware, but there is a lack of trust, ‘not open to 

everybody’, or we have this mentality which will try to frighten everyone, 

‘be careful if you go there, it might get known’, and I have spoken to 

people, and in my judgement from speaking with people, there is no trust 

in the system about the mental health, so this situation alone tells us a lot 

It’s also expectation, when people start to use the support, they worry that 

it is something that will affect their benefits, the benefits system…money 

affairs, or immigration, and other things, so they worry it will affect these 

things, so they spend all this time, feeling uncomfortable, and feeling 

worrying about ‘something could happen with me at any time’  

Page 71



18 | P a g e  

 

But if they didn’t know about who to go to they wouldn’t see anyone, and 

the problems would become worse and worse over the years, they don’t 

turn to people for help because they don’t have trust, and this is another 

big hidden issue… 

People have fears of talking about these topics, and fears of the authority. 

Someone who had been in Barton for 5 years, Swahili speaker, ‘do you know 

where the community centre is?’ …didn’t know, as no reaching 

out…activities are free, but many people won’t go there as it’s where the 

community police officers are and some communities would never go 

there… 

Being heard by the system 

We can’t change the system and no one will listen to our expertise …I feel 

our new generation won’t have a voice of change, all decision makers never 

understand grassroots communities or never felt how they live day by day 

There is need for a collective and collaborative voice across the different 

communities across Oxfordshire as the power dynamics that create inclusion 

or exclusion- to get any kind of change… are stacked in favour of people in 

organisations, people find it difficult to navigate, and they are designed to 

exclude not include… 

Can’t keep going without support of the system… You can’t just push on if 

you know the system is not working. It’s too much for volunteers alone… 

Need to work with communities 

Many have lack of understanding about ways to look after their health, we 

need people to work with the communities, to design projects with us around 

mental health, more workshops and training, wellbeing, mental health, 

diabetes….and links to other services 

We see the same pattern, they go to organisations, have already done the 

plan, decided what they are doing, and just want to sell their plans to the 

community…they are not really listening, it’s like being a teacher and 

student…I am the student, and you just want to tell me the subject 

Mental health first aid…community champions would then be able to signpost 

people to the right place, as people trust them, and that in itself would be 

really powerful, could share on social media, and people will know where to 

go… 

 

Page 72



Conversations about mental health 

19 | P a g e  

 

Underlying drivers of wellbeing 

Speaking from lived experience 

Wellbeing of the person is about having a home where food is there…why 

are you talking about being active…we hear all the time about how Covid-19 

has got people doing all this activity…but it’s a way away from these 

communities 

People on benefits, £70ish, the council thinks ‘no problems’ but by the 

middle of the week, people don’t have enough food to eat 

A lot of the men in the community are working 7 days and nights, so my 

point, I start looking at what issue they experience in the workplace, what 

stress they face, they are working all the time, working in three places, and 

then they have less time for themselves. Overcrowding is a problem as well  

Some suffer from the problem of gambling, where they are short on their 

rent and try and make money that way  

Yes, they work hard for the rent, for their labour and that has negative 

impact on them and their health 

Parents and children are not talking at all, I know many people, they don’t 

know about their children, if there is something wrong… if I have not seen 

even my mum and dad for a week- they are out at work, long hours- who do 

I speak to? I have to speak to other people outside…if nobody is sitting at 

home asking me what I did today, ‘how are your friends, how was your 

class?’, then, I have to find someone else to speak to 

Language, loneliness, not being able to contribute, work…finding life here 

very hard, all worries and struggles to survive, housing, money…when will it 

ever get better?….some are saying it is so hard here  

People from Africa face a tough challenge – living in Oxford, it is so 

expensive, work, housing, need to put food on the table – have job, not 

enough money for home and to send back home, gives financial stress and 

this pressure sometimes leads to breakdown 

Worrying about their life, their future, everything expensive, how to get 

money, whether they can get married, have children, find a job, find a 

house- all these things….how are they going to do these things….why is that 

happening..? 

People work Saturday and Sunday double shift, just to earn more money for 

the weekend...so they don’t go (to the GP) then! If you are talking weekday 

evenings they would understand (to see GP), but Saturday and Sunday you 

are talking £15 ….everyone would like to earn this extra money….and until 

now they (GP’s) were thinking ‘we tried to open Saturday but no-one is 

Page 73



20 | P a g e  

 

coming in’, and I said ‘yes, well most of the factory pays double on the 

weekend….’ 

People are waiting for a long time to get visa and paper from Home Office, 

they run here and there, and they are thinking about their future, not 

allowed to work, not allowed to do anything, don’t know anything, thinking 

about their future, thinking, sleeping, eating, waiting for the finalised 

papers, and just waiting inside not going out, 16-17 years olds, some 

waiting for 4 or 5 years… 

Every month, I get information from the council in the post, I open, I read, I 

put away, this sounds interesting, I have no time to go, to look for, to go 

for it, and be involved, so loads of information can be sent, but it is not 

practical… 

Covid-19 exposes underlying inequalities 

Why are you now talking about why Black people are dying? But they have 

been dying for many years, from other things- please don’t just tell us it is 

Covid19… 

What is the answer from public health? How are they going to tackle it or 

are they just going to sit in the office?…We have to find out the facts…and 

stop ignoring real communities…want to work with people who are really 

engaging community leaders or in the end what is the result? 

Many are scared to go outside, Black people more at risk and what 

assurances are you giving that you are keeping me safe? We have to go to 

work and earn money to bring food back to the family, what insurance do 

we have when listening on tv saying BAME are more affected…there has 

been lack of support for many years.. Are you in their shoes? Do you 

understand Covid19? 

Many people are going into the JR cleaning, scared to go out, because the 

person sitting next to them might have Covid and not know…but they have 

to go to work as 3 kids to feed, and have to go to work 

The questionnaire - views on wellbeing 

Following the focus group and planning discussions, we designed a questionnaire3 

together, developing the questions and referring to mental health within the wider 

context of individual and community wellbeing. The group felt that understanding 

the issues and concerns of community members would be the first step in a 

 
3 See appendix for questionnaire 

Page 74



The questionnaire - views on wellbeing 

21 | P a g e  

 

journey. What we heard could be used to reach out to the health and care system, 

and to begin a dialogue to find practical community led solutions. 

Just as we launched the questionnaire, in March 2020, the Covid-19 lockdown 

happened, and the community was thrown into crisis as the impact of this on 

families and individuals became clear. Oxford Community Action saw at first-hand 

how many in the community were facing job loss, financial and housing problems, 

food poverty, lack of accessible information, family stress, illness and often front 

line or unsafe work conditions.  

Attention turned towards the community coming together to support members to 

access food in confidence, with Oxford Community Action setting up emergency 

food distribution and other support (for over 400 families). Healthwatch 

Oxfordshire and Oxford Community Action shifted joint focus to develop, translate 

and deliver much needed information leaflets on local and national Covid support 

in Somali, Arabic, Tetum, Swahili, Amharic.  We also worked together, with 

Replenish, to produce translated leaflets on how to understand food labels, for the 

emergency food parcels. https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/information-and-

advice/translated-materials/   

 

The disproportionate impact on people from Black and ethnic minority 

backgrounds, not only of Covid but of longstanding underlying inequalities in health 

is clear (Institute of Health Equity, 2020; Runneymede Trust, 2020; Public Health 

England, 2020). This was set against the death of George Floyd in U.S. in May and 

growing Black Lives Matter movement focus on structural racism.  

Page 75

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/information-and-advice/translated-materials/
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/information-and-advice/translated-materials/


22 | P a g e  

 

We knew that people didn’t want ‘yet another questionnaire’ to ‘tell us what we 

already know’, but also agreed that it was even more important that Oxford’s 

‘system’ heard the voice of these communities at this critical time, as we had 

planned. We decided to continue.  

In July, we added questions on Covid, and sent out the questionnaire again online 

via community ‘WhatsApp’ groups and social media links. We also gave paper 

copies to households via community volunteers, and through the emergency food 

distribution, led by Oxford Community Action. Questionnaires were translated into 

Tetum only for the East Timorese Community, and some were translated verbally 

into Arabic. We had 152 questionnaire responses- a tribute to all the hard work 

that community members put in, and commitment from the community themselves 

to give their views during a very stressful time. 

 

    Questionnaire in Tetum 

 

Page 76



The questionnaire - views on wellbeing 

23 | P a g e  

 

Who we heard from: 

We heard from 152 people, and of those who told us, 52 were female, 72 male, 2 

non-binary. Post codes mainly represented residents of East Oxford- OX44 (73 

responses) and OX3 (28 people) with some individual responses across OX11, OX18, 

OX28, OX33 (Oxfordshire JSNA, 2020).   

People defined their ethnicity using National Census categories- noting African as 

the largest response rate. We know that we heard from a wide cross section of 

Oxford’s diverse and multi-ethnic communities- linked in and reached by 

community volunteers- representing East Timorese, Palestinian, Nigerian, 

Sudanese, Syrian, Somali, East African, Pakistani, and Caribbean community 

members, among others.  

 

Ethnicity of respondents 

 

 
4 Among Oxfordshire’s 10 most deprived wards (Oxfordshire JSNA, 2020 and Blackbird Leys JSNA Nov 

2020) 

Page 77



24 | P a g e  

 

Age range (117 responded) 

 

The questionnaire results were examined by the planning group, and we agreed on 

themes- highlighting what people told us about wellbeing. We heard about what 

supports wellbeing, what challenges people face, and their views on what could be 

improved. We also heard about experience of Covid lockdown. 

What people told us  

What supports wellbeing? 

We started by asking people to tell us about what supported wellbeing.  

This included questions about what made people feel good about and appreciate 

themselves (Q2). We also asked people to tell us what the first things they would 

do to support themselves when feeling worried or stressed (Q5).   

Across all the responses people gave, strong overarching themes became clear: 

Family is a source of pride and support 

Family was also central to how people felt about themselves and was key in 

supporting individual sense of wellbeing. 19 comments focused on how family, and 

role in the family could ‘make you feel good in yourself and appreciate yourself’. 

Being a father, providing for your family 
 
I feel good when I am with my family appreciate have my family here with 
me 
 

1

45

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

1

Respondents by age

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74

Page 78



What people told us 

25 | P a g e  

 

I appreciate life with my family at the moment everything is going well 

 
Happy family and settle home 
 

52 respondents also said that family and friends were the first place they would 
turn when feeling worried or stressed. Here, they noted trust, closeness, 
relationship was key in enabling them to share worries and talk problems through- 
even if families were abroad.  
 

Talk to family or close friends. By sharing what I felt with others will help 
me feel more calm and less stressed. Also I can get support from family/ 
friends could control my fear 
 
First thing that we do when we feel worried or stressed is say prayers, then 
call family if they are far away from you, and after that find your friend 
who is close to you to share what you had or feel 
 
The first thing I would do is, trying to contact my friend and family, and 
share what problem that I had 

Faith gives strength  

Faith also was significant in many people’s lives- giving sense of both individual and 

community wellbeing, as well as resilience to get through hard times and 

challenges. 8 comments said that their faith and being part of a faith community 

was important in helping them to feel good and appreciate themselves.  

 

By prayers and having faith in God makes me feel fulfilled 
 

My religious / spiritual family / association 
 

More importantly, turning to faith was a significant support, when people were 

feeling their worries had become too much for them. 32 respondents said this was 

the first place they would turn for strength and help- and something to rely on in 

helping them find a solution. A number noted they would spend time reading the 

Quran or Bible, finding support there, or in quiet prayer and reflection on their 

problem, or speaking to a faith leader. Faith had also given support during Covid-

19. 

Pray & read the Bible or quotes. 
Stop & rest! Speak peace over myself 

 
my faith- I usually pray and also talk to my very close friends or to my 
leader at church 
 
I look to God to help me to put things in their rightful perspective so I can 
be proactive 

 

First thing that we do when we feel worried or stressed is say prayers, then 

Page 79



26 | P a g e  

 

call family if they are far away from you, and after that find your friend 
who is close to you to share what you had or feel 

 
Community is central 

 

 

‘Word cloud’ all responses top 200 

 

People placed huge value on being part of and feeling embraced within the wider 

community- seeing this as central to building a sense of wellbeing- for themselves, 

their families and community groups. (29 comments) This came forward strongly- 

as did the sense of energy and enthusiasm for giving, helping, building community, 

supporting others in need, and contributing positively to life in Oxford. People used 

words like ‘co-operation’, ‘working together’, ‘tolerance’ ‘giving’ and spoke about 

the value of building connection, shared activities, events, and mutual support.  

 

A sense of belonging and to be contributing to the local economy. 
Showcasing what I can do to bring diversity to my neighbourhood. 
 
Working with a large group of people and making friends 
 
Community!  
Living in and giving back to my community - Young, old, rich, poor… 
 
When I help and support the others 
 
the wellbeing of me and the community is very well- very supportive 

Page 80



What people told us 

27 | P a g e  

 

 

Good community support, and access to social amenities and network 
systems  

While only 3 people noted that they would turn to their community or community 

leaders for support if feeling worried or stressed, 52 had said they would turn to 

friends and family (above), perhaps seen as community, and showing that trust, 

closeness and confidence was important in seeking support.  

Get advices from the community and from the leaders in the community 
specially the most educated people 

Sense of personal worth builds resilience 

29 comments showed how a sense of self-worth was important to people in feeling 

good and appreciating themselves. Work, feeling useful, doing meaningful tasks, 

and having a valued role all were important to self-worth. 

When I do something and succeed in it. Like doing a job well 
 

I feel good in myself if I have a job, money and I can enjoy with my friends 
 

My profession and my commitment towards my career 
 
Opportunity to express my talents 

 

Taking care of yourself was also important, through taking time to relax, being 

positive, dressing well, or taking pride in culture. 

Love myself 
 

Dressing nicely and looking nice and achieving to have a beautiful family 
who I adore everyday 
 
Dress in my traditional clothes 

 
- be proud and love myself 
-develop confidence 
-ignore negative thinking people 
 
Trust myself surround myself with friends that always support me, motivate 
me and with those that give good impact in life- love myself 

People also noted other things supported their wellbeing, including ability to eat 

healthy food, take exercise, and getting out for fresh air.  

This type of care was also noted as the first thing someone would do to support 

themselves if feeling stressed or worried (Q5). Here of 23 comments, 10 noted 

they would take exercise, go to a park or natural place, and 13 said they would go 

for a walk. Others noted doing positive activities, like watching comedy or a movie, 

playing with kids (12). 12 people also said they would relax and take time off, and 

6 turned to hobbies, occupation or keeping busy.   

Page 81



28 | P a g e  

 

When I feel stressed, I always do things related to my hobbies such as 

watching football at the pub, play pool table and going out to drink coffee 

Wellbeing is impacted by wider determinants 

11 comments showed that a sense of wellbeing, feeling good and appreciating 

yourself is closely related to wider life circumstances- and whether your basic 

needs are met. Food, sense of security and safety, having a job, house, and enough 

money to live on, as well as respect and access to supportive infrastructure and 

services were all mentioned.  

 
Basic needs fulfilled- can think about future 

 

When I feel equally treated, respected and appreciated 
 

Being free, food on the table and work to do, which puts money in my 
pocket 

 
Safety where I live, good pharmacists shops, good doctors and all the 
community services 
 
Feeling good is depending on each person and how person dealt with issues 
through daily routine and the surrounding 

 

When I have balanced life         , job, business, good health and no worries 

about bills as there’s means to sort it out without struggle. Unlike now that 
you have to pay for everything including TV License 
 
When I have most of the things I need or just knowing that if there is a 
problem help is not far away I can call someone and I can be helped 
 
Poor or lack of access to basic legal aid and services, which sharpens 
feelings of anxiety and vulnerability.  

 
Trying to find solutions to immediate problems, such as money worries, was also 
seen as a way people would support themselves if worried or stressed (3 
comments)   
 

Look for extra shift to get money 
 
Having assurance of solving immediate problem like money worry and high 
rent rate 

Page 82



What people told us 

29 | P a g e  

 

 

What makes people feel worried or stressed? 

People told us what things in their lives made them worried or stressed. 120 people 

commented.  

 

Of comments made, worries about money and debt were mentioned most (38 

times). Comments about money included not having enough money to pay bills, or 

to meet basic needs, such as food and rent, and lack of money and debt. 

Definitely money and meeting up with bill payments 

Pay rent and many bills to pay 

Not having basic needs complete- bed, food, clothes, money worries 

10 comments specifically focused on housing, and rent. 

 Housing in oxford area 

38 comments also related to jobs and employment. People mentioned fear of or 

actual job loss, being unable to find work or get a good job, as well as the stresses 

of working, pressure, and poor work life balance. 

Inability to get a good job 

Lack of job opportunities due to lack of experience 

Poor work-life balance 

Job, house, rent and stress at work due to be a minority in the community 

Family concerns were also a big source of stress. Of 32 comments on this, people 

mentioned ‘family pressure’, stress of parenting, family relationships, 

What things make you worried or stressed?

Money and debt (38) Job (38)

Family (32) Health (22)

Housing and rent (10) Racism and discrimination (9)

Other (25)

Page 83



30 | P a g e  

 

 family pressure when there is no food to eat 

Too many things to do - work, kids, housework, everything, keeping 

everyone going and keeping them all happy 

‘Health’ was noted in 22 comments, including inequalities in health, fear of Covid, 

and disproportionate impact of ill health on Black and minority ethnic 

communities. 

Racism and discrimination was noted as causing stress in 9 comments.  

 Black life matters where-ever I find myself, discrimination in workplace, 

denial of rights, and security 

Racial discrimination at work or in the community,  
 systematic racism 
 
My children being treated racist by teachers, football coaches or other 
children 

‘Other’ comments (25) covered school pressure and exams (4), fear for children’s 

future (5), inequalities (4), politics (2), isolation (2), immigration worries (1). 

Safety and lack of security and protection was also noted by 3,  

The unsafe society and everyday struggle for survival in the UK  

 
The safety of ethnic minority, lack of adequate support from the police 
service and inequality 
 

And 2 comments on interaction with support systems 

Social services attitude towards my community 

To be let down by social infrastructures like the NHS, schools, police 

Page 84



What people told us 

31 | P a g e  

 

What are the first things people would do to support themselves if worried or 

stressed?  

 

Question 5 asked about what the first things people would do to support 

themselves if worried or stressed. 121 comments were made. In summary, as 

already noted in comments above, support from friends and family (52), and faith 

(32) was key as a first place to go for support when feeling worried or stressed.  

(Three noted support from community, although friends and family could also be 

seen as community) 

Walking, seeking exercise or being in natural surroundings was also important (32).  

Of only 7 who said they would seek professional help, 6 noted this would be with 

the GP.  

‘Other’ comments (31) included doing enjoyable activities (movies, food etc), and 

action to sort out underlying problems (rent, money), as well as information.  

Where do people turn for support if their worries become too much? 

Question 6 asked people where they would turn for support and advice if their 

worries became too much. Again, support from friends and family, and from faith 

sources stood out as the place people would turn to for support.  

What are the first things you would do to support yourself 
when worried or stressed?

Friends and Family (52) Faith (32)

Exercise (32) Rest (12)

Professional help (7) Occupation (6)

Other (31)

Page 85



32 | P a g e  

 

Of 131 responses, over 87% said they would turn to friends and family- and trust 

and confidence was important. 32% said they would turn to a faith leader for 

support, and 26% for spiritual support and guidance (total 58% support from faith 

links). 24% would find help from their own cultural methods and skills. 20% would 

turn to ‘wider community’ and ‘11% to community centre or sports club.  

30% said they would turn to their GP but fewer would seek support from other 

health sources such as mental health support (only 4%), NHS 111, A&E and 

pharmacy.  

23% would ‘keep it to myself’, and some indicated they would not go anywhere. 

Only 15% said they would use the internet. 

Additional comments further emphasised the role of faith.  

(Respondents:131) 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 86



What people told us 

33 | P a g e  

 

What stops people seeking advice and support? 

Question 9 asked people to tell us about the barriers to finding support. What 

would make it difficult or stop them and community members from seeking advice 

and support? 116 people responded, with 156 comments over a range of themes- in 

order of concern: 

➢ Lack of time 

42 comments were made about lack of time, mainly due to work schedule, but also 

family commitments and childcare.  

lack of time with my family is difficult for me to communicate between us 
all- lack of communication 
 
working and not having enough free time 

➢ Language barriers 

31 comments were made about language barriers acting to stop people seeking 

support.  

The things that make it difficult or stop you and members of your 

community seeking advice and support is time and language. Why I say like 

that because sometimes someone need your help but we don't have time to 

help them, or you really want to help them but you have problem with the 

language 

Language barrier and cultural stigmata of issues or basic understanding of 

issues as English not first language 

➢ Immigration worries 

28 comments said that worries about immigration and immigration status were a 

barrier to seeking support. People spoke of the fear of telling someone how they 

lived for fear of immigration being involved. 

Immigration worries and also fear of disappointment of not getting the help 

we needed 

➢ Lack of appropriate support 

16 comments spoke about lack of appropriate support acting as a barrier.  

This included comments that there was a lack of understanding about cultural 

needs, and lack of culturally appropriate support. It was also important to have 

someone who reflected their background and experience. 

There is hardly anyone that looks like me among the agencies officers and 

many solutions offered is not relevant to our needs 

 

Lack of understanding of my cultural background 

Page 87



34 | P a g e  

 

 

If the supports being offered do not meet our needs or if there is a 

disconnect with persons offering support like differences in ethnicity or 

obvious lack of empathy 

 

Trust-Lack of community involvement or a top down approach 

Comments also focused on need to be taken seriously, and to experience trust, 

empathy and confidentiality in support.  

Language barriers, stigma attached with mental illness and lack of 
appropriate services available for ethnic minority communities  
 
If the supports being offered do not meet our needs or if there is a 
disconnect with persons offering support like differences  

Seriousness and the feelings of the advisor 

Also being afraid of what people will think about you and if they are 

mature enough to keep confidential information confidential 

Fear I may not be taken seriously as they may say everyone is going through 

the same thing 

They feel like they won’t get help as they haven’t in other areas 

➢ Stigma 

13 comments focused on stigma as barriers surrounding seeking advice and support. 

This was around fears of what others might think of you, and especially with 

mental health support.  

The stigma of needing that type of support 

Social stigma or being judged 

Stigma and apprehension about perception of others 

Culturally, its seen as weak- a big stigma 

People think if they admit to mental health problems people will think 

they’re crazy or not ok to be around. There’s a real stigma. Women often 

end up on antidepressants but men wouldn’t say they’re feeling down as 

that’s seen as weak. They laugh about it like it’s silly. 

➢ Access and information 

10 comments noted lack of access, or lack of information about support was a 

barrier. 

Lack of awareness of facilities around me 

Lack of proper messaging 

Page 88



What people told us 

35 | P a g e  

 

➢ Racism and discrimination 

As well as previous comments about lack of culturally appropriate support, 7 

comments focused on racism and systemic racism. 

Racial and ethnic profiling 

Black life matters, if u express it, no action will be carried out 

The reason why it’s difficult to seek advice is because of race, certain people just 

don't understand it as they feel its ok to be racial abusive to us Black people 

Immigration worries, absence of confidentiality, feeling of guilt or shame, absence 

of empathy, racism and other discriminatory forms of conduct. 

➢ Other comments focused on lack of internet access, low self-esteem making 

it hard to speak out, drugs and crime and safety, lack of childcare, and 

family attitudes as barriers to seeking support.  

Practical suggestions and ideas for improvements to wellbeing 

Questions 2, 7, and 10 focused on suggestions for practical improvements to 

support wellbeing in individuals and community.   

Question 7 focused on what topics would be useful to people for practical support 

for the community- giving a tick box of choices.  

136 people’s answers echoed discussions from the focus groups- that communities 

have a huge interest in and desire for more information and support on a range 

of issues affecting their health, wellbeing and underlying structural stresses. It 

perhaps also shows that there is unmet need- almost everything is important- again 

supporting the focus group suggestion that mental health support needs to be part 

of a solutions based, practical approach embedded within wider health and 

wellbeing support. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 89



36 | P a g e  

 

Answers highlighted important themes also reflected previous comments- (people 

could select any topic that interested them, so could select multiple boxes- 

percentages show how many chose these options)  

o Practical support for family including children, teenagers was 

important (56% and 48%, 48%, chose these), with things like managing 

exam pressure included. 32% noted they would like support for the 

elderly. 

Very little for the elderly in the community 

• Interest in broad skills and support to manage mental wellbeing was clear. 

Over 35% said they would like more support for mental health, as well as 

nearly 18% for managing spiritual crises, over 19% for suicide prevention, and 

nearly 60% help to ‘manage stress’.    

Raising educational awareness of mental health services 

• Other health issues and lifestyle advice also were of interest, including 

awareness and preventive approaches for men and women’s health (48% and 

53%), healthy eating and keeping fit and healthy (56% and 59% chose this) 

and 40% chose managing diabetes or heart health. 

59%

57%

56%

54%

50%

49%

49%

48%

48%

48%

46%

46%

38%

35%

34%

32%

30%

21%

20%

19%

18%

5%

Keeping fit and healthy

Supporting the family

Healthy eating

Womens health

Housing information

How to manage stress

Supporting children

Mens health

Immigration advice/support

Supporting teenagers

Managing money or debt

Learning about local community…

Diabetes or heart health

Mental health and wellbeing

Learning about the NHS, care and…

Caring for our elderly

Managing conflict

Managing exams

Managing alcohol, gambline or drugs

Suicide prevention

Managing spiritual crises

Other

Would practical support on any of these topics be 
useful to you and your community?

Page 90



What people told us 

37 | P a g e  

 

• Need for information, signposting and support about wider services was 

also clear, including housing (50%), managing money or debt (46%), 

immigration information and support (48%), learning about the NHS and local 

health and care support (34%) and learning about local community activities 

(46%). 

 

For me personally I need help to find a home with a low rent, for us to 

relieve/ reduce our spending  

 

Help with managing alcohol, gambling or drugs (20%) and managing conflict 

(29%) was also of interest. 

 

          Learning about safety 

Where is the best place for you and your community to have support 

and learn about these things? 

Question 8 asked people to tell us where the best place was to receive support and 

learn about the things they had said would be useful to them. Again, a check list 

gave options, and people could tick all options they felt were important. 136 

answered these questions. 

 

(136 respondents) 

Page 91



38 | P a g e  

 

 

Answers supported views from previous questions- that support from places of 

trust was important. 

• having support through friends and family 62%)  

• faith (‘place of worship’ 53%)  

• different places in the community (76% ‘in our community’ and 51% 

‘community centre’ and 31% ‘events and clubs’) were preferred 

• information- via leaflets (30%), internet and phone (34%) ‘Designated 

community co-ordinator’ and Libraries, Local Council website, buses 

• GP (34%) and pharmacy (20%) 

• Other venues- barbers’ shops5 (11%) 

Other people said they would like home visits. 

Home visits (one to one) 

What ideas and improvements would 

people like to see to support 

community and personal wellbeing? 

Questions 2 (107 comments) and 10 (55 comments) asked people to tell us about 

what improvements and further suggestions they would like to see to support their 

community with wellbeing. People had lots of ideas and comments, grouped as 

follows; 

➢ Health service and mental health support 

GP and frontline health service support 

Comments on GP and healthcare support focused on issues of access and 

communication.  

 
5 Supporting barbers’ shops to deliver information about NHS Health Checks was highlighted in our 

Men’s Health film (2019). Oxfordshire County Council have commissioned Lions Barber Collective to 

deliver mental health awareness (Oct 2020). These results (11% chosen) indicate that a sensitive, 

culturally appropriate, community-informed approach may be needed if barbers are to be seen as 

trusted sources of information and support. This needs to be developed in conjunction with both 

barbers themselves from and with diverse communities.  

Page 92



What ideas and improvements would people like to see to support 
community and personal wellbeing? 

39 | P a g e  

 

Often GP and specialist made similar comment, “Sorry can’t do anything 

else to find out or help what illness patient has” Could be better if both GP 

and the specialist find other alternatives to cure patient and be transparent 

Easy access to health facility...GP, Dental facilities.  

Booking appointment for weekend and evening times will be appreciated.  

GP to have more time to attend to patients and do more routine blood tests 

for patients 

Help registering with a GP- where they can get access to health service 

Bringing the health care facilities closer to the people in the community, 

this will minimise the long queue in waiting for appointments and more 

staff and funding in the sector 

I just have to deal with my own stress but if our local medical centres and 

pharmacies and the community have all they need we will just have things 

done in our local community without thinking I’m on my own 

Comments on the need for respect, relationship, better understanding of, and 

action on the needs and health issues facing Black and minority ethnic people using 

health services were made. 

Closer engagement and collaboration of GPs and other frontline healthcare 

staff with BAME community groups. There appears to be an aloofness that 

impairs their understanding of BAME socio-cultural and economic dynamics 

that affect health and wellbeing 

If the health system can be more familiar proactive with conditions 
affecting BNEM people rather than waiting until it’s too late before doing 
something 

And comments about perceived discrimination or underlying assumptions 

Good treatment at the hospitals without segregation 

Professionals to treat me as an individual and not just make assumptions 
based on general issues migrants face - ask me any question you want to 
know  

 

Mental health support 

Better mental health support  
 
The wait list for users of the NHS CAMHS (new referrals and existing users) 
in Oxfordshire at the moment is appalling. It is up to 24months currently. 
The service is presently not fit for purpose. It needs urgent and rapid 
turnaround The NHS psychological services in the county is just as bad as 
the CAMHS for exactly the same reason 
 

Page 93



40 | P a g e  

 

More help in the community would be great. There may people who are 
suffering with depression and housing issue and autism, children with 
autism and their parents cannot get help 
 

Some comments focused on the need for safe, culturally appropriate trusted spaces 
and information to enable people to begin to speak about and find support for 
mental health and wellbeing 

 
Our community is not very open to the idea of discussing mental health 
issues, especially the men. It’s still seen as a weakness so people try not to 
reveal that they’re, for example, feeling depressed. Encouraging people to 
share their feelings and to let them see its quite normal would be helpful. 
Also maybe leaflets etc in Arabic. 

 

Have some anonymous talking space with some advices when needed 
(without being on a waiting list)  
 
I would like to see available and accessible culturally appropriate therapy, 
counselling and coaching for ethnic minority communities in Oxfordshire   

 
Pre crisis support- privilege community centres for more people LIFE 
 
Mental Health First Aid course for members of the community 
 
More help for these who are not well-liked mental health because there are 
lots of them that need help  
 
 

➢ Accessible information  
People also spoke about needing clear information about health and 
wellbeing, particularly in language translations, and using more accessible, 
user friendly formats 

Better information on key areas which impact people of colour more e.g. 

sickle cell and prostate cancer 

Symposia and Educational materials in indigenous languages 
 
Investment In production of video clips that address BAME issues by BAME 
Health professionals should be made. Such resources can easily be shared 
 
That more information should be given to the community through 
appropriate authorities about their wellbeing  
 
Information about how to support each other in by video or audio in 
different languages 
 
Health promotion seminar or conference 
 
Create online workshop where community can also access to it 

Page 94



What ideas and improvements would people like to see to support 
community and personal wellbeing? 

41 | P a g e  

 

 
More online forum to discuss issues germane to the development and 
cohesion of the local community 
 
Coming to our meetings to advise us in some of things we can do or get 
from government as a community or individual & helping us in every way 
possible 
 
Transparent means of engagement with different stakeholders in the 
community, either via newsletter or community newspaper 

 
➢ Equity and bringing people into the forefront of leading solutions 

 

More people from different backgrounds being trained within our 
community to represent the communities they live in and they will be able 
to understand issues quickly as they can relate to what the people go 
through  
 
Get more people from my community the Black community involved key 
decision-making functions they can speak to my community better 
 
In addition to its current laudable efforts, the Local Council should consider 
setting up a dedicated unit on direct community engagement, promotion of 
civic and communal solidarity, and better relations with the police, who 
very few ethnic minority people, if any, trust because they are perceived as 
institutionally racist and hostile, rather than firm but just or fair law 
enforcers. 

 

➢ Wellbeing support 

People suggested practical, accessible, affordable, and targeted community-based 

sessions and information to support with wellbeing-planned with their input. 

Understanding wellbeing 

I’m not sure my community know what well-being really is and to look after 

it they need to know why and how 

The idea of self-care and wellbeing isn’t really understood. It’s seen as 
indulgent and selfish. 
 
It needs to be communicated that it’s good to look after your wellbeing. 
 

Healthy lifestyle support 

People suggested improvements that could help people and their communities with 

healthier lifestyles. This included ideas for community sports events, exercise 

classes for all ages, health walks and hiking trips, and support with healthier eating 

and weight loss, as well as events targeted at diverse communities.  

Page 95



42 | P a g e  

 

More education on healthy food/cooking with cooking practicals using 

ethnic meals; food tasting sessions 

Education on harmful consumptions towards attitude & lifestyle changes 

More wellbeing classes and conferences especially for BME 
 
More Educations for my people on health and well-being 
 
Provision of public gyms which are free to use. This is cheaper than cost of 
medicines. Also, encouraging group basic exercising e.g. Mother & Child 
Exercise Sessions; Fathers and Sons Practice Sessions 
 
We need community based activity such as tennis, volleyball, basketball 
games etc. for all age groups for leisure which could help people, especially 
younger ones to be more engaged with the community which could help 
build a safer and better community 
 
Health club- whereby people meet with other people of positive mindset to 
discuss their worries. And informed feedback to be provided 
 
To different communities to do things in fresh air when they want. To have 
the air and health and kids when they going to parks to don’t be so boring 

 
➢ Tackling underlying drivers of poor health and wellbeing 

 
People also raised concerns about drivers of poor health, poor access, barriers, 
and equity- wanting to find solutions to these underlying issues. This included 
high cost and availability of housing, immigration worries, addressing 
neighbourhood issues, communication with the police, and discrimination.   

 
Finding a way to stop drug dealers, stop knife criminal, community coming 
together to celebrate life and peace, building good relationships with the 
police and the people in authority 

 
We must help police stop the gangs and drug dealers in the community 
Building a good relationships with the police and the people in authority. 

 
Help community to get support for example support from city council, 
citizen advice and others benefit agency 
 
The callous financial burden placed on immigrants for the renewal of their 
documents  
 
Also many who their immigration status won’t permit them to get help as 
they are scared of deportation should be able to get help when needed 

 
-increase salary 
-reduce house rent 
More support to the family e.g. housing issues and immigration worries  

Page 96



What ideas and improvements would people like to see to support 
community and personal wellbeing? 

43 | P a g e  

 

 
Review for people who have been on a very long waiting list for affordable 
housing. Why do we have to keep on his when we know that we won’t get 
anywhere anyway? Contact people and update them on housing situations so 
we know what’s going on 
 
Support for families to ensure children to come out of poverty 
 
More equal/equity opportunities for Black and ethnic minority professionals 
 
More acceptance of the minority 

 
90 percent of British Nigerian were denied the government self-
employments grant even when is obvious we weren’t working 

➢ Community and social support 

An African Community Centre, A safe space for both men and women to 

meet and discuss common issue safely. Also where they can learning Sewing, 

cooking various African delicacies and other African acts 

Provide leisure and community centre for BAME people 

It would be nice if there’s a forum for integrated social events that will 
enhance more unity in the neighbourhood  
 
The community need places for entertainments. Youth Club to keep 
teenager off street 
 
Community summer Sports Day for kids, teens, young adults and adults 
 
Enhance social trust and supporting members living harmoniously together 
by fostering civic engagement. Empowering members to participate in 
community and democracy 

Sharing parenting skills that works for the Africans 

➢ Employment, support, and skills  

 

Provide help free class to support people in community that speak very well 
English 

 

Our youth need to be encouraged of learning basic life skills which is letting 
them down incredibly. We need more apprenticeship for them and hands on 
activities rather the exploring only on computer games  

 

I need my community to be more integrated and involved in the society. 
Learn more about our rights and how to approach for support and help. 
Plus, how to look after ourselves and our families 

Page 97



44 | P a g e  

 

 
Help community to get support…from city council, citizen advice and others 
benefit agency 
 
Make it easier for minority businesses to be set up. To help give a leg up 
out of dependence. 
 
A wider range of educational and training opportunities/facilities 

I would like the community to have more businesses run by Black people as 

we aren't seeing that in our community and that needs to change as soon as 

possible 

 

Managing during Covid 

We asked people to tell us about the challenges faced during Covid lockdown, and 

about any support they had received. 

Impact of Covid lockdown on wellbeing 

49 comments focused on the emotional and other impacts of Covid lockdown- 

people told us about increased anxiety, stress, and about their challenges of 

isolation, and changes of routine, not being able to see community, friends, and 

family. 

Very tough. Communal breakdown, isolation, mental stress, other health 
issues, and anxiety about the future. 

 

Stressful/ worried. Taking care of mental wellbeing is important while 
staying at home during the covid lockdown, - unable to go out and see 
friends/ family is frustrated, but I have to stay calm and think positive that 
this current situation is temporary for fight the virus 
 
Not being able to attend funerals or go to a sick friend. Saying your last 
goodbye before death 
 
The environment became seriously unsafe because of some crime practices 
due to boredom 

 

Many commented on the sense of isolation, and loss of normal activities- going to 

the gym, cafes, and shopping- routines, community events and networks so 

important to wellbeing,  

It has felt isolating and social norms in Ramadan and Eid especially have 
made it hard because we would normally have lots of fun and that was 

Page 98



Managing during Covid 

45 | P a g e  

 

really missing, even with a big effort to do zooms and things. 
 
Being unable to meet family and community or even attend place of 
worship as everyone indoors and have to be in lockdown plus I and many in 
community having to shield themselves 

 

Some spoke of challenge of living in multiple occupancy homes, and added 

pressures from being unable to go out 

Like everyone else this has been a challenging time. Most of our community 
were furlough and the self-employed were hardest hit. We have large 
number of people living together in same accommodation who were unable 
to go to work or schools due to lockdown and this poises a huge challenge. 
It increases the friction among family members and brought out lot of social 
and health challenges. 
 

For families, there were extra concerns around children and young people, 
including impact on schoolwork, and on parent’s ability to work and earn income, 
and lack of space 
 

Having to cope with being stuck in the home and not being able to do 
anything fun with the children 

 
It has been very difficult since the lockdown especially when you have had a 
condition and you have two kids to look after and there's no space for them 
to play 

 

The challenge is the childcare, this has hindered our ability to work the way 
we want and at the same time reduce our income 
 
Massively hard with school and work (at home) and housework and keeping 
the kids mentally ok and my husband supported 

 

My major challenge has been parenting 
 

The disproportionate effect of Covid on people from Black and Minority Ethnic 
communities was also of concern. 
 

Lack of attention to underlying issues affecting ethnic minorities. For 
example, I called my surgery and asked for Vitamin D test. The receptionist 
wanted to know why I have a need for the test. Despite my explanation that 
I am ethnic minority adversely impacted by Covid, it’s essential that my Vit-
D is not compromised. She was not understanding. Such attitude is 
discouraging.  
 

Finance, business, and work 

28 comments focused on worries about work and finance.  

Page 99



46 | P a g e  

 

A number of people commented that they had worked throughout Covid as front- 

line NHS work, key workers or in businesses.  

I worked through it all and I am feeling tired 
 

It has been extremely difficult as I work as a bank staff and has been ill 
almost 6 months plus and have no public fund...I ran into so much debt with 
my rent, gas, electricity and other debts. At the moment God is my 
strength if not sometimes it feels like I am suffocating in my problem and I 
can catch my breath I tend to get very angry most of the time as I feel very 
frustrated with no help at all. 
 
Working too hard as a first-liner 
 
I just been working and helping the NHS 

 

Falling through the cracks 

Whilst some were able to gain government support or furlough funds, others were 
not able to access any support, ‘falling through the cracks’- particularly if on 
casual, informal or self-employed work, or after job loss 
 

It’s very tough situation because we have no access to my common help 
from government because we are foreigners 
 
It has been hard, jobs loss 
 

During the lockdown many of the difficulties we experienced because we 
lost jobs, so did the government give 80% but it was not enough because we 
had to pay for the rent, bills, sometimes we did not have the money to buy 
our needs 
 
Lack of funds from Government for majority of the self-employed and no 
work to feed the family 
 
My business was greatly affected and so are other businesses 
 

The community has had a lot of people struggling a lot because they work 
casually …and therefore have had no support. It has been very, very hard 
for many people. 

I had to have the community larder for a while and it was great but I fell 

through the cracks of financial support from the government so things have 

been really difficult 

We did not receive any assistance, only universal credit, but it was a little 

and that was not enough for us who have children 

Universal credit (UC) very helpful but business support wasn't applicable for 

most people I know who applied 

Page 100



Managing during Covid 

47 | P a g e  

 

Food poverty 

Food poverty is huge…it’s not just going to go away, it’s been hidden, but we 

see it more and more, it’s not just because of Covid  

We heard about food poverty both within the questionnaire, and from wider 

conversations. Food poverty and the fragility of household incomes came to the 

fore in the lockdown, exposing underlying issues of low income and lack of 

affordable access. Oxford Community Action established a food distribution point 

early on, responding to the fact that many in the communities were not accessing 

mainstream emergency food sources, due to stigma, and wanting privacy and 

confidentiality. By October the group, via trusted community volunteers was 

providing food to over 450 households6. 50 comments were made about food access 

in the responses, and 41 noted they had received food support via various sources. 

 
Food parcels received every Wednesday were very useful and helped a lot 
 
During this time we receive help from our community in Oxford- which 
delivered food- we feel thankful for our community attention to us 
 
The food that delivered and organised by the diversity community has helped 
family reduced and safe some expenses on weekly food shopping 

 
6 Food was supplied initially by volunteers sourcing food from local supermarkets, but OCA later 

gained support of Oxford Hub, Oxford Mutual Aid, Oxford City Council and Sofea for food supplies, 

PPE and other supplies and Oxford City College and ARK-T for space. By October OCA explored new 

models for this to continue once emergency support comes to an end. Demand continues to 

increase- and as of January 2021 supplying over 480 households weekly. 

Page 101



48 | P a g e  

 

 

Very tough as people find it difficult to feed but we the support of council we 
were able to manage some 

 

For myself it’s hard to buy food because we have to queue and we not allowed 
to buy much quantities (specially I live far from the food shop) 

 
One single mum had just had a baby, come home from hospital and her 
cupboards were bare, she had nothing at home 
 
Some supermarkets increased the prices before the lockdown which is not 
good because it's made live harder for the community 

 

Whilst several comments noted that some of the food received was not appropriate 
or familiar culturally, most acknowledged how important the support had been. 
  

Great appreciation goes to Oxford Community Action for their weekly food 
distribution to our home. This save us from embarrassment of going to food 
banks and collection centre 

 
I have had to use the community larder and it has been truly amazing. 
Sometimes the food has been very different to what I’m used to, but it has 
shown care and community support 

Racism and discrimination 

4 commented on experiences of racism or discrimination, during Covid.  

Being predominantly frontline workers, ethnic minorities were mostly affected 
by the Covid-19 virus. This then made some Black people face some 
discrimination in public. For example, when I go for evening walks, non-black 
(mostly white) people would try to avoid me as much as possible to the extent 
of almost putting their lives in danger by stepping into a moving car's way. 

 

A lot of negative reports about black people 
 

Support during Covid  

People noted the support they had received from their communities, faith groups, 

Oxford Community Action, Oxford City Council, pharmacies, and others including 

food (41), medicines, online links and in other ways. 

 
food bank, Oxford City Council calling me for help with anything like 
shopping and medicine pick-ups but also biggest help was school voucher 
scheme which help greatly 
 
I was having a Covid pass 2 months ago and I was happy to get support as 
food bank and also advice from Oxford City Council from covid line. I feels 
it’s really helpful when I was thinking about my illness and I get call 
everyday from Oxford City Council just to ask for my condition which is 
really touch for me. My opinion is please keep in touch with people who 

Page 102



Managing during Covid 

49 | P a g e  

 

suffer from Covid because your care is our strength 
 

All support was from within my community group, and our church. Weekly 

zoom prayers, Weekly community group to share important news and 

support. Our community Facebook page hosted variety of activities for 

family, children music 

Accessible information 

Early on Oxford Community Action informed Healthwatch Oxfordshire about 

community need and lack of accessible, clear Covid information in community 

languages. In April 2020, we worked together, with community translators to 

produce Covid information about local and national support, in five languages 

(Swahili, Arabic, Somali, Tetum, Amharic). These were distributed to 700 

households, and again in October.  

Responding to the questionnaire, commenting on what could be better in managing 

Covid, people supported the need for reliable trustworthy local information, and 

language translations 

Need lockdown rules translate into our local language. And distribute via 

email. Facebook or other social media so that we all know and follow the rules 

 
We received support during Covid like food donation, leaflets and information 
about Covid prevention 
 
There were loads of Public Health messages sent as leaflets to my workplace 
(Community Pharmacy) and I also received personal Gov.Uk messages about 
safety precautions which was very helpful to share with patients and 
customers. But I'm not sure if everyone within my community obtained enough 
and appropriate information to remain informed. 
 
WHO regular advisory guidance, which were practical and easy to understand 
and devoid of any political coloration or sound bites that tended to put people 
off. 

 

There has been too many fake information flying around 

Up to now I haven't received any help from community because no information 

Better community-wide information about who needs help, what we can do for 

others in the area. Most information has been coordinated within micro 

communities, which separates better off groups from those who need more 

support 

Easily digestible professional health advice on dealing with the pandemic 

through various means, as well as advice and available support for individuals 

and small businesses/ self-employed that are facing difficulties. 

  

Page 103



50 | P a g e  

 

Wider context 

• Community engagement: improving health and wellbeing and reducing 

health inequalities. NICE Guideline NG44. 2016. 

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng44/chapter/recommendations  

• The commitments being taken forward by national organisations in response 

to the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (FYFVMH) are underpinned 

by a need to achieve equality in mental health, particularly for BAME 

groups. 

• Murray, K (2020) Mapping of BAME Mental Health Services. BAME Stream. 

July 2020. Noted -increased demand for BAME mental health services but 

lack of BAME mental health provision. -Mainstream providers acknowledge 

lack of cultural competencies and perspectives in their work.  

• Commissioners aware of equality issues but do not factor it into the 

decisions they make when commissioning services. 

http://www.bamestream.org.uk/wp-content/pdf/National-Mapping-of-

BAME-Mental-Health-Services.pdf  

• From Healthwatch Oxfordshire report ‘Let’s Talk about Mental Health’ 

(August 2020:18). ‘Inequalities and discrimination can influence mental 

health and wellbeing, help-seeking practices, and recovery from illness. 

Research shows that people from BAME communities are at higher risk of 

experiencing mental health problems due to prejudice and discrimination as 

well as vulnerability to racism-related crime, violence, and abuse7. At the 

same time, they are also far less likely to receive or access mental health 

care than white British people8.  Research has identified several factors that 

make it difficult for BAME groups to access mainstream mental health 

services. Besides distance to services and long waiting times, obstacles 

include lack of knowledge and trust around mental health care, language 

barriers, cultural beliefs, stigma, and the expectation in some BAME 

communities that people should not disclose their emotional difficulties and, 

rather than seek help, are expected to manage them themselves. There is 

also some evidence that institutional attitudes towards minority groups 

mean that health services often fail to fully consider the impact that racial 

inequality and broader social determinants have on mental health and 

 
7 Mental Health Foundation. (2020). Tackling social inequalities to reduce mental health problems: 

How everyone can flourish equally. Mental Health Foundation: London 

8 Mental Health Foundation. (2016). Fundamental Facts About Mental Health 2016. Mental Health 

Foundation: London  

Page 104

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng44/chapter/recommendations
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
http://www.bamestream.org.uk/wp-content/pdf/National-Mapping-of-BAME-Mental-Health-Services.pdf
http://www.bamestream.org.uk/wp-content/pdf/National-Mapping-of-BAME-Mental-Health-Services.pdf


Wider context 

51 | P a g e  

 

wellbeing among BAME groups9  These findings highlight the need for mental 

health policy makers and providers to proactively understand and address 

the barriers to accessing services among BAME groups. In addition, mental 

health services must be accommodating to people with diverse languages, 

cultural beliefs and practices, and committed to reducing experiences of 

racism and discrimination10’. 

• https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/3438/documents/32865/def

ault/ A critical juncture for public services: lessons from Covid-19. House of 

Lords Public Services Committee. 1st report session 2019-21. HL Paper 167. 

13 November 2020. P.25. ‘Designers and providers of services have paid 

insufficient attention to the specific needs of minority groups’ and 

accentuates importance of involving people with lived experience in 

development of services. 

• Commission for equality in mental health. Mental health for all? The final 

report of the commission for Equality in mental health. Centre for Mental 

Health November 2020. https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk  Some 

communities face a ‘triple barrier’ in mental health, reflecting social 

disadvantage, poor access, and poor experience and outcomes of support. 

Mental health services should be accountable to local communities about the 

steps being taken to close the gaps. Efforts should be made to tackle the 

underlying drivers of ill health- poverty and inequality and tackling racism 

and discrimination. Communities can lead the way in pursuing mental health 

equality. 

• Advancing Mental Health Equalities Strategy. NHS. September 2020. 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/advancing-mental-health-

equalities-strategy/  

 

 

 

  

 
9 Bignall, T. Jeraj, S., Helsby, E. and Butt, J. (2019). Racial disparities in mental health: Literature 

and evidence review. Race Equality Foundation: London 

10 https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/a-to-z/b/black-asian-and-minority-ethnic-bame-communities 

Page 105

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/3438/documents/32865/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/3438/documents/32865/default/
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/advancing-mental-health-equalities-strategy/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/advancing-mental-health-equalities-strategy/


52 | P a g e  

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 - Questionnaire 

Wellbeing - you and your community 

Oxford Community Action Project (in collaboration with East Timorese, Pakistani, 

Sudanese, Syrian, Nigerian, Palestinian, East African communities, Word Fountain) and 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire are working together. We want to hear from all in Oxford's diverse 

communities who have recently settled here- what things could support you and your 

community and improve wellbeing?  

Why not share the link (https://www.smartquestionnaire.co.uk/s/wellbeing-

youandyourcommunity/) with your community via social media to make sure their views are 

heard?  

Healthwatch Oxfordshire is INDEPENDENT- we make sure the voice of people like you who use 

health services gets heard. This questionnaire is ANONYMOUS- that means we don't ask who you 

are or anything about you...What you tell us will be used to help improve support to your 

community.  Contact us if you need help filling in this questionnaire or need it in a printed 

copy e.g. Large Print, Easy Read or translation.  

 1. Your consent: This questionnaire is anonymous. This means you don't have 

to say who you are, and you cannot be identified. Healthwatch Oxfordshire do 

make use of people's comments in reports or on our website- we aim to try and 

make a difference by representing your views. We need to know if you are 

happy for your anonymous comments to be used in this way-  

 2. What improvements would you like to see for your community -to help 

support people with their wellbeing? What ideas can you suggest?  

3. What helps you to feel good in yourself AND appreciate yourself?  

4. What things in your life can make you feel worried or stressed? (e.g. job, 

money, family pressure)  

5. When you feel worried or stressed what are the first things you would do to 

support yourself?  

6. If your worries become too much for you, where do you turn for advice or 

support? (Tick as many that apply to you)  

   Friends and family 

   My wider community 

Page 106



Appendices 

53 | P a g e  

 

   Faith leader- Imam, Pastor, other 

   Spiritual support and guidance 

   My own cultural methods and skills 

   Internet/ phone 

   Community Centre/ Sports club 

   My GP 

   Accident and Emergency 

   Pharmacy 

   NHS 111 

   Mental health support 

   I wouldn't go anywhere 

   I would keep it to myself- and manage on my own 

   Other (please specify): 
 

Add anything else you would like to say about this   

7. Would practical support on any of these topics be useful to you and your 

community? (Tick as many that you think apply)  

 Language support 

  Men's health 

  Women's health 

  Healthy eating 

  Diabetes or heart health 

  Housing information 

  How to manage stress 

  Managing money or debt 

  Immigration information and support 

Page 107



54 | P a g e  

 

 Managing spiritual crises 

 Mental health and wellbeing 

  Managing exams 

 Suicide prevention 

 Managing alcohol, gambling or drugs 

 Managing conflict 

 Supporting the Family 

 Supporting Children 

  Supporting teenagers 

  Caring for our elderly 

  Keeping fit and healthy 

 Learning about the NHS, local health and care support 

  Learning about local community activities and support 

   Other - please tell us your ideas and suggestions 
 

8. Where is the best place for you or your community to have support and learn 

more about these things? (Tick as many as you think would be the best places)  

  In our community 

  Place of worship- e.g. mosque or church 

  GP or health service 

  Pharmacy 

  Community centre 

  Café/ shop 

 At work 

 Local barbers / hairdressers 

 Friends and family 

Page 108



Appendices 

55 | P a g e  

 

 Leaflets and information 

 Internet/phone 

 Events and clubs 

  Other - please tell us where 
 

9. Tell us what would make it difficult or stop you and members of your 

community - seeking advice and support? (e.g. time, language, working, 

immigration worries, family...other things)  

10. Is there anything else you would like to tell us about you and your 

community wellbeing? Tell us your ideas, suggestions or views you have on this.  

11. How has it been for you in the Coronavirus lockdown? What have been the 

challenges for you and your community?. 

12. If you received any support during coronavirus, tell us what this was. What 

worked well and what could be better?  

13. Can you suggest anything that would improve the support to you or your 

community during coronavirus?  

14. Tell us the first part of your postcode e.g. OX4  

15. What is your age?  

16. Are you?  

   Male 

   Female 

   Non-binary 

17. How do you define your ethnicity? (As taken from National Census)  

   Indian 

   Pakistani 

   Bangladeshi 

   Chinese 

Page 109



56 | P a g e  

 

   Any other Asian Background 

   African 

   Caribbean 

   Any other Black/African/Caribbean background 

   Arab 

   White and Black Caribbean 

   White and Black African 

   White and Asian 

   Any other Mixed/ Multiple ethnic background 

   English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 

   Irish 

   Gypsy/ Irish Traveller 

   Any other White Background 

   Other 

   Or tell us your own definition 
 

Thank you for your comments!  

 

  

Page 110



References 

57 | P a g e  

 

References 

 

Department of Health (2005) Delivering Race Equality in Mental Health Care. 

Marmot, M. Fair society, Healthy lives: The Marmot Review: strategic review of 

health inequalities in England post-2010. (2010)  

Healthwatch Oxfordshire (2020) ‘You do not choose to be unwell’ Executive 

Summary- Mental Health report and main report. https://cdn-

hwoxfordshire.pressidium.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Lets-Talk-About-

Mental-Health-Executive-Summary.pdf  

 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire and East Oxford United (2018) Men’s Health 

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/the-project-fund-reports/  

Independent Mental Health Taskforce (2019) The Five Year Forward View for 

Mental Health. Independent Mental Health Taskforce to the NHS in England. 

February 2019. 

Institute of Health Equity (2020) Health Equity in England. The Marmot Review 10 

years on. 

Oxfordshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. Oxfordshire’s 10 most deprived 

wards. September 2020. 

https://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/system/files/documents/202009_Bitesize_

Oxfordshire%27s_10_most_deprived_wards_1.pdf  

Oxfordshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. New Settlement Profile- Blackbird 

Leys. Nov 2020. https://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/joint-strategic-needs-

assessment c 

Public Health England (2020) Disparities in the risk and outcomes of COVID-19  

Runnymede Trust and ICM (2020). Over-exposed and under-protected. The 

Devastating Impact of Covid-19 on Black and Minority Ethnic Communities in Great 

Britain. Haque, Z., Becares, L., Treolar, N. Runnymede Trust.   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 111

https://cdn-hwoxfordshire.pressidium.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Lets-Talk-About-Mental-Health-Executive-Summary.pdf
https://cdn-hwoxfordshire.pressidium.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Lets-Talk-About-Mental-Health-Executive-Summary.pdf
https://cdn-hwoxfordshire.pressidium.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Lets-Talk-About-Mental-Health-Executive-Summary.pdf
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/the-project-fund-reports/
https://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/system/files/documents/202009_Bitesize_Oxfordshire%27s_10_most_deprived_wards_1.pdf
https://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/system/files/documents/202009_Bitesize_Oxfordshire%27s_10_most_deprived_wards_1.pdf
https://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/joint-strategic-needs-assessment
https://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/joint-strategic-needs-assessment


58 | P a g e  

 

 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire our friendly staff are here for you to help answer 
questions or give you information on health and care services in Oxfordshire. If 
you need more information or advice call us on 01865 520 520 from 9-4 p.m. 
Monday to Friday 
Visit our website www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk (with translation facility) 

email us on hello@healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk  

 
Healthwatch Oxfordshire ami-nia simpátiku funsionáriu sira iha ne'e atu ajuda 
hodi hatán pergunta sira ka fó informasaun kona-ba servisu asisténsia no saúde 
nian iha Oxfordshire. Se Ita presiza informasaun ka orientasaun barak liu tan 
entaun telefone ami iha 01865 520 520 husi tuku 9 dader to’o tuku 4 lokraik, 
Loron Segunda to’o Sesta.  
Vizita ami-nia sítiu www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk (ho fasilidade tradusaun) 
haruka email mai ami iha hello@healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk  

 

ሄልዝዎች ኦክስፈርድሼር (እኛ) ተግባቢ ባልደረቦች አሉን ፤ ጥያቄዎቻችሁን በመመለስ ለመርዳት እንዲሁም 

በኦክስፈርድሼር ውስጥ ስላሉ የጤናና የእንክብካቤ አገልግሎቶች መረጃ ለመስጠት የሚችሉ ናቸው። ተጨማሪ 

መረጃ እና ምክር ቢያስፈልጓችሁ በስልክ ቁጥር 01865 520 520 ደውሉልን፤ ከሰኞ እስከ አርብ፣ ከጥዋቱ 3 

ሰዓት እስከ ቀኑ 10 (9 ኤኤም – 4 ፒኤም) ጥሪ እንቀበላለን። ደግሞም 

• በ www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk የሚገኘውን ዌብሳይታችንን ጐብኙ፤  የትርጉም 
ርዳታ መስጫ አለው።  

• በ  hello@healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk ኢሜይል ላኩልን። 

 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire shaqaalaheena  caaifimaadka waxy diyaar kuula yihiin 

inay kaa caawiyaan kana Haqabtiraan  wixii  su'aalaha ama ay ku siiyaan 

macluumaad ku saabsan adeegyada caafimaadka iyo daryeelka bulshada ee 

Oxfordshire. Hadaad ubaahantahay macluumaad  iyo talooyin dheeri ah soo 

wac  No Tell  01865 520 520 laga bilaabo 9-4 p.m/fiidnimo . Isniinta ilaa 

Jimcaha Booqo  boggenan website : www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk (si aad 

uga bogatto) wixi talo ah noogu soo dir Emailka:- 

hello@healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk. 

 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire wafanyakazi wetu wenye urafiki, wako hapa kwa ajili 

yako ili kusaidia kujibu maswali au kukupa habari juu ya huduma za afya na 

huduma zilizoko Oxfordshire. Ik iwa unahitaji habari zaidi au ushauri piga simu 

kwa 01865 520 520 kutoka saa 3 asubuhi hadi saa 10 jioni, Jumatatu hadi Ijumaa. 

Tembelea tovuti yetu www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk (pamoja na huduma ya 

kutafsiri) tutumie barua pepe kwa hello@healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk . 

Page 112

http://www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/
mailto:hello@healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk
http://www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/
mailto:hello@healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk
http://www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/
http://www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/
mailto:hello@healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk
mailto:hello@healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk


References 

59 | P a g e  

 

 

 الصحة حول المعلومات إعطاء أو األسئلة على واالجابة لمساعدتك يعملون ودودين موظفين لديها ووتش هيلث منظمة

الرقم   على االتصال يمكنك نصح أو اضافية معلومات احتجت إذا. ضواحيها و أكسفورد في الرعاية خدمات و

 . الجمعة وحتى االثنين يوم عصراً من ٤حتى  صباحاً و ٩الساعة  من  ٠١٨٦٥٢٥٠٢٥٠

 )   الترجمة خدمة  مع المتاح و(   الويب على موقعنا زيارة يمكنكم

 www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk            

 االيميل  على مراسلتنا يمكنكم كما

  hello@healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk 

 

 

 

Oxford Community Action 

www.oxfordcommunityaction.org  - local action by Oxford’s diverse communities  

 المتنوعة  أكسفورد مجتمعات من محلي عمل

Qeynta Talo bixinta 

Ba comunidade hotu hotu ina Oxford laran 

hatua ya Jumuiya ya Oxford 

ኦክስፈርድ ኮምዩኒቲ አክሽን   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 113

http://www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/
mailto:hello@healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk
http://www.oxfordcommunityaction.org/


60 | P a g e  

 

 

To find out more about Healthwatch Oxfordshire please see 

www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk 

 

 

If you would like a paper copy of this report or would like it in 
a different format or language, please get in touch with us: 

 

 

      01865 520520 

  

     hello@healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 114

http://www.healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/
mailto:hello@healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk


 

 
 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire  
 

 

 

Report to the Oxfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board 

March 2021 

 

 

Contents 

Update on Healthwatch Oxfordshire ...................................... 2 

Reports .......................................................................... 2 

On-going work.................................................................. 4 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 115

Agenda Item 12



 

March 2021 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Report Page 2 of 4 

Update on Healthwatch Oxfordshire  
 
Healthwatch Oxfordshire staff continue to work from home or in our COVID-19 
secure office environment when needed.  This is continuing to prove a challenge to 
our traditional approach to listening to people about their experiences of health 
and care services – that is actively out in the community.  We are adapting and 
making progress with new ways of reaching out – exploiting social media channels, 
webinars, newspaper articles, and maintaining relationships with communities. 
 
Between April and end December 2020: 

• We heard from 4,542 people. 

• We reached 345 people through our work with local groups, including Oxford 

Community Action, Black Asian and Ethnically Diverse Women in Oxfordshire 

Recovering from Lockdown and Domestic Abuse, African Families in the UK 

and the Early Years Network. 

• During October and December, we were active in Didcot and surrounding 

villages. 

• 87 members of Patient Participation Groups were able to ask questions of 

the Clinical Commissioning Group about the COVID-19 vaccination 

programme.  A questions and answers (Q&As) online document resulted 

from this and is constantly updated.  The report and recording of the 

webinar can be found here 

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/ppgs/news/  

 

Making a difference, being heard, influencing changes. 

• A presentation of our Care Home COVID-19 report to Oxfordshire Clinical 

Commissioning Group Primary Care Commissioning Committee in October 

led to a briefing webinar for care homes including a focus on legal 

framework and safeguarding. This was in response to concerns raised in our 

report about restrictive visiting arrangements at some care homes. 

• At our recommendation, Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

updated its website so that content about maternity services, including 

partners being able to visit and be present at birth, was more accessible. 

• Homestart Oxfordshire made use of our report on the emotional wellbeing 

of under-fives in developing its support for families during the pandemic. 

 
Our Community Outreach Worker joined us in early February.  The role will 
continue to support our work to reach out to seldom heard groups in Oxford city. 
 

Reports 
Since December 2020 we have published the following reports: 
 
1. Oxford’s new and emerging communities’ views on wellbeing – January 2021. 

Page 116

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/ppgs/news/


 

March 2021 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Report Page 3 of 4 

This was circulated earlier to members and can be found here 
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/our-reports/healthwatch-oxfordshire-
reports/ 
 
Following the publication of the report Healthwatch Oxfordshire has supported the 
production of a short video that will be shown at the meeting.  Two members of 
the Oxford Community Action group who will attend the meeting to discuss the 
work that led to the report and take questions from the Board members. 
 
A summary of the work and findings follows: 
 
Working collaboratively with Oxford Community Action and community volunteers 
from Oxford’s East Timorese, Pakistani, Sudanese, Syrian, Nigerian, Palestinian, 
East African communities, and Word Fountain we ran focus groups and a 
questionnaire (Jan-Aug 2020) to find out about community views on wellbeing. 
Despite challenges of Covid, 152 people responded to the questionnaire from 
Oxford’s diverse and multi-ethnic communities. 
 
The report highlights there is huge interest in learning more in practical ways 
about health and wellbeing, with preference for this to be delivered through 
community settings, working with communities to develop. 
 
However, it also highlights that communities face significant barriers to accessing 
some support, and there is more to be done to ensure services build trust, reflect 
cultural and spiritual needs, and reflect diversity in their organisations and 
approach. It highlights that to build responsive health and care services for diverse 
and multi-ethnic communities - with equity, trust, better access, and cultural 
appropriateness - there needs to be a process of continuous ongoing dialogue 
involving better community engagement, more appropriate and responsive 
services, and improved information and access. 
 
2. Adult unpaid carers in Oxfordshire are they getting the right support when 

needed? - February 2021  

We are holding a round table meeting on 3rd March 2021 to discuss the findings of 
this report. This meeting will be attended by representatives from Oxfordshire 
County Council, Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group, Oxfordshire Mental 
Health Partnership, AgeUK Oxon, Carers Oxfordshire, Rethink, Oxford Health NHS 
Foundation Trust and six carers who took part in the research.  A note of the 
agreed actions will be published alongside the report and we will monitor progress 
over the next 12 months. 
3. Oxfordshire Children’s Trust Board - Healthwatch Oxfordshire Parent Survey 

Final Report - February 2021 

4. Report to the Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) 

-February 2021.   

This included our response to the membership of the proposed Buckinghamshire, 
Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Integrated Care System HOSC as follows: 
Proposed membership included two lay members and Healthwatch was asked to 
consider whether they wanted to take one of these places or have a standing 

Page 117

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/our-reports/healthwatch-oxfordshire-reports/
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/our-reports/healthwatch-oxfordshire-reports/


 

March 2021 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Report Page 4 of 4 

agenda item on the agenda.  Due to time constraints the five Healthwatch across 
the BOB ICS area have not yet agreed a collective response. 
Healthwatch Oxfordshire’s preferred option is to have a standing agenda item.  
This will: 

• Enable the five Healthwatch to report on what we have heard relating to 

agenda items to be discussed and give the opportunity for attendance at 

the meetings by representatives of the five Healthwatch. 

• Avoid any potential conflict of interest that might arise during the 

meeting – thus negating our ability to fully partake in the scrutiny of the 

system partners. 

• Release both lay seats to the wider BOB community.  We are also happy 

to support the BOB HOSC in recruiting to these places. 

5. Healthwatch working together across the Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and 

Berkshire West Integrated Care System (BOB ICS) have also published: 

• Joint Healthwatch response to NHS England’s integrating care plans 

consultation. https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/news-and-

events/correspondence/  

• Different Outcomes, Different Access to Care December 2020. 

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/our-reports/reports-to-other-bodies/  

On-going work 
Reports to be published during March 2021: 

• Listening to residents in care home and their loved ones. 

• Listening to paid carers. 

• Enter & View at Kassam Stadium – mass vaccination centre. 

• Dentistry – access during COVID-19 pandemic. 

• Using your pharmacy during 2020 

 
Planning for the next year and beyond with our focus being on listening to seldom 
heard communities across Oxfordshire, digital exclusion to accessing health and 
care services.  We are planning two Oxfordshire Wellbeing Network meetings to 
address health inequalities and children and families.  Our work with Patient 
Participation Groups (PPGs) continues with the next webinar planned for the end 
of March to discuss social prescribing and the impact of COVID-19; the following 
one will focus on how to widen representation within PPGs. 
 

Page 118

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/news-and-events/correspondence/
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/news-and-events/correspondence/
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/our-reports/reports-to-other-bodies/


Health & Wellbeing Performance Framework: 2020/21

March 2021 Performance report

A good start in life

Measure Target Update
Q1

No.

Q1

RAG

Q2

No.

Q2

RAG

Q3

No.

Q3

RAG

Q4

No.

Q4

RAG
Notes

1.1 Reduce the number of looked after children to 750 by March 2021 750
Q3 

2020/21
762 A 788 A 771 A

Figure is 2% lower than same time last year against a national 

increase

1.2 Maintain the number of children who are the subject of a child protection plan 550
Q2 

2020/21
504 G 539 G 525 G Figure is 9% lower than the same time last year.

1.3 Increase the proportion of children that have their first CAMHS appointment within 

12 weeks to 75%
75% Feb-20 35% R 35% R 35% R

Local and national reporting suspended in March 2020 to allow 

greater focus on managing Covid.

1.5 Reduce the number of hospital admissions as a result of self-harm (15-19 year) to 

the national average (rate: 617 actual admissions 260 or fewer)
260 Nov-20 35 G 89 G 160 G

First 6 months performance better than target and last year. 21 

fewer than target so far

1.6 Increase the proportion of pupils reaching the expected standard in reading, writing 

and maths
73%

19/20 ac 

yr
n/a n/a n/a Test results not available for 19/20

1.7 Maintain the proportion of pupils achieving a 5-9 pass in English and maths 43%
19/20 ac 

yr
n/a n/a n/a Test results not available for 19/20

1.8 Reduce the persistent absence rate from secondary schools 12.2%
Term 2: 

20/21
15.9% 15.9% 17.4%

17.4% of pupils in terms 1&2 had been persistenlty absence. This 

is higher than the same time last year (15.6%)

1.9 Reduce the number of permanent exclusions 66
Term 2: 

20/21
66 66 7

Data affected by pandemic & lockdown. Significant drop in 

permanent exclusions following work between the Exclusion & 

Reintegration team and schools to prevent exclusions.

1.10 Ensure that the attainment of pupils with SEND but no statement or EHCP is in line 

with the national average
tbc

19/20 ac 

yr
n/a n/a n/a Test results not available for 19/20

1.11 Reduce the persistent absence of children subject to a Child Protection plan tbc
Q3 

2018/19
n/a n/a n/a

Data available annually only. This is for 2018/19 accademic year. 

Figure not expected for 19/20 due to lockdown

1.12 Reduce the level of smoking in pregnancy 7%
Q2 

2020/21
7.1% A 7.5% R 6.9% A

Oxfordshire CCG level,

Year to date

1.13 Increase the levels of Measles, Mumps and Rubella immunisations dose 1 95%
Q2 

2020/21
93.1% A 95% G 94.0% A

1.14 Increase the levels of Measles, Mumps and Rubella immunisations dose 2 95%
Q2 

2020/21
92.5% A 92.5% R 91.5% A

1.15 Maintain the levels of children obese in reception class 7% 2019/20 7.6% G 6.7% A 6.7% A

Measuring stopped in March 2020 by NHS/PHE - interpret with 

caution as 32.5% reduction (comparing 2019/20 to 2018/19)

Cherwell 7.1%; Oxford 6.5%; South Oxon 7.9%; Vale 5.5%

West Oxon 7.4%

1.16 Reduce the levels of children  obese in year 6 16% 2019/20 15.7% G 16.2% A 16.2% A

Measuring stopped in March 2020 by NHS/PHE - interpret with 

caution as 34.1% reduction (comparing 2019/20 to 2018/19)

Cherwell 19.9%; Oxford 16.4%; South Oxon 14.7%; Vale 15.6%; 

West Oxon 3.6%  

1.4 Increase the number of early help assessments to 1,500 during 2019/2020 Monitor only
Q1 

2020/21
222 569 1177

Target removed because of the impact of lockdown. Figs in first 6 

months 30% below the same period last year. Figures in Q3 

returned to an above pre lockdown levels

1.17 Monitor the number of child victims of crime Monitor only
Q1 

2020/21
651 1503 2278 7% reduction compared with first 9 months in 2019/20

1.18 Monitor the number of children missing from home Monitor only
Q1 

2020/21
292 639 966 41% reduction compared with first 9 months in 2019/20

1.19 Monitor the number of Domestic incidents involving children reported to the police. Monitor only
Q1 

2020/21
1669 3409 5002 6% increase compared with first 9 months in 2019/20.

P
age 119

A
genda Item

 13



Living well

Measure Target Update
Q1

No.

Q1

RAG

Q2

No.

Q2

RAG

Q3

No.

Q3

RAG

Q4

No.

Q4

RAG
Notes

2.2 Proportion of all providers described as outstanding or good by CQC remains above 

the national average
86%

Q3 

2020/21
92% G 96% G 95% G

Routine inspection on hold, inspecting only where a concern Is 

raised

2.3 Improving access to psychological therapies: The % of people who have depression 

and/or anxiety disorders who receive psychological therapies
22% Sep-20 12% R 21.7% A 21.7% A

This is a nationally set target. 21.7% for Sept (latest figure). 17.3% 

for year to date. Figures affected by Covid; national figure is 

reported on last quarter

2.6 The % of people who received their first IAPT treatment appointment within 6 weeks 

of referral.
75%

Q1 

2020/21
98% G 98% G 98% G

2.8 Number of people referred to Emergency Department Psychiatric Service seen 

within agreed timeframe: JR (1 hour); HGH (1.5 hours)
95% Jul-20

98% (JR)

100% 

(ORH)

G
85% (JR)

88% (ORH)
R

85% (JR)

88% (ORH)
R Figure for July

2.9 Proportion of people followed up within 7 days of discharge within the care 

programme approach
95% Dec-19 96% G 96% G 96% G Reporting currently on hold due to Covid

2.10 The proportion of people experiencing first episode psychosis or ARMS (at risk 

mental state) that wait 2 weeks or less to start a NICE recommended package of care.
56% Dec-19 83% G 83% G 83% G Reporting currently on hold due to Covid

2.11  Increase the number of people with learning disability having annual health checks 

in primary care to 75% of all registered patients by March 2020
75% Oct-20 17% 13% 13% Figure not rated till the end of the year

2.12 The number of people with severe mental illness in employment 18% Nov-20 22% G 18% G 19% G Reporting currently on hold due to Covid

2.13 Number of new permanent care home admissions for people aged 18-64 < 39 Dec-20 12 G 13 G

2.14 The number of people with learning disabilities and/or autism admitted to specialist 

in-patient beds by March 2020
10 Dec-20 0 G 8 A 5 G

2.15 Reduce the number of people with learning disability and/or autism placed/living 

out of county
< 175 Oct-20 165 G 164 G 161 G

2.16 Reduce the Percentage of the population aged 16+ who are inactive (less than 30 

mins / week moderate intensity activity)
18.6% May-20 17.8% A 17.7% A 17.7% A

Cherwell 24.7%; Oxford 13.4%; South Oxfordshire 15.0%; Vale of 

White Horse 16.5%; West Oxfordshire 19.5%

2.17 Increase the number of smoking quitters per 100,000 smokers in the adult 

population

> 2,337 per 

100,000*

Q3 

2020/21
3,562 G 1839 R 2423 R

2.18 Increase the level of flu immunisation for at risk groups under 65 years 75%
Sep to 

Dec 2020
53.2% A 53.2% A 57.2% R

2.19 % of the eligible population aged 40-74 years invited for an NHS Health Check (Q1 

2015/16 to Q4 2019/20)
97%

Q2 

2020/21
no data 72.8% 80.2%

No targets set for 2020/21 as Programme primarily paused due to 

COVID-19

2.20 % of the eligible population aged 40-74 years receiving a NHS Health Check (Q1 

2015/16 to Q4 2019/20)
49%

Q2 

2020/21
no data 35.9% 39.5%

No targets set for 2020/21 as Programme primarily paused due to 

COVID-19

2.21 Increase the level of Cervical Screening (Percentage of the eligible population 

women aged 25-49) screened in the last 3.5)
80%

Q1 

2020/21
68.6% R 66.9% R 66.9% R

2.21 Increase the level of cervical Screening (Percentage of the eligible population 

women aged 25-64) screened in the last 5.5 years 
80%

Q1 

2020/21
76.6% R 76.1% R 76.1% A

P
age 120



Aging Well

Measure Target Update
Q1

No.

Q1

RAG

Q2

No.

Q2

RAG

Q3

No.

Q3

RAG

Q4

No.

Q4

RAG
Notes

3.1 Increase the number of people supported to leave hospital via reablement in the 

year
Monitor only Dec-20 139 145 148 Figures are the average number per month

3.2 Increase the number of hours from the hospital discharge and reablement services 

per month
Monitor only Dec-20 7297 7405 7277 Figures are the average number per month

3.3 Increase the number of hours of reablement provided per month Monitor only Dec-20 5090 5316 5417 Figures are the average number per month

3.4 Increase the proportion of discharges (following emergency admissions) which 

occur at the weekend
>18.8% Oct-20 20% G 21% G 21% G

3.5 Ensure the proportion of people who use social care services who feel safe remains 

above the national average
> 69.9% Feb-20 74% G 74% G 74% G

National social care user survey February 2020.3%pts increase in 

year

3.6 Maintain the number of home care hours purchased per week 21,779 Oct-20 22,480 G 24,153 G 24,642 G

3.7 Reduce the rate of Emergency Admissions (65+) per 100,000 of the 65+ population 24,550 or fewer Aug-20 23,640 G 23,640 G 23,915 G 23,915 for October; 19,911 year to date

3.8 90th percentile of length of stay for emergency admissions (65+) 18 or below Aug-20 11 G 13 G 14 G 14 days for October; 13 for year to date

3.9 Reduce the average number of people who are delayed in hospital < 38 Oct-20 20 G 32 G 30 G
National publication suspended in March. Local figure for end of 

December reported here

3.12 Reduce unnecessary care home admissions such that the number of older people 

placed in a care home each week remains below the national average
14

Q1 

2020/21
5 G 9.4 G 10 G 397 admissions to the end of December

3.13 Increase the Proportion of older people (65+) who were still at home 91 days after 

discharge from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services
85% or more

Oct - Dec

2019
67.2 R 67.2 R 67.2 R

Figure fell in year, possibly as people with higher needs were 

supported 

3.14 Increase the Proportion of older people (65+) who are discharged from hospital 

who receive reablement / rehabilitation services
3.3% or more

Oct - Dec

2019
1.75% A 1.75% A 1.75% A

Figure increased in the year from 1.7 to 1.75 but remains below the 

national average of 2.8%

3.15 Increase the estimated diagnosis rate for people with dementia 67.8% Jul-20 61.3% R 61.2% R 61.2% R

3.16 Maintain the level of flu immunisations for the over 65s 75%
Sep to 

Dec 2020
76.3% G 76.3% G 83.8% G

3.17 Increase the percentage of those sent bowel screening packs who will complete 

and return them (aged 60-74 years) 

60% (Acceptable 

52%)

Q4 

2019/20
67.4% G 54.8% A 54.8% A

3.18 increase the level of Breast screening - Percentage of eligible population (women 

aged 50-70) screened in the last three years (coverage)

80% (Acceptable 

70%)

Q4 

2019/20
69.2% R 55.4% R 55.4% R

P
age 121



Tackling Wider Issues that determine health

Measure Target Update
Q1

No.

Q1

RAG

Q2

No.

Q2

RAG

Q3

No.

Q3

RAG

Q4

No.

Q4

RAG
Notes

4.1 Maintain the number of households in temporary accommodation in line with Q1 

levels from 18/19 (208)
208

Q2 

2020/21
198 G 198 G -

Cherwell 28; Oxford 86; S. Oxon 25; Vale 55; W. Oxon: not 

available at time of publication

4.2 Maintain number of single homeless pathway and floating support clients departing 

services to take up independent living
75%

Q2 

2020/20
87.9% G 87.9% G 87.9% G

4.3 Maintain numbers of rough sleepers in line with the baseline “estimate” targets of 90 90
Q3 

2019/20
80 G 80 G 80 G Cherwell 11; Oxford 62; South x; VoWH x; West x      

4.4. Monitor the numbers where a “prevention duty is owed” (threatened with 

homelessness)
Monitor only

Q2 

2020/21
377 377 247 Cherwell 31; Oxford 60; S. Oxon 66; VoWH 77; W. Oxon 13

4.5 Monitor the number where a “relief duty is owed” (already homeless) Monitor only
Q2 

2020/21
159 159 201 Cherwell 33; Oxford 75; S. Oxon 14; VoWH 25; W. Oxon 54

4.6 Monitor the number of households eligible, homeless and in priority need but 

intentionally homeless
Monitor only

Q2 

2020/21
5 5 7

P
age 122



Children’s Trust Board Report to Health & Wellbeing Board 
 

1 
 

Report to Health and Wellbeing Board 

Report from: Children’s Trust Board (Chair – Cllr Steve Harrod) 

Report Date: 5th March 2021 

Dates of meetings held since the last report: 9th December 2020 – Virtual meeting due 

to COVID-19 restrictions 

HWB Priorities addressed in this report – A Healthy Start in Life 

Link to any published notes or reports:  

Children & Young People's Plan 2018 - 2022 

 

Priorities for 2020-21 

 

Be Successful 

1. Have the best start in life.  

2. Access high quality education, employment and training that is motivational. 

3. Go to school and feel inspired to stay and learn.  

4. Have good self-esteem and faith in themselves.  

Priority focus for 2020/21: Focus on children not engaged in education 

 

Be Happy and Healthy 

5. Be confident that services are available to promote good health and prevent ill 

health – early in life and before crisis.  

6. Learn the importance of healthy, secure relationships and having a support 

network.  

7. Access services to improve overall well-being.  

8. Access easy ways to get active.  

Priority focus for 2020/21: Focus on social, emotional, physical & mental well-being 

 

Be Safe 

9. Be protected from all types of abuse and neglect.  

10. Have a place to feel safe and a sense of belonging.  

11. Access education and support about how to stay safe.  

12. Have access to appropriate housing. 

Priority focus for 2020/21: Focus on domestic abuse  

 

Be Supported 

1. Be empowered to know who to speak to when in need of support and know that 

they will be listened to and believed.  

2. Access information in a way which suits them best.  

3. Have inspiring role models.  

Talk to staff who are experienced and caring. 

 

 

 

Page 123

Agenda Item 14

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/children-education-and-families/childrens-services/delivering-services-children/children-young-peoples-plan


Children’s Trust Board Report to Health & Wellbeing Board 
 

2 
 

1. Progress reports on priority work to deliver the Joint HWB Strategy  

  

Priority Be Successful 

Focus  Children not engaged in education 

Deliverable See updated Children and Young People Plan for list of 

deliverables 

Progress report To be reviewed at a future meeting (June 2021) 

 

 

Priority Be Healthy 

Focus Social, emotional, physical and mental well-being – linked into 

December 2020 meeting via the presentation, which is 

embedded in the Summary Section 3 – ‘Call to Arms: Partnership 

Recovery Priorities for Children and Families in Oxfordshire’  

Deliverable See updated Children and Young People Plan for list of 

deliverables.  

Progress report Performance remains affected by COVID-19. 

 CAMHS data production has been suspended but at the last 

report timeliness for the month (February was 41%) and for 

the year to date 35%.  

 The growth in activity seen in quarter 2 has continued in 

quarter 3 to normal levels. 

 Over 500 early help assessments were completed in the last 

quarter, this is back to and above the level pre-COVID-19 

 The last quarter saw a growth in A&E attendances for self-

harm of 15-19-year olds, with 85 attendances in November, 

more than double the 2019/20 monthly average. 

  

 

 

Priority Be Safe 

Focus Domestic Abuse – report in March 2021 meeting 

Deliverable See updated Children and Young People Plan for list of 

deliverables. 

Progress report To be reviewed at a future meeting (March 2021) 

 

 

Priority Be Supported 

Focus Listen to the feedback from young people in Oxfordshire 

Deliverable This deliverable is measured by a standing agenda item, to hear 

feedback from young people via VOXY.  

Additionally, via the “Be Supported Survey.” 

Progress report Survey to be launched in Summer 2021 (delays due to COVID-19) 

and will run for 4 weeks. An update is expected at a future 

meeting (September 2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 124



Children’s Trust Board Report to Health & Wellbeing Board 
 

3 
 

2. Note on what is being done in areas rated Red or Amber in the Performance 

Framework  

 

Performance remains affected by COVID-19. There were no educational results last 

academic year. Some health reporting was suspended included CAMHS timeliness. 

Be successful 

 Data on school attendance is significantly affected by the pandemic and lockdown. 

However there has been a significant drop in permanent exclusions following work 

between the Exclusion and Reintegration team and schools to prevent exclusions. 

 Persistent absence in secondary schools and children missing education are both 

higher than this time last year, but this has been affected by COVID-19 and the 

lockdown. 

Be healthy 

 Activity levels in quarter 3 rose to normal levels having been supressed earlier in the 

pandemic. The level of early help assessments rose to above the pre COVID-19 level 

 The last quarter saw a growth in A&E attendances for self-harm of 15-19-year olds, 

with 85 attendances in November, more than double the 2019/20 monthly average. 

Be safe 

 In the first 9 months of the year MASH enquiries have increased by 34%. The 

timeliness of dealing with urgent enquiries has held up with the increase in demand, 

but the timeliness of non-urgent contacts has dropped. 

 The number of children the subject of a child protection plan continues to fall (525 at 

the end of December) and has subsequently fallen to below 500 driven by children 

being the subject of a plan for less time. This is a major achievement; in June 2018 

the number was over 750 and we had seen a ten-year increase in numbers.  

 Children We Care For numbers are falling, but at a lower rate than child protection as 

fewer children are leaving the cared for system. There remains a pressure on 

placements and the number of people placed out of county and not in neighbouring 

authorities remains high. 

 There has been a 6% increase in domestic incidents and a 21% increase in domestic 

crimes involving children compared with the same quarter last year.  There has been 

extensive partnership work to reach out to vulnerable people during lockdown 

including pro-active follow up with repeat callers 

 

Indicator Number RAG What is being done to improve performance? 

1.3 Increase the 

proportion of children 

that have their first 

CAMHS appointment 

within 12 weeks to 

75% 

N/A Local and national reporting suspended in March 2020 to 

allow greater focus on managing COVID-19. 

1.11 Reduce the 

persistent absence of 

children subject to a 

Child Protection plan 

N/A Data available annually only. This is for 2018/19 academic 

year. 

1.1 Reduce the 

number of children we 

care (previously looked 

after children) for to 

750 by March 2021 

A Figure is 2% lower than same time last year against a national 

increase 

Page 125



Children’s Trust Board Report to Health & Wellbeing Board 
 

4 
 

 

3. Summary of other items discussed by the board 

 

 Way Forward Children’s Trust 

The focus of the meeting this time was the ‘Call to Arms’ presentation (Annex 1) and 

discussion by Kevin Gordon with contributions by colleagues to reset and rethink the 

purpose of the Children’s Trust Board. 

 

In putting Early Help and integrated working at the forefront, the Children’s Trust Board is 

that body to put the leverage and support a programme of work across partner 

organisations. We need to push the boundaries a bit more concentrating in some areas 

of work, being selective about what we focus on.  

It is expected there will be a structural shift in the economic patterns of families after the 

pandemic which will demand an increase of capacity into the system to manage the 

demand and we need to review the proportion of overall resources that should be spent 

at different tier levels and in particular the investment of early help intervention. 

Brief points from each presentation (refer to presentation for more detail): 

 Integrated Youth Offer – to incorporate priorities that have been amplified 

during the pandemic. Looking at ways to work around the different areas 

of needs of Education, Employment & Training, Mental Well-Being and 

Positive activities and support. 

 Mental Well-Being and Relationship to Prevention & Early Help – for young 

people the pandemic has made them more unsettled and now feel they 

are struggling more than before.  The objective is to focus on giving them 

the tools to thrive and excel.  

 Community Impact Zones – a collaboration at the micro-neighbourhood 

level in 4 key wards based on insight data. This will focus on early help and 

prevention and intergenerational disadvantage, during a 10-year 

programme. 

 Developing the Youth Offer in Oxfordshire – the offer is delivered within 

many different organisation’s from youth clubs to charities. Opportunities 

are there for multi-agency work and sharing learning/training and 

resources. 

 Early Help/Locality & Community Support Service (LCSS) – we need to 

ensure that there is prompt identification of those children and families 

who would benefit from receiving the right support at the right time. The 

Early Help network was created in June to offer virtual support during the 

pandemic. It is a gathering of professionals who meet weekly sharing 

concerns about a child/family where there are not immediate safeguarding 

concerns, but support may be required.  

 Mental Well-Being – School In-Reach, Support Teams in schools, Well-

Being in Education and Legacy Offer – the Government’s Children & Young 

People’s Green Paper initiative awarded Oxfordshire £5.4m in 2019 to 

pilot reducing waiting times into Child & Adolescent Mental Health Services 

(CAMHS) to 4 weeks by 2021. The pilot is still being tested with a proposal 

to be put forward in due course for a final national standard that the 

government will need to sign off. In the meantime, during this pilot, 

measures have been put together to optimize the service to work as 

efficiently as possible and recent figures have shown success in reducing 

waiting times. Please refer to the data tables in Annex 2. 

Page 126



Children’s Trust Board Report to Health & Wellbeing Board 
 

5 
 

 

This also included supporting the Oxford Health NHS (National Health 

Service) Foundation Trust, to deliver new mental health practitioner teams 

into primary and secondary schools in Oxfordshire. This support builds on 

what already is in place for children in school with mild, moderate and 

severe needs to access the right support and provide a link to specialist 

services. 

 

Members contributed and discussed key questions that were put forward (stated within 

the presentation slides) in order to envisage actions that would enable changes. 

Going forward is how we organize the work differently, make it sleeker and better but 

without over-designing it. 

Further ideas/comments regarding the ‘Call to Arms’ paper to be sent via email for 

further discussion and consideration. 

 

4. Forward plan for next meeting 

 
The following items are due to be considered in the forthcoming meeting:  

 Children & Young People’s Plan Focus Area – Be Safe (report on Domestic 

Abuse) 

 Early Intervention Development - follow up from December 2020 meeting 

 OXME (Young People’s website for Oxfordshire County Council) - 

demonstration of revised digital wellbeing offer and campaign 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



Children’s Trust 
Board

Call to Arms

9th December 2020

P
age 129



Way forward and 
reflections on CTB 

from Kevin

• Champion of early help and integrated working

• Foster a progressive mind set, challenges the status quo

• Initiates and incubates new areas of work 

• Realistically can’t provide governance for everything, so 
should be selective and tactical about areas of interest 

• Adds value and doesn’t duplicate 

P
age 130



Achievements
• Challenge re social and emotional well being/CAMHS –

influencing agenda

• Impact on EH infrastructure – networks, support and 
oversight to Community Impact Zone, mental health 
services in schools

• Championing LGBTQ+ issues including identifying funding 
for peer support groups and follow up after withdrawal of 
Trans Toolkit

• Forum for information exchange and challenge

• Agenda has shifted from being OCC led to more inclusive 
participation

• Level of engagement of all partners/children and young 
people

• Forum for sharing issues and identifying gaps in relation 
to responding to COVID issues and generating 3rd sector 
support

P
age 131



Thoughts going forward (1)

• Use time tactically where we can make most impact 
through a lighter touch, problem solving approach, 
fewer reports and not have an Action Plan each year 
but follow the broad areas of the CYPP and COVID 
related priorities where we have common ground e.g.

- Call to Arms - impact of COVID-19 and demand  
management/capacity across the system;

- Focus on intervening and supporting earlier, part of 
social and emotional well being;

- Workforce challenge – develop whole system 
approach to joint skill sets;

- Focus on transformation work and impact on partners 
from any agency perspective.

P
age 132



Thoughts going forward (2)
• Listening to  and acting on what children and young 

people are telling us via engagement and annual 
survey – could we also do this differently i.e. through 
thematic sounding boards?

• Identifying hard measures of effectiveness e.g. 
trebling early help; reducing acute spend by a third; 
joint skill sets and less fixed roles; increasing F2F time 
by 40%

• Keeping an eye on what the wider performance data 
is telling us to assist service development but focus on 
what is provocative and thought provoking i.e. 2/3 
areas of JSNA e.g. place based data; data for 
information item at alternate meetings?

• Ensure we continue to enable engagement – children 
and young people, parents, integrated working

• Information sharing

• Review role of Systems Leaders meetings to ensure 
strategic ownership and influence

• Ensure retention of accountability to HWBB.

P
age 133



Call to Arms 
• Call to Arms to work differently across the partnership in 

relation to increased demand and need as a result of the 
pandemic

• CTB as key strategic partnership to oversee and own change 
agenda

• 5 key recovery priorities identified:

- education, employment and training

- emotional health and well-being

- youth sector

- domestic abuse

- poverty and food banks

• What more can we do – good work already in place and 
gaps identified

• Key overarching theme – the importance of early help and 
prevention

P
age 134



Integrated Youth Offer
Emerging Need

Employment Education , Training 

Mental Wellbeing 

Positive activities & support  

Delivery design 

Common communications and  ways 
of reaching young people  

Integrated offer, common points of 
access 

Increase in the volume of support 
and intervention 

Greater reach into areas of need and 
depravation 

Experience & Impact for Young People 

Single 
conversation 

Needs tackled 
earlier 

Holistic 
offer 

Access for 
wider group 

Better access into 
targeted services

P
age 135



How can we work differently – an exemplar
Gap Analysis/How We Might Work Differently  

Social and Emotional Well-Being/Mental Health as an Exemplar  
 

Key: S = Services 
*Some children may be accessing more than one service which is not taken into account in the total 
 
November 2020 

P
age 136



The importance of early 
help and prevention

• Outline of work we are currently doing and how 
the preventative approach makes a difference to 
children and families

- Introduction: Mental Well-Being and Relationship to 
Prevention and Early Help – Sarah Breton

- Community Impact Zones – Sara Fernandez, Ian 
Brooke, Joe Kidman

- Youth Offer – Jodie Lloyd-Jones/Sarah Breton 

- Early Help/Locality and Community Support 
Service/Early Help Networks – Jo Lloyd/Maria  
Godfrey 

- Mental Well-Being – School In-reach; Mental health 
Support Teams in schools; Well-Being in Education 
and Legacy Offer – Emma Lewin/Lajla Johansson

P
age 137



Introduction: Mental 
Well-Being and 
Relationship to 

Prevention and Early 
Help

Sarah Breton

P
age 138



Young People's Mental Wellbeing

P
age 139



P
age 140



Community Impact 
Zones

Sara Fernandez, Ian Brooke, 
Joe Kidman

P
age 141



What is the Community Impact 
Zone? 

• A focused and structured 
collaboration in 4 key wards to 
address intergenerational 
disadvantage. 

• The area was chosen based on 
insight data, and the action 
horizon set at 10 years. 

Two key principles drive the work: 
• Place-based collaboration at 

the micro-neighbourhood 
level

• A focus on early help and 
reducing need for statutory 
intervention

P
age 142



Two complimentary approaches to achieve better lives for local residents and a different 
way of working:

• Bottom up, community building, based on shifting power to residents and building from 
their energy and skills in specific micro-neighbourhoods. 

• Agency-led, focused on changing the perspectives of front-line workers and overall 
services, to shift power to communities and create more relationship-based services. 

P
age 143



Three overall activity streams 
for 2021:

- Parent engagement

- Sport and physical activity

- Learning and collaboration 
opportunities for 
professionals

10-year horizon: 

- Parent and resident leadership in 
communities

- Work that directly addresses 
health inequalities

- Institutionalised place-based, 
systemic approach

P
age 144



Developing the Youth Offer 
in Oxfordshire.

Sarah Breton/Jodie Lloyd-Jones

P
age 145



Background:

• There is currently not a consistent and joined up ‘Youth Offer’ 
across Oxfordshire.

• The Covid-19 pandemic raises huge questions about how we 
collectively support young people during and when we come out 
of the pandemic. Nationally, it is expected there will be issues 
around:
• Mental wellbeing

• Access to employment and training

• Exposure to exploitation and other risky behaviours

• Relationship challenges

• Coping with trauma (including abuse and violence)

• Any response needs to be a scale, with wide reach and large 
volume (both reactive and preventative).

P
age 146



P
age 147



Early Help/Locality and 
Community Support 
Service/Early Help 

Networks

Jo Lloyd/Maria  
Godfrey 

P
age 148



Working Together 2018

Effective early help relies upon local organisations and agencies working together to: 

• identify children and families who would benefit from early help 

• undertake an assessment of the need for early help 

• provide targeted early help services to address the assessed needs of a child and their 
family which focuses on activity to improve the outcomes for the child 

LCSS supports universal services to ensure effective early help in Oxfordshire.

The Early Help Network

The network was established to prevent unnecessary/inappropriate escalation into 
Statutory services. 

The network provides Schools and Education settings the opportunity to obtain solution 
focused multi-professional advice and support for children and families where there are 
emerging concerns. It is easy to access and efficient, and schools/settings leave the 
network with a shared multi-agency plan.  

LCSS and The Early Help network

P
age 149



Right support, Right time- 135 consultations, 315 children discussed 

The families discussed were at Threshold of Need Level 2/3 only 4 families (3%) have escalated to Statutory Children’s 
Services- 51% progressed to Targeted Early Help.

Outcome from Evaluation report-

• Schools very much welcome the opportunity to access a range of professionals at one time through a single 
mechanism that is time efficient for presenting school staff

• How significant positive language is such as ‘what can we do’ and ‘how can we support’ because it fosters 
possibility and opens doors for solutions to be found

• As a result of this work, there is a greater shared understanding of capacity and capability across support services

Feedback – ‘This collaborative approach will hopefully be the first steps in supporting this young person through their 
school career and support them for later life. This would never have been achieved without the broad range of 
information, skill and willingness of many professionals to offer advice and guidance. As a school I feel that our 
identification process of young people 'in need' is improving rapidly, but more importantly our knowledge of the next 
steps has enhanced significantly through the access to this meeting and the relationships we are building’.

Relationships- Improved working relationships between agencies and with different agencies

What difference has the EH Network made to 
children and families? 

P
age 150



Mental Well-Being –
School In-reach; Support 
Teams in schools; Well-
Being in Education and 

Legacy Offer 

Emma Lewin/Lajla 
Johansson

P
age 151



Mental Health Support Teams (MHST’s)
• Who are they?

• What do they do?

• Who do they see?

• How do they do it?

• Our whole school preventative offer gives us the chance to support a bigger percentage of the 
population and their families.

• Gives Children and Young People the skills to self manage moments of stress and anxiety.

• Enables Children and Young People to develop resilience to overcome issues themselves. 

• Ensures that Children and Young People aware of where to go for further support

• Gives Children and Young People the skills to support friends who are in need;

• Give Children and Young People understanding of the wider mental health services and who to go 
to in crisis.

How does this make a difference?

P
age 152



“Wellbeing for Education Return” - training programme to help improve how 
schools respond to the emotional impact of the coronavirus pandemic on their 
students and staff

✓ This national project is funded by DfE and DHSC in partnership with HEE, PHE and NHSE
✓ Oxfordshire was allocated £111k
✓ National training package developed by Anna Freud with mental health specialists and is 

evidence based. 
✓ CAMHS Third Sector Partnership is delivering  the Training  which has been tailored to 

Oxfordshire
✓ It is a train the trainer model and programme runs September till end of March 2021.
✓ Package consist of twilight online training followed by online support forums to support 

learning and application of tools.
✓ Training has been offered to all schools, colleges and Independent schools in Oxfordshire 

and lots of positive feedback has been received from schools
✓ Take up has been approx. 25% of schools – feedback from some schools not participating 

is that they have already got measures in place
✓ Training has now been delivered ( Oct-Dec) and support forums are up and running (Nov 

–March)
✓ Legacy developments underway to continue to make this training available online to all 

schools, including the wider children’s workforce and improving digital platforms for one-
stop-shop approach for schools.

P
age 153



Key questions

• Do we agree that these are the right 5 priorities given we 
can only focus on a few top areas?

• How do we ensure we are inclusive of all groups in 
meeting the diverse needs of our communities in these 
priority areas?

• How do we generate engagement and ownership across 
the partnership, including the voice of children, young 
people and families?

• What are we trying to achieve and how do we need to 
work differently to enable change, generate investment 
and divert our resources into prevention and early help?

• What are our expectations of ourselves as leaders and 
our workforce as enablers of change?

• What would success look like?

P
age 154



Open Discussion 
& Next Steps 

with Kevin 
Gordon

P
age 155



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Oxfordshire data during the pilot scheme (2020) 
 

DAYS (median)          

Pathway 
Apr 
(20) May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Getting Help 153 145 195 189 168 215 162 187 105 

Getting More Help 55 57 74 40 36 19 28 34 21 

Neurodevelopmental 265 245 190 256 191 330 394 381 298 

Eating Disorders 16 12 9 20 20 21 21 28 29 

Learning Disability 5 57 97 29 39 26 14 19 26 

MH Support Teams 48 56 16 17 19 131 27 22 23 

          

WEEKS (median)          

Pathway 
Apr 
(20) May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Getting Help 21.9 20.7 27.9 27.0 24.0 30.7 23.1 26.7 15.0 

Getting More Help 7.9 8.1 10.6 5.7 5.1 2.7 4.0 4.9 3.0 

Neurodevelopmental 37.9 35.0 27.1 36.6 27.3 47.1 56.3 54.4 42.6 

Eating Disorders 2.3 1.7 1.3 2.9 2.9 3.0 3.0 4.0 4.1 

Learning Disability 0.7 8.1 13.9 4.1 5.6 3.7 2.0 2.7 3.7 

MH Support Teams 6.9 8.0 2.3 2.4 2.7 18.7 3.9 3.1 3.3 

 

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board, 18th March 2021 
 

Report from  Health Improvement Partnership Board 
 

Report Date 26th February 
 

Dates of meetings held since the last report:   
25th February 2021 
 

HWB Priorities addressed in this report 

 A coordinated approach to prevention and healthy place-shaping. 

 Improving the resident’s journey through the health and social care 
system (as set out in the Care Quality Commission action plan). 

 An approach to working with the public so as to re-shape and transform 
services locality by locality. 

 Plans to tackle critical workforce shortages. 
 A Healthy Start in Life 
 Living Well 
 Ageing Well 
 Tackling Wider Issues that determine health 

Link to any published notes or reports:  
 Papers for the November meeting were published and can be found here:   

Agenda for Health Improvement Partnership Board on Thursday, 19 November 
2020, 2.00 pm (oxfordshire.gov.uk)  

Priorities for 
2021-22 

The priorities are subject to review when the impact of COVID-
19 on the local population is better known 
1. Keeping Yourself Healthy (Prevent) 

 Reduce Physical Inactivity / Promote Physical Activity 

 Enable people to eat healthily 

 Reduce smoking prevalence 

 Promote Mental Wellbeing 

 Tackle wider determinants of health - Housing and 
homelessness 

 Immunisation 
2. Reducing the impact of ill health (Reduce) 

 Prevent chronic disease though tackling obesity 

 Screening for early awareness of risk 

 Alcohol advice and treatment 

 Community Safety impact on health outcomes 
3.  Shaping Healthy Places and Communities 

 Healthy Environment and Housing Development  

 Learn from the Healthy New Towns and influence policy 

 Social Prescribing 

 Making Every Contact Count 

 Campaigns and initiatives to inform the public 

 

Page 159

https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=899&MId=6168&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=899&MId=6168&Ver=4


1.  Progress reports on priority work to deliver the Joint HWB Strategy 
(priority, aim, deliverable, progress report) 

 
A. Cardiovascular disease (CVD) Prevention Update 

Priority Reducing the impact of ill health 

Aim or Focus The Director of Public Health and Chair of Oxfordshire CCG 
provided an update on the activity to prevent cardiovascular 
disease in Oxfordshire residents.  
 

Deliverable The Oxfordshire Prevention Framework has been presented to 
different organisations. Following discussions there were 
several calls to set one priority for prevention across the 
system. Preventing Cardiovascular Disease has been chosen 
as the priority.  

Progress report Cardiovascular disease is clearly linked to inequalities in the 
County. The CCG and Public Health are working closely to 
develop work in the county through the prevention spectrum to 
address CVD in more deprived communities.  
The following five workstreams are being developed 

- Managing blood pressure in individuals 
- Targeting NHS Healthchecks  
- Smoking cessation and the advancing of Smokefree 

Oxon 
- Making Every Contact Count (MECC) and Social 

Prescribing 
- Healthy Place Shaping 

 
These work streams will help address the drivers of CVD and 
allow the NHS and OCC to develop an Oxfordshire focussed 
plan to address CVD inequalities as part of a wider NHS plan 
to address CVD inequalities across the region. 

 
B. Community Activation for Wellbeing 

Priority  Making Every Contact Count 

 Campaigns and initiatives to inform the public  

 Reduce Physical Inactivity / Promote Physical Activity 

 Promote Mental Wellbeing 

Aim or 
Focus 

Inform the Health Improvement Partnership Board on community-
based programmes which are designed to engage and inform the 
public about achieving and maintaining wellbeing to improve health 
outcomes and address wider determinants and health behaviours. 

Deliverable Three reports to the Board provided an update to members of the 
Health Improvement Partnership Board   

 Activity of Citizens Advice North Oxon and the Benefits in Place 
programme 

 The community work in Oxford City to promote physical activity 
and improve wellbeing 

 Making Every Contact Count programme  

Page 160



Progress 
report 

Reports on the three activities can be accessed at the link below 
Agenda for Health Improvement Partnership Board on Thursday, 25 
February 2021, 2.00 pm (oxfordshire.gov.uk) 
 
Citizens Advice 
This paper presented information about the activity of the service, 
including the nature of who was accessing services and the type of 
advice which was sought.  
The report also presented information on the Benefits in Practice 
programme, which provides information and signposting to benefits 
and financial support to people visiting practices. This service has had 
to adapt to a more community focused and online/ telephone-based 
service due to COVID which has opened up opportunities to expand 
and develop the service.  
Citizens Advice in a joint bid with the NHS received funding to develop  
Community Connect Social Prescribing which delivers advice to 
residents to address issues of loneliness, social isolation and 
inactivity. 
 
Sport and Physical Activity 
This report shared information on the work of Oxford City Council on a 
whole system approach to improving the wellbeing of residents in the 
City. The City Council along with partners are developing and using 
opportunities to influence the wider system including 

- Locality hubs 
- Community Impact Zone 
- Healthy Place Shaping 
- Local Cycling and Walking Activation Plan (LCWAP) 

 
The report also highlighted the diverse range of physical activity 
provision to support resident’s wellbeing. 
 
Making Every Contact Count 
Making Every Contact Count is a programme which originally 
developed in the NHS. MECC utilises opportunistic conversations in 
everyday life to talk about health and wellbeing. It involves responding 
appropriately to cues from others to encourage them to think about 
behaviour change and steps that they could take to improve their 
health and wellbeing. 
 
The benefits of MECC in more community-based settings is 
recognised. Staff in such settings as libraries are being are now 
trained to have health and wellbeing-based conversations with local 
residents. This demonstrates the real potential of developing MECC in 
the community on a much wider scale.  
 
 
The reports presented to the Board demonstrate the development of 
the workforce to improve the knowledge of services and behaviors of 
residents in everyday settings. The Board is considering how these 

Page 161

https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=899&MId=6597&Ver=4
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=899&MId=6597&Ver=4


approaches can be expanded to support addressing health 
inequalities with the most deprived wards in Oxfordshire.   

 
 
The Board also received updates on  

Health Improvement Board Priorities-  
The Board has experienced congestion in their work programme which is 
impacting on time available in meetings to manage their business. To explore how 
to resolve this issue, a workshop was held in January 2021 to review the board 
priorities, meeting frequency and the business of the meetings.  
 
The Board agreed to keep the frequency of meetings as they are. It was felt that 
additional meetings would not address the causes of the current congestion and 
place additional pressures on all partners of the Board. The Board have agreed to 
improve efficiency of meetings by assuming that participants have read all the 
papers so that the meeting time is used for questioning of reports rather than 
listening to a presentation.  
 
Agenda items brought to the board should be “intelligence” led. While the Board 
will continue to monitor and oversee performance, the focus in meetings should 
be on areas where indicators are showing poor performance and will benefit most 
from closer support and scrutiny of the Board. 
 
In the light of the Coronavirus Pandemic the Board recognize that there will need 
to be a review of priorities. The overarching priorities of the Board are to promote 
prevention and address inequalities. The priorities are set by the Health & 
Wellbeing Board, however key priorities the HIB will focus on in the next 12 
months will be Obesity, Smoking and Mental Well-being. These priorities are all 
supported by recent strategies endorsed by the Board and will have significant 
impact on inequalities.   

 
2. Note on what is being done in areas rated Red or Amber in the Performance 
Framework  

    
The performance framework published for this meeting showed that, of the 21 
indicators reported:  

3 indicators are green 
8 indicators are amber 
4 indicators are red (see below) 
 

 2.17 Increase the number of smoking quitters per 100,000 smokers in the 
adult population 

 2.18 Increase the level of flu immunisation for at risk groups under 65 years 

 2.21i Increase the level of Cervical Screening (Percentage of the eligible 
population women aged 25-49) screened in the last 3.5 years) 

 3.18 Increase the level of Breast Screening - Percentage of eligible population 
(women aged 50-70) screened in the last three years (coverage) 
 

The impact of COVID 19 and the lockdown earlier in the year is reflected in the 
indicators, particularly on the uptake of health screenings, NHS health checks 

Page 162



among others face to face services which were affected.  Part of the recovery plan is 
to improve preventive services on the back of this.  Critical working needs to be 
done.   
 
 
 

Eunan O’Neill, March 2021 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Note of Decisions of Last Meeting
	8 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2021
	HWB_MAR1821R08 - ExecSummary_JSNA20210309

	10 Oxfordshire Adult Safeguarding Board Annual Report
	HWB_MAR1821R10 - OSAB-Annual-Report-2020-21-v10
	HWB_MAR1821R10 - VAM-annual-report-1920-final

	11 Healthwatch Oxfordshire and Oxford Community Action report "Community Wellbeing"
	12 Healthwatch report
	13 Performance Report
	14 Reports from Partnership Boards
	HWB_MAR1821R14a - Annex 1
	HWB_MAR1821R14a - Annex 2
	HWB_MAR1821R14b - HIB Update March 2021


